

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Physiology

Physiology

2017

PROTECTION FROM AORTIC ANEURYSM BY BMAL1 DELETION FROM SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS

Jenny Lutshumba University of Kentucky, jlutshum@gmail.com Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.13023/ETD.2017.041

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Lutshumba, Jenny, "PROTECTION FROM AORTIC ANEURYSM BY BMAL1 DELETION FROM SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS" (2017). *Theses and Dissertations--Physiology*. 32. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/physiology_etds/32

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Physiology at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Physiology by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Jenny Lutshumba, Student

Dr. Ming Cui Gong, Major Professor

Dr. Kenneth S. Campbell, Director of Graduate Studies

PROTECTION FROM AORTIC ANEURYSM BY BMAL1 DELETION FROM SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS

DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Medicine at the University of Kentucky

By

Jenny Lutshumba

Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Ming C. Gong, Professor of Physiology

Lexington, Kentucky

2017

Copyright © Jenny Lutshumba 2017

ABSTRACT

PROTECTION FROM AORTIC ANEURYSM BY BMAL1 DELETION FROM SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS

Abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) is a devastating condition that occurs primarily among older people with high mortality when a rupture occurs. Currently there is no proven pharmacological therapy for AAA due to poor understanding of the underlying pathogenesis. The brain and muscle transcription factor ARNT-like (Bmal1), which is known to regulate circadian rhythm, has been implicated in vascular pathologies including atherosclerosis and vascular remodeling, but its role in AAA has not been explored.

Vascular smooth muscle is a central player in aneurysm formation and development because it is critical in all three aortic aneurysm hallmark processes including (a) degradation of elastin and extracellular matrix protein, (b) loss of medium layer smooth muscle cells, and (c) intense inflammatory cell infiltration.

Here we report that smooth muscle-selective deletion of brain and muscle Arntlike protein-1 (Bmal1) potently protected mice from AAA induced by mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) agonist deoxycorticosterone acetate (DOCA) or Angiotensin II (ANG II) in the presence of high salt. Bmal1 was upregulated by DOCA-salt in the aorta. Moreover, deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle selectively upregulated tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 4 (TIMP4) and also abolished DOCA-salt-induced elastin degradation and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) activation. Mechanistically, Bmal1, when bound to TIMP4 promoter, suppressed the transcription of the promoter. Taken together, these results reveal an important but previously unexplored role of smooth muscle Bmal1 in DOCA plus salt-induced AAA. We suggest that TIMP4 constitutes a novel therapeutic target for AAA treatment. Keywords: Aortic Aneurysm, Bmal1, Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells, Matrix Metalloproteinases, Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinases.

Jenny Lutshumba

Student's Signature

Date

PROTECTION FROM AORTIC ANEURYSM BY BMAL1 DELETION FROM SMOOTH MUSCLE CELLS

By

Jenny Lutshumba

Ming C. Gong

Director of Dissertation

Kenneth S. Campbell

Director of Graduate Studies

Date

Dedicated to:

My husband Junior and My Son Ethan-David

My Parents

My Father-in-Law Hippolyte Ki Kibutu Mbungu who wanted to be here when I graduate but left us unexpectedly on 9/30/2015

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Getting into this program, I was not sure of what I really wanted to do. I got into research by curiosity and I did not know if it was ever going to be a good fit for me. I became even more reluctant when my course work became more challenging than I would ever imagine. I started asking myself whether I had chosen the right path. Thankfully, I had people around me that were willing to help me succeed however they could. Their help became very important to me when I realized that what started as a curiosity became more than expected. Each individual contribution led me to get to this point today.

Therefore, I would like to thank my mentor Dr. Ming Gong. She took me into her lab knowing that I had been having difficulty with my courses. She made herself available to help with my classes. When I joined the physiology department, she helped me prepare for the departmental courses by encouraging me to sit in a class with the medical students. My challenges during that time became her burden. With her tremendous help, I was able to successfully pass the required courses and focus on research. While immersed into this project, Dr. Gong made herself available continuously to discuss data generated whether positive or negative. She encouraged initiating ideas and experiments throughout the course of this project. Although, the project itself was very challenging, she showed patience and understanding. She pushed me into critical thinking and helped me improve my flaws. I will always be grateful for her support in my professional and personal life.

I am also grateful to each member of my committee: Dr. Alan Daugherty brought his expertise into my project, and his criticism helped improved the quality of my project. Dr. Daugherty also made himself available every time I was not convinced about some experiments I had to do, and he brought in a new perspective. Dr. Karyn Esser also

iii

brought her expertise, and her insight has led us to explore new horizons to improve the project. Dr. Zhenheng Guo was not only a committee member, but was also a mentor to me. He has taught me many molecular biology techniques. He knows the amount of time and energy that these kind of experiments can take. He did not just send me to read protocols, but he personally was present when I tried some of the experiments for the first time to show how delicate the handling of those experiments could be. I also would like to thank Dr. Victoria King for agreeing to be the outside examiner for my dissertation defense. I am grateful to Dr. David Randall for stepping in at the last minutes as committee member and his editorial input. I am also grateful to Dr. Brian Finlin for his editorial input throughout the writing process of my dissertation. Finally, I thank Dr. Kenneth Campbell and Dr. Bret Smith for their advice and counsel.

I also would like to thank different members of Dr. Guo and Dr. Gong's lab. Dr. Liu Shu worked with me from the moment I stepped into Dr. Gong's lab. He showed me how to handle mice and taught me many different procedures. Dr. Zhongwen Xie and Dr. Guogang Zhao taught me molecular biology and helped facilitate some experiments. Dr. Wen Su has always been available when I needed her with mice. The mice breeding and genotyping could not have been done without the help of Zhang Ming.

I am also thankful to all my friends, too many of them to mention individually, for supporting me throughout this journey. They showed much interest in my work and cheered me up every time I was feeling stressed.

I will never forgive myself if I did not thank my family. First, I would like to thank my love, my heart, my everything, my husband Junior Mbungu. He has been my number one fan and supporter. He gave me strength when I thought I was going to give up. He has been with me and held my hand throughout the ups and downs. He has done his best to keep

iv

me from getting too stressed. I am not sure of what I would have done without him by my side. I am very grateful to my little angel, my son Ethan-David Mbungu for bringing a light into my life every time he smiles at me. I am also thankful for my father Mathieu Kambilo and my mother Berthe Okandjo. Their support and prayers throughout this process has been very important to me.

Lastly, I would like to say a big thank you to my God. The Almighty God has always been with me since I started this program. He gave me strength when I was feeling weak. My faith in God grew stronger during this time. He guided me and brightened my path. To that I say: Glory be to God.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTii	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	x
LIST OF FIGURES	х
CHAPTER 1	1
Introduction	1
1.1. Aortic Aneurysm	1
1.1.1. Definition	1
1.1.2. Type	1
1.1.3. Risk Factors	5
1.1.4. Mechanisms	5
1.1.5. Animal Models	9
1.1.6. Treatment	5
1.2. Matrix Metalloproteinases16	6
1.2.1. Classification	7
1.2.2. Regulation of MMP enzymatic activity 20	0
1.2.3. Matrix Metalloproteinases and AAA 2	5
1.3. Tissue Inhibitors of Metalloproteinases (TIMPs):	7
1.3.1. Classification and regulation2	7
1.3.2. TIMPs and AAA 29	9
1.4. Molecular clock Bmal1 30	0
1.4.1. Regulation	0
1.4.2. Bmal1 and cardiovascular disease	4
1.5. Scope of the dissertation	5
CHAPTER 2	8
Materials and Methods	8
2.1. Experimental Design 38	8
2.2. Animals	9

	2.3 DOCA/AngiotensinII pump implantation plus salt	39
	2.4 Blood Pressure measurement by tail cuff	40
	2.5. Aorta Inner diameter assessments by ultrasound	40
	2.6. Blood Sodium and Potassium Measurement	41
	2.7. mRNA isolation and Real-time PCR	41
	2.8. Immunohistochemistry	43
	2.9. Gel Zymography	45
	2.10. In Situ Zymography	45
	2.11. ChIP Assay	46
	2.12. TIMP4 Promoter Cloning	47
	2.13. TIMP4 Promoter Assay	51
	2.14. TIMP4 ELISA	52
	2.14.1 Sample Preparation	52
	2.14.2. ELISA	52
	2.15. Statistical Analysis	53
	2.16. Study approval	53
C	CHAPTER 3	55
F	RESULTS	55
	3.1. Deletion of Bmal1 in vascular smooth muscle cells protects from mineralocortic agonist plus salt induced aortic aneurysm	coid 55
	3.2. Deletion of Bmal1 in vascular smooth muscle cells has no effect on plasma sodium, mineralocorticoid receptor mRNA, and blood pressure	61
	3.3. Deletion of Bmal1 from smooth muscles cells prevents MMP activation triggered by DOCA plus salt administration and elastin degradation	ed 68
	3.4. Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle selectively increases TIMP4 expression in abdominal aorta	ו 73
	3.5. Bmal1 is upregulated in aorta by DOCA and salt.	82
	3.6. Identification of TIMP4 as a new target of Bmal1 in aorta	87
	3.7. Deletion Bmal1 in vascular smooth muscle cells protects from Angiotensin II pl salt-induced aortic aneurysm	us 96
	3.8 SM Bmal1 heterozygous mice are not protected from DOCA plus Salt induced Aortic Aneurysm	101
C	CHAPTER 4	105

Discussion
4.1. Overview of the study
4.2. Bmal1 is ubiquitously expressed and has a specific function in the vasculature 10
4.3. Smooth muscle cells initiate events leading to AAA formation and rupture 10
4.4. Gelatinases MMP2 and MMP9, and TIMP4 play a role in AAA formation
4.5. Hypertension is not a risk factor for AAA formation and does not account for the protection in SMC-Bmal1 Knockout mice
4.6. Abdominal aortic aneurysm formation is not a circadian related disease 11
4.7. Limitations of the study and future directions 11
4.8. Conclusions
References
/ITA

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: List of Primers	54	1
--------------------------	----	---

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Diagram showing the time line and different methods used
Figure 2: Four month old SM-Bmal1-/- mice are protected from DOCA-salt induced aortic
aneurysm
Figure 3: Representative pictures of aortas
Figure 4: Eight month old SM-Bmal1-/- mice are protected from DOCA- salt induced
aortic aneurysm
Figure 5: Representative pictures of aortas
Figure 6: Deletion of Bmal1 from smooth muscle cells does not affect plasma sodium
level
Figure 7: Deletion of Bmal1 from smooth muscle cells does not affect plasma potassium
level
Figure 8: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle has little effect on basal and DOCA-salt-
induced MR expression in suprarenal aorta
Figure 9: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle has little effect on basal and DOCA-salt-
induced MR expression in suprarenal aorta
Figure 10: Bmal1 deletion does not affect DOCA plus salt induced hypertension
Figure 11: Bmal1 deletion from smooth muscle cells prevents DOCA plus salt induced
elastin degradation70
Figure 12: Bmal1 deletion from smooth muscle cells prevents DOCA plus salt induced
gelatinases activation in the aorta71
Figure 13: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle protects mice from DOCA-salt-induced
MMP activation72
Figure 14: Lack of suppression on the MMP2/9 activities by Bmal1 deletion from smooth
muscle cells
Figure 15: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle selectively upregulates TIMP4 mRNA
expression in aorta77
Figure 16: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle selectively upregulates TIMP4 mRNA
expression in aorta
Figure 17: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle upregulates TIMP4 mRNA expression in
aorta
Figure 18: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle upregulates TIMP4 protein expression in
aorta
Figure 19: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle upregulates TIMP4 protein expression in
aorta
Figure 20: Bmal1 is upregulated after DOCA plus salt treatment
Figure 21: Per1 is not affected by DOCA plus salt treatment
Figure 22: Cry1 mRNA increases with DOCA plus salt treatment85
Figure 23: DOCA plus salt treatment negatively affect Rev-erba mRNA expression86

Figure 24: TIMP4 Promoter contains E-boxes	89
Figure 25: Bmal1 binds to TIMP4 promoter	90
Figure 26: Deletion of Bmal1 increases TIMP4 promoter activity in smooth muscle ce	lls
	91
Figure 27: Bmal1 is deleted in Bmal1 KO VSMC	92
Figure 28: TIMP4 expression is increased in aortic VSMC	93
Figure 29: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle downregulates Rev-erba mRNA	
expression in aorta	94
Figure 30: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle upregulates Cry1 mRNA expression i	in
aorta	95
Figure 31: Eight month old SM-Bmal1-/- mice are protected from Angiotensin II follow	ved
by salt induced aortic aneurysm	98
Figure 32: Representative pictures of aortas from 8 month old mice after ANGII	99
Figure 33: Bmal1 deletion does not affect Angiotensin II induced hypertension	. 100
Figure 34: Eight month old SM-Bmal1+/- mice are not protected from DOCA- salt	
induced aortic aneurysm	. 102
Figure 35: Representative pictures of aortas	. 103
Figure 36: One Copy of Bmal1 does not affect mineralocorticoid receptor agonists	
induced hypertension	. 104

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1. Aortic Aneurysm

1.1.1. Definition

Aortic Aneurysm (AA) is defined as the permanent and irreversible localized dilation of the aorta¹. An aortic dilation is considered aneurysmal with an increase of a minimum of 50% of the normal diameter².

1.1.2. Type

1.1.2.1. Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm

Abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) is the most common form. Here the dilation occurs in the infrarenal region of the aorta. It is most prevalent in men over the age of 65 and is the 14th leading cause of death in the United States. Aortic aneurysm rupture accounts for approximately 4500 deaths not including the 1400 deaths that occur due to surgical repairs to prevent rupture. This chronic enlargement of the aorta is often asymptomatic and frequently leads to rupture and death.

1.1.2.2 Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm

Another form for AA is thoracic aortic aneurysm (TAA); it is less common, occurring in approximately 6-10 per every 100,000 people. The incidence of TAA formation is similar in both genders and it occurs earlier in life than AAA. The majority of TAAs involve the aortic root and/or the ascending aorta. Most patients with TAAs are asymptomatic. Just like AAA, TAA is discovered during imaging screening. However, TAA progression is rather slow; it grows at a rate of approximately 0.1cm/year, and an intervention is required only when the diameter reaches 5.0 cm to 5.5 cm³. The exceptions to this rule are patients with a family history of TAA that later became an acute aortic dissection and those with Loeys-Dietz syndrome. These patients have to undergo a surgical repair when the aortic diameter reaches 4.2 cm⁴. TAA has a strong genetic component, and five different TAAs have been identified. Like AAA, hallmarks of TAA involve changes in the extracellular matrix (ECM).

1) Marfan Syndrome (MFS): was first described in 1896 and later found to be an autosomal dominant genetic disorder in 1936^5 . It is the most common genetic aortic disease, occurring at approximately four to six people per every 100,000. It is best known for its physical features which are pectus excavatum or sunken breastbone, arachnodactyly or long and slender fingers and toes, tall stature, and lens ectopia. MFS is caused by mutations in fibrillin-1(FBN1)⁶, a glycoprotein found in the ECM. It has been shown to regulate TGF- β activity. A mutation in FBN1 prevents TGF- β regulation and causing an increase in its activity⁷.

2) Loeys-Dietz syndrome (LDS) is the most recent syndrome discovered. It was described in 2005 by Loeys et al⁸. Patients with LDS were initially misdiagnosed as having either MFS or vascular Ehlers-Danlos (vEDS) syndrome because of the similarity in phenotype with those two other syndromes. The most specific features to LDS are hypertelorism and wide uvula. LDS is divided in two different types: 1) facial dysmorphogenic type characterized by a cleft palate, micrognathia and craniosynostosis.
2) vascular EDS-like syndrome characterized by visceral rupture, easy bruising, wide scars, joint laxity and translucent and velvety skin⁹. Other features have been described in LDS with recent research which includes facial milia and an increase in eosinophilic esophagitis as well as an increase inflammatory bowel disease¹⁰. LDS is caused by mutations in the transforming growth factor receptor 1 and 2 (TGFR1 and TFGR2).

Among the two, the most frequent mutation is the one found in TGFR2⁹. The types of mutations do not lead to a specific type of LDS. Mutations in these two genes affect TGFβ signaling and each mutation affects the pathway differently and has been shown to also phosphorylate SMAD2 and subsequently activate the SMAD pathway¹¹.

3) vascular Ehlers-Danlos syndrome (vEDS) was first described in 1901 and classified as autosomal dominant in 1949¹². vEDS is less common than MFS occurring in one individual in every 250,000. Patients with vEDS present the following clinical features: thin skin with visible veins, easy bruising, thin pinched nose, thin lips, prominent ears, hollow cheeks, and tightness of skin of the face. These patients have a short lifespan with 50% risk of mortality at the age of 48¹³. vEDS is caused by mutations in type 3 procollagen (COL3A1) gene which is the major collagen in blood vessels. These mutations cause weaknesses in the vasculature and the heart. In vEDS, the medium and large arteries are susceptible to rupture; they can dissect without any dilation. The aortic root is not affected. Because vEDS also affects other organs, in pregnancy the enlarging uterus is susceptible to rupture in addition to other organs affected by an increase in pressure. The risk of mortality among these pregnant women due to rupture of the uterus is approximately 15%. Therefore, pregnant women with vEDS need to undergo an elective caesarian section at 32 weeks of gestation¹³.

4) Turner syndrome was first described in the United States in 1938 and linked to monosomy in 1959⁵. Tuner syndrome is cause by a partial or a complete monosomy of chromosome X (45 Xo). It is quite common occurring in one in every 2000-5000 women. The physical features of Tuner syndrome are: short stature, webbed neck and lymphedema. There are many diseases that are associated with individuals with Turner syndrome including cardiovascular disease which is a main cause of mortality in these patients. Only one percent of Turner conceptions survive. Those that survive are known

to develop aortic diseases as well as aortic aneurysm, elongation of the transverse arch, and aortic coarctation¹⁴. They also develop abnormalities in the heart such as bicuspid aortic valve and partial anomalous pulmonary venous return to the heart¹⁵.

5) Familial thoracic aneurysm and dissection (FTAAD): About 19% of individuals with aortic dissection have had a first-degree family member affected with the same disease that is not one of the genetic diseases mentioned above. It is believed that these individuals have mutation in genes that have an autosomal dominant inheritance with decreased penetrance. All these individuals are collectively placed in a group called familial thoracic aortic aneurysms and dissection (FTAAD); they present a variety of abnormalities, such that there is a large range of physical features among them¹⁶. Presently, three different genes with mutations have been identified in the population. First, mutations in the myosin heavy chain 11(MYH11) is expressed by smooth muscle cells and is part of the smooth muscle cell contractile apparatus. Mutations in this gene account for less than 2% of the FTAAD population. Second, mutations in smooth muscle actin alpha2 (ACTA 2) is also a part of the contractile apparatus in smooth muscle cells. Mutations of ACTA2 account for 14% of the FTAAD population¹⁷. Third are mutations in SMAD3 gene which has been recently described among this population¹⁸. Mutations in SMAD3 are thought to increase levels of CTGF, TGF- β 1, and phosphorylated SMAD2¹⁸. Patients with this mutation have physical features similar to LDS; however, these patients also have an increase in bone abnormalities. This syndrome is also called aneurysm and osteoarthritis syndrome (AOS), and accounts for approximately 2 % of FTAAD population.

For the purpose of this study, we had focused on AAA rather than TAA, since the former is the most common of both types and it is primarily acquired, rather than genetic. Therefore, we will discuss the risk factors, mechanisms and treatments of AAA.

1.1.3. Risk Factors

The risk factors associated with AAA are: age, sex, ethnicity, smoking and other predisposing factors.

Age, sex and ethnicity: The risk of AAA increases dramatically after the age of 60. Approximately 1% of men between the age of 55 and 65 have a clinically relevant aneurysm. AAA is four to six times more common in men than in women, occurring approximately 10 years later in women. However, once AAA develops in women, the occurrence of AAA is more aggressive, and the aneurysm expands faster with a high probability of rupturing with a small diameter¹⁹. Lederle et al. showed that Caucasians were more prone to AAA than are African Americans²⁰.

Smoking: One of the major risk factor of AAA formation is smoking. In a study from Lederle et al, they found that smoking accounted for 75% of all the AAA²⁰. The number of years of smoking was found to be directly proportional to the onset of AAA²¹.

Other predisposing factors: Hypertension has been shown to be a risk factor of AAA formation and rupture. AAA has been shown to be common in patients with atherosclerosis. It is also prevalent in patients with arteriosclerosis obliterans. Family history is also a risk factor with 4-fold increase in AAA when a first-degree family member is diagnosed with AAA.

1.1.4. Mechanisms

The mechanisms that lead to aortic aneurysm formation are not well understood. However, there have been many hallmarks associated with aortic aneurysm. The hallmarks of AAA are fragmentation of elastin in the aortic media and collagen degradation, leukocytic infiltration and vascular smooth muscle cells depletion^{22,} ²³.Elastin is a major component of the aortic wall with viscoelastic properties. It is most abundant in the aortic media where it is associated with smooth muscle cells. Collagen, another component of aortic wall, provides tensile strength to maintain structural integrity. Smooth muscle cells are the major cell type in the aorta. Smooth muscle cells and adventitial fibroblasts can synthesize all of the different components of the extracellular matrix²⁴. The lack of a definite definition of aortic aneurysm has led to development of different animal models of aortic aneurysm. These models gave new and better perceptive in the pathogenesis of aortic aneurysm. These models have revealed that aortic aneurysm formation involves chronic inflammatory infiltration of macrophages, neutrophils, mast cells, T and B lymphocytes. Different cytokines and extracellular proteases have been shown to increase the inflammatory response and to cause vascular smooth muscle cells apoptosis and extracellular matrix degradation. Macrophages are the most common inflammatory cell in aortic aneurysm tissue. C-C chemokine receptor type 2 (CCR2) interactions with chemokine (C-C motif) ligand1 (CCL2) mediates monocyte chemotaxis. MacTaggart et al investigated the role of CCR2 in aortic aneurysm formation using CCR2-/- mice. When those mice were treated with a periaortic application of CaCl₂ for 6 weeks, it was found those mice had an attenuation of aortic aneurysm²⁵. These findings were similar to a previous study from Ishibashi et al using the ANGII model²⁶. Myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88) which also plays an important role macrophage infiltration, has been found to play a role in aortic aneurysm formation. Deficiency in MyD88 attenuates abdominal aortic aneurysm using the ANGII model²⁷. Neutrophils have also been found in human and mice aortic aneurysm. Deletion of L-selectin, a molecule involved in neutrophil recruitment to inflammatory sites²⁸, decreased aortic diameter after elastase infusion²⁹.

Many different cytokines and chemokines have been studied in aortic aneurysm and their roles have been established. Transforming growth factor (TGF- β) inhibits inflammation, and stimulates collagen deposition. Systemic neutralization of TGF- β activity was found to increase AngII-induced aortic aneurysm and increase vascular smooth muscle cells death, elastin degradation and aortic rupture in C56BL/6 mice³⁰. Administration of cyclosporine A, an immunosuppressant that promotes tissue accumulation and induces TGF- β , attenuates aortic aneurysm formation in an elastase model in rats and CaCl₂ model in mice, while administration of anti TGF- β antibody abrogated the protective effects of cyclosporine A³¹.

Another critical cytokine that has been associated with aortic aneurysm is tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α). TNF- α has been found to be increased in plasma of patients with AAA³². TNF- α as well as other members of the TNF receptor superfamily have been found to be increased in human aortic aneurysm tissues³³⁻³⁵. When TNF- α -/- mice underwent periaortic application of CaCl₂ for 6 weeks, those mice has shown complete protection from aortic aneurysm. These results has shown that TNF- α is big contributor in the formation of aortic aneurysm.

Several interleukins have been associated with aortic aneurysm including IL1- β , IL-6, IL-17 and IL-23. They have been found to be increased in human aortic aneurysm tissues. IL-6 is significantly increased in patients with AAA and TAA³⁶. Using the elastase model to induce aortic aneurysm, deletion of IL-17 or IL-23 in mice attenuates aortic diameter and cytokine production³⁷. Similarly, deletion of IL-1 β in mice prevented aortic aneurysm formation³⁸.

Elastin degradation, an early event in AAA, causes dilation whereas collagen degradation causes rupture. Elastin and collagen are degraded by endopeptidases that

are secreted by smooth muscle cells and adventitial fibroblasts within the vascular wall by infiltrated lymphocytes and monocytes. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are endopetidases associated with AAA and are locally activated. Their actions are inhibited by tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases (TIMPs) which also increased during aneurysm formation, but TIMPs' action is overwhelmed by a high increase of activated MMPs by other MMPs or plasmin.

Another key event in the formation of an aneurysm is smooth muscle atrophy in the medial layer of the aortic wall. Smooth muscle cells contribute to the maintenance of the structural wall through production of various extracellular matrix proteins. They also play a role in vascular remodeling by expressing proteinases and their inhibitors. In the aneurysm pathology, SMC play a role in matrix synthesis, proteinase and inhibitor elaboration, and inflammatory cell recruitment. The imbalance between matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors is observed in aortic aneurysm, with the matrix metalloproteinase overwhelming their inhibitors, is attributed to either an increase in matrix metalloproteinase production from smooth muscle cells or a decrease in tissue inhibitor production from smooth muscle cells³⁹. SMCs produce different proteinases in response to different stimuli. Inflammation, shear stress, or injury to vessel walls lead to an increase of MMP3, MMP7, MMP9, and MMP12 in vivo^{40, 41}.

Studies have shown that smooth muscle cells play a role in matrix degradation in aortic aneurysm⁴². SMCs from aortic aneurysm tissue express a high level of MMP2 compared to non-aneurysmal aorta⁴³. SMC constitutively express MMP2 and stimulation with platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) further increases its expression⁴⁴. PDGF also increases MMP12 expression in SMC⁴⁵. The expression of MMP-9 and MMP-3 in SMC are induced by IL-1 β and TNF α^{46} . These cytokines have been shown to be increased in human aortic aneurysm tissue⁴⁷. One of the final stages of AAA is medial degeneration.

The decrease in SMC in AAA has led researchers to hypothesize that the decrease in SMC in the media is a key player in the imbalance between the metalloproteinases and their inhibitors. Studies have shown that seeding of SMC prevents AAA formation. In a study conducted in rats, seeding of syngeneic VSMC endoluminally prevented aortic aneurysm increase after 8 weeks of aneurysmal aortic xenografts. The seeding also prevented MMP1, 3, 7, 9 and 12 mRNA increases. TIMPs1, 2, 3 were significantly increased when compare to their control⁴⁸. A previous study from Losy et al. had also shown that seeding of VSMC prevented aortic aneurysm expansion in rats⁴⁹. These studies suggest that SMC play a critical role in aortic aneurysm; therefore, there is a need to better understand the role that smooth muscle cells play in aortic aneurysm formation.

1.1.5. Animal Models

Animal models of aortic aneurysm are classified into three different groups: genetically predisposed animal models, chemical models, and physical models.

1.1.5.1. Genetically predisposed animal models

The blotchy mouse, which has been found to develop spontaneous aneurysms, has a mutation on the X chromosome resulting in a defect in cross-linking of collagen and elastin. The defective cross-liking is a result of an abnormal copper metabolism. These mice have abnormal connective tissue, skin color and neurological function⁵⁰, they develop saccular and fusiform aneurysms mostly in the thoracic aorta⁵¹. These findings have led to the conclusion that copper is involved in aortic aneurysm formation. However, there has not been any evidence from human patients with aortic aneurysm that involved copper since copper levels remained unchanged in aortic aneurysm^{52, 53}. Lysyl oxidase (LOX) is an enzyme involved in crosslinkage of elastin and collagen. Deficiency of Lox in mice causes thoracic aortic aneurysm rupture from the perinatal

period⁵⁴. Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor knockout mice develop abdominal aortic aneurysm after being fed with high fat diet⁵⁵. The Tsukuba hypertensive mouse, a transgenic mouse carrying a human gene for renin and angiotensinogen⁵⁶, dies from aortic aneurysm rupture after drinking water containing 1% sodium chloride⁵⁷.

1.1.5.2. Chemical models

Periarterial application of calcium chloride (CaCl₂) solution to the infrarenal aorta causes aortic aneurysm formation. This model was first developed using the rabbit common carotid artery causing the local dilation of the artery. This was associated with loss of endothelial cells, degradation of the elastin lamina, intimal hyperplasia, and inflammatory infiltration. Subsequently, CaCl₂ was applied to rabbit aorta. This model consists of applying 0.5M of CaCl₂ around the infra-renal aorta for approximately 15 minutes with cotton gauze. This model has been demonstrated to induce medial damage and vascular remodeling, collagen degradation, and an increase in MMP activity. CaCl₂ induction does not lead to a spontaneous increase in aortic diameter. However, after 2 weeks, the aortic diameter increased by more than 64%, and increased more than 113% during the third week⁵⁸. Disruption of elastin lamina and an increase in the inflammatory response suggested that this model was clinically relevant since these same features are found in human AAA. Using this model, the role of different MMPs in aortic aneurysm formation has been better understood. Using genetically altered mice, Longo et al. have shown that MMP2-/- and MMP9-/- mice did not develop AAA. MMP9-/mice developed aneurysm only after being infused with competent macrophages from the wild type mice⁵⁹. These findings showed that MMP2 and MMP9 are both required to develop AAA. Longo et al. also determined the role of MMP12 using MMP12-/- mice; they had demonstrated that MMP12 attenuates dilation of the aorta⁶⁰. Since MMP

activity is tightly regulated by TIMPs, the role of TIMPs has also been studied using this model. TIMP2-/- mice were found to have a smaller aortic diameter than their corresponding control after 6 weeks and had a lower level of MMP2⁶¹, supporting evidence that TIMP2 activates MMP2.

A modified model of $CaCl_2$ was developed in order to accelerate AAA formation: calcium phosphate (CaPO₄). In this model, the infrarenal of the aorta is incubated with CaCl₂ for 10 minutes followed by phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) for 5 minutes. This model increased aortic diameter 7 weeks after treatment. CaPO₄ treatment caused an increase in apoptosis and inflammatory infiltration⁶².

The elastase-induced model is also an important model. The procedure involves the insertion of a catheter in the infrarenal aorta through the iliac bifurcation. The aorta is then clamped at the level of the renal vein and the catheter ligated. Type I porcine pancreatic elastase in then introduced to the lumen and incubated for 5 minutes after which the flow is restored. Elastase infusion resulted in immediate dilation of the aorta and an aneurysm developed 2 to 5 days later. This outcome showed the involvement of medial elastolytic activity in aneurysm formation making this model a very useful model. This model has been used to investigate the role of hypertension, gender, and smoking in aortic aneurysm formation. To understand the role of hypertension in aortic aneurysm formation, aortic aneurysm was induced in normotensive Wistar-Kyoto rats (WKY) and hypertensive Wistar Kyoto rats (WKHT) using the elastase infusion model. Around day 7, the aortic diameter was significantly larger within the hypertensive group than the normotensive group. Fourteen days after infusion, the aortic diameter increased even further in hypertensive rats. Although the normotensive rats had an increase in aortic diameter of over 100%, the genetically hypertensive rats had an increase in aortic diameter of over 200%⁶³. These results suggested that hypertension contributes to the

expansion of aortic aneurysm. Gender was studied as a risk factor using the elastaseinfusion model. It has been demonstrated that when male rats are treated with exogenous estrogen, their aortic diameter was smaller than non-treated male rats. This decrease in aortic diameter was also seen in orchidectomized male rats. Hormone replacement in male rats that were surgically castrated showed an increase in aortic diameter while there was a decrease in aortic diameter in opphorectomized females. This decrease in aortic diameter was associated with a decrease in macrophage infiltration⁶⁴. These data suggest that gonadal hormones regulate aortic aneurysm by altering macrophage infiltration. Smoking being a major risk factor of aortic aneurysm formation was investigated when C57BL/6 mice were exposed to cigarette smoke two weeks prior to elastase infusion and continuously until the aorta was harvested. Mice that were exposed to both cigarette smoke and elastase developed a larger aortic aneurysm compare to those that only were elastase infused. The increase in diameter in mice exposed to both was 60% greater than those that had elastase infusion⁶⁵. The results confirmed the risks of cigarette smoking in aortic aneurysm development. This model was also used to look at the role of TIMPs in aortic aneurysm formation. When TIMP1-/- and their control underwent elastase infusion to induce aortic aneurysm, TIMP1-/- mice developed a larger aortic aneurysm compare to the control 14 days later66.

Systemic angiotensin II infusion is a model described by Manning et al. and shares the same characteristics as human aortic aneurysm. In this model, AngII in an osmotic minipump is implanted subcutaneously into LDL receptor-/- mice or ApoE-/- mice at a dosage of 1000ng/kg/min for 28 days. This model results in accelerated atherosclerosis and abdominal aortic aneurysm in the suprarenal aorta⁶⁷. AngII induced aortic aneurysm results in medial degeneration and remodeling, inflammation, and thrombosis. Data have

shown an increase in inflammation and an increase in MMPs gene expression⁶⁸. These characteristics are also seen in human aortic aneurysm, making this model a good model to study aneurysm. Angll infusion has a modest increase in blood pressure; this increase in blood pressure was shown to be independent of aortic aneurysm formation. When hydralazine was given to lower blood pressure in AnglI infused ApoE -/- mice, blood pressure decreased; however, aortic aneurysm formation did not change⁶⁹. The incidence of aortic aneurysm in these mice only decreased with pretreatment with 17βestradiol⁷⁰. The renin-angiotensin system has been studied to understand its role in this model. When losartan, an AT1 receptor antagonist, was given in conjunction with AngII to ApoE-/- mice, aortic aneurysm formation was completely inhibited⁷¹. Candesarten, another AT1 receptor antagonist and Lisinopril, an ACE inhibitor, attenuated aortic aneurysm expansion⁷². When given an AT2 receptor antagonist PD123319, the incidence of aortic aneurysm increased as well as the severity⁷¹. However, spironolactone, an aldosterone receptor antagonist, there was no effect on aortic aneurysm formation⁷³. Several drugs have been shown to attenuate aortic aneurysm formation and reduce incidence in this model: Doxycycline⁷⁴, Vitamin E⁷⁵, simvastatin⁷⁶ and rosiglitazone⁷⁷.

A mineralocorticoid agonist plus salt induces aortic aneurysm in mice. This model was first developed as a hypertension model and was later found to develop AAA in older mice (8 to 10 months). Subcutaneous implant of a 50 mg Deoxycorticosterone acetate (DOCA) pellet or an osmotic pump containing 200ng/kg/min of aldosterone in conjunction with water containing 0.9% NaCl and 0.2% KCl for 21 days with the DOCA pellet and 28 days with the osmotic pump leads to dilation of the aorta in the suprarenal aorta. This model requires high salt intake. Liu et al. had demonstrated that in the absence of high salt, mice did not develop any aneurysm. This model was shown to be

clinically relevant and to be age-dependent. The incidence and severity of AAA were significantly lower in young (10 weeks old) mice compare to older (10 months old) mice. This model shared the same characteristic as human aortic aneurysm: elastin and collagen degradation, MMP upregulation, vascular smooth muscle cells degeneration and inflammatory cells infiltration.

1.1.5.3. Physical Models

Different physical techniques have been used in order to create aortic aneurysm in animals. However, these techniques do not completely mimic human aortic aneurysm. Therefore they are used to develop new interventions for abdominal aortic aneurysm formation. These models have led to the development of techniques such as stent grafts and the improvement of the endovascular repair⁷⁸.

The crude method induces aortic aneurysm by physically damaging the vessel by either intramural injections of chemicals such as acetrizoate or using cryogenic probes, carbon dioxide lasers or resecting the media and adventitia of the aorta⁷⁹⁻⁸². The aneurysms formed from these methods are usually saccular aneurysm or pseudoaneurysm. They are unpredictable in size, growth rate and rupture risk.

The synthetic method requires replacing a segment of the aorta with interposition grafts made of synthetic or autologous materials. The aneurysms from this method are more consistent in shape and size⁸³.

The anterior patch model: in this model an elliptical patch of synthetic materials is placed after a longitudinal incision to the aorta to close the incision. This is one of the successful models of physical model of aortic aneurysm. A study from dogs that underwent the procedure had shown an anterior patch in the infrarenal of the aorta by suturing full thickness of the jejunal patches to the interior of the longitudinal aortic incision, developed aortic aneurysm. This study was performed in order to determine the efficacy of the endovascular aortic repair⁸⁴. This model was also used to determine the efficacy of a specific stent graft design. In this study a fusiform aortic aneurysm was formed using an iliac vein patch. This technique was shown to be realistic. Twenty-three dogs were used following this technique after developing aneurysm they were treated with Dacron stent grafts and followed up after 6 to 12 months. At 12 months, no leaks or flow to the sac of the aneurysm were detected and there was no further enlargement on the aneurysm⁸⁵.

1.1.6. Treatment

Aortic aneurysms are often discovered after an X-ray, during an ultrasound or echocardiogram. Thereafter, ultrasounds are required to determine the size and the growth rate of the aneurysm. For small aneurysm, an ultrasound is required once every 2 years, while larger aneurysms are observed every 6 to 12 months. A computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance angiogram (MRA) may be required for more detailed information, such as determining the position of the aneurysm in relation to the renal arteries or other organs. An angiogram is more useful to determine the size of the aneurysm, whether there is an aortic dissection or a blood clot. The importance of these screening tests is to estimate the risk that an aneurysm has for rupture and to evaluate the risk of rupture to the risk of surgery. The risk of mortality is about 80% for patients with a ruptured aorta by the time they reach the hospital. Those who undergo surgery have a perioperative mortality of approximately 50%. An aortic aneurysm is considered for surgery when the diameter reaches 5.5 cm. The surgery is either an open or endovascular repair (EVAR). An EVAR consists of placing an expandable stent graft in the aorta through the femoral artery. This technique led to a decrease in open surgery and improved patients' survival. Therefore, it was found to be more successful than open

surgery. Candidates suitable for EVAR have a reduced morbidity and mortality. Patients with small aneurysms (less than 5.5 cm) are not at high risk of rupture. These patients are required to undergo pharmacotherapy to reduce the growth rate. Beta-blockers have been used in patients with hypertension and angina, they have been shown to significantly reduce the rate at which aneurysms grow⁸⁶. Those that undergo antibiotic therapy to manage AAA need to have evidence of chronic inflammation in AAA. They also have to show inhibition of proteases and inflammation by antibiotics. These patients are also recommended to stop smoking.

To date, the only therapy for AAA is through mechanical surgical repair.

Therefore, a thorough understanding of the molecular mechanism of aortic aneurysm is a pressing matter.

1.2. Matrix Metalloproteinases

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are members of a large family of proteases known as metzincin superfamily. They are also known as matrixins. They are calcium-dependent zinc-containing endopeptitases. Other members belonging to metzincin superfamily are serralysins, astacins, adamalysins or desintegrin metalloproteinases (ADAMS) and reprolysins⁸⁷. Taken together, MMPs are capable of degrading all components of the extracellular matrix (ECM) and the basement membrane. They play an important role in tissue remodeling, angiogenesis, bone development, wound healing, and uterine biology. They have been shown to play a role in regulating the release and the activation of cytokines and chemokines, growth factors and antibiotic peptides and other bioactive molecules⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰. MMPs also play a role in different diseases: vascular diseases such as hypertension, atherosclerosis, aortic aneurysm and varicose veins, cancer and different types of inflammatory pathologies.

1.2.1. Classification

To date, there are 28 MMPs classified among which 25 different MMPs have been identified in vertebrates, 24 of which are found in humans including two identical genes encoding for MMP23 called MMP23A and MMP23B⁹¹. MMPs are synthesized as preproenzymes and secreted as pro-enzymes. They can be secreted form the cell or anchored to the plasma membrane which limits the catalytic activity to the extracellular space or to the cell surface. They consist of a pro-peptide domain that is uniquely conserved and contains a cysteine residue within the sequence that interacts with the catalytic zinc in the active site to maintain the latency of the enzyme. However, MMP23 lacks this linker peptide, but possesses proprotein at the C-terminal end of the propeptide, which is activated intracellularly by furin. MMPs are commonly classified based on their structure, their substrate and subcellular localization and are divided as followed: collagenases, stromelysins, matrilysins, gelatinases and furin- activatable MMPs.

Because of their difference in sequence and substrate specificity MMP12, MMP19, MMP20 and MMP27 are not classified. MMP12 also known as macrophage metalloelastase is mainly expressed in macrophages and it is the potent elastolytic enzyme⁹². In humans, MMP19 is expressed in many different tissues and has shown to be a very potent degradative enzyme. It can also degrade gelatin, aggrecan and type IV collagen⁹³. First isolated from a porcine enamel organ, MMP20 also known as enamelysin is secreted by odontoblast of the dental papilla and ameloblast^{94, 95}. Besides the fact that MMP20 is highly expressed in B-lymphocytes, and that it can degrade gelatin and casein, little information is known about human MMP27. However, it was first identified from chicken embyo fibroblasts⁹⁶.

MMP1, MMP8, and MMP13 degrade collagen. They are also called collagenase 1,2 and 3 respectively. They are so called because of their ability to first unwind triple helical

collagen and then to cleave fibrillar collagen type I, II and III into characteristic 3/4 and 1/4 fragments. Their hemopexin domain is essential for the degradation of the native collagen. Once this domain is removed, the MMPs are unable to carry out their catalytic abilities⁹⁷.

Matrilysins have 2 members MMP7 and MMP26 also known as matrilysins1 and matrilysins2 respectively. They lack the carboxy-terminal hemopexin domain. The have been involved in the degradation of ECM like laminin, entactin and type IV collagen. MMP7 has been shown to cleave cell surface molecules such as Fas-ligand, syndecan 1 and E-cadherin to generate soluble forms. MMP26 is expressed in breast cancer cells⁹⁸ and is an activator of pro-MMP9 under pathological conditions⁹⁹.

Stromelysins have 3 members: MMP3, MMP10 and MMP11 also known as stromelysins 1,2 and 3 respectively. They have a structural design similar to the collagenases; they can degrade many different ECM components but cannot cleave native collagen. MMP3 and MMP10 have similar structure and possess the same substrate specificity. They are secreted as inactive proMMP, while MMP11 is distant in its structure and has very weak activity toward ECM. It is secreted as an active enzyme since it is activated intracellularly. MMP3 and MMP10 have the ability to remove the propeptide domain of the three procollagenases as well as proMMP9 and activate them.

Gelatinases have two members: MMP2 or gelatinase A and MMP9 or gelatinase B. They play an important role in the remodeling of collagenous ECM. They possess three repeats of type II fibronectin located inside the catalytic domain, allowing them to degrade denatured collagens and gelatins. They degrade different components of the ECM such as collagen type I, IV, V, VII, IX, X, elastin, fibronectin, aggrecan, vitronectin and laminin¹⁰⁰. They are also capable of degrading non-ECM molecules such as pro-

TNF α^{101} , TGF β^{102} and MCP3¹⁰³. They are expressed in fibroblasts, keratinocytes, endothelial cells, chondrocytes and monocytes. Both MMP2 and MMP9 have been shown to play a role in many pathological diseases including inflammation, cancer, vascular disease such as artherosclerosis and aortic aneurysm, cancer and bone diseases.

Furin-activable MMPs have two different subgroups: secreted MMPs and membranetype MMPs. They are called furin-activatable because they possess a prohormone convertase cleavage site or furin recognition site between the propeptide and the catalytic domain.

Secreted MMPs has two members MMP21 and MMP28. In general, MMPs are secreted in the inactive form and the uniqueness of these enzymes is that they are activated intracellularly by a furin-like protease and secreted as active enzymes. MMP21 is expressed in different tissues such as kidney, intestine and skin during embryonic development. MMP28 has not been well documented and its role is not clearly defined. It has been shown to play a role in various diseases such as cancer, multiple sclerosis and certain disease of the central nervous system.

Membrane-type MMPs are classified into two groups: type I transmembrane MT-MMPs and glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) MT-MMPs. These MMPs are located on the cell surface. Type I transmembrane MT-MMP are anchored to the plasma membrane through a transmembrane domain and the GPI MT-MMP through a GPI anchor. Type I transmembrane MT-MMPs members include MMP-14 or MT1-MMP, MMP-15 or MT2-MMP, MMP16 or MT3-MMP and MMP24 or MT5-MMP. These type I transmembrane MT-MMP share the same structural domain. Synthesized a pre-pro enzymes, processing of the signal and prodomain occurs before they are secreted into the cell surface. GPI

MT-MMP include MMP17 or MT4-MMP and MMP25 or MT6-MMP; they also share the same structural domain. The GPI-anchoring peptide is a hydrophobic amino acid stretch at the C-terminus. When GPI-MMPs are secreted, they are secreted as pre-proenzyme anchoring this hydrophobic sequence. While MMP17 has a low enzymatic activity to cleave ECM components, MMP25 has been shown to cleave a broader range of ECM components; this includes gelatin, collagen IV, fibronectin, fibrin and proteoglycans. MMP25 is expressed in leukocytes, lung and spleen and MMP17 in brain, colon, ovary, testis and leukocytes.

1.2.2. Regulation of MMP enzymatic activity

MMPs are considered important regulators for "tissue homeostasis and immunity in the network of multidirectional communication within tissues and cells"¹⁰⁴ because they can degrade a broad spectrum of substrate. Therefore, their activities are tightly regulated. MMP catalytic activity is tightly controlled at four different levels: 1) at the transcriptional and post translational level; 2) their compartmentalization; 3) MMP activation and 4) their inhibition by endogenous inhibitors i.e. tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases (TIMPs) and other non-specific proteinase inhibitors such as α_2 -macroglobulin.

MMP gene expression is primarily regulated at the transcriptional level resulting in a low level of mRNA expression under normal physiological conditions. It has been recently reported that MMP post transcriptional stability is tightly regulated by cytokines, nitric oxide, or micro-RNA. A common cis-element within the promoter region is shared amongst many of the MMP family members; supporting evidence that MMPs are co-expressed or co-repressed by various stimuli, including inflammatory cytokines, growth factors, glucocorticoids, or retinoids¹⁰⁵. The most surprising finding is the clear distinction in promoters of functionally related MMPs such as MMP2 and MMP9 or gelatinases and MMP1 and MMP8 or collagenases. Based on the composition of the cis-element, MMP
promoters are grouped into three different categories. The first category which includes most MMP promoters contains a TATA box and an AP-1 binding site; most of which have a PEA3-binding site adjacent to the AP-1 binding site. This PEA3 binding site is primarily responsible for controlling MMP transcription by cytokines and growth factors¹⁰⁶. The second category is a category of MMP promoters that have a TATA box but do not have an AP1-binding site which allows for a more simple and distinct regulation of the promoter. The Third category is a category of MMP promoters that do not contain a TATA resulting with transcription starting at multiple sites. These MMPs include MMP2, MMP14, and MMP28¹⁰⁷. Other factors that influence the transcriptional control of MMPs are epigenetic mechanisms such as DNA methylation and/or chromatin remodeling with histone acetylation. Hypermethylation represses MMP Transcription¹⁰⁸ while hypomethylation is regulatory for MMP expression^{109, 110}. In conclusion, different factors are required for MMP transcription:1) recruitment and cooperation of transcription factors, 2) chromatin remodeling factors, 3) histone-modifying enzymes and 4) basal transcription machinery to a promoter¹¹¹.

Recent studies show that posttranscriptional mechanisms are also involved in the control of MMP expression in response to certain cues. Overall et al. showed that in human gingival fibroblasts and prostate cancer, TGFβ extends the half-life of MMP2 and MMP9, and increases their levels¹¹². Post-transcriptional mechanisms regulate MMP mRNA stability and require elements with specific sequences: multiple AU-rich elements (ARE) mostly located in the 3' untranslated regions (UTRs). The stability is facilitated by transacting RNA-binding proteins that interact with the ARE. Increase binding of HU protein family factors to ARE element enhances mRNA stability while binding of destabilizing proteins promotes mRNA degradation. MMP activity is compartmentalized where and how MMP is released and held in the pericellular environment is also an important

process especially for the regulation of MMP proteolysis. Secreted MMPs are often associated with the cell membrane which leads to substrate specificity in the pericellular space. MMP9 has been shown to be recruited and bind to CD44¹⁰².

MMPs are synthesized as inactive enzymes in the pro-form or zymogens. Their activation consists of removing the pro-domain harboring a cysteine rich motif or cysteine switch. The conformational change in the pro-domain is what determines the activation of the pro-MMPs. This conformational change exposes the cysteine residue which in turn will allow the water to interact with the zinc ion in the active site. There are three different mechanisms known to initiate this event: 1) direct cleavage of another endoproteinase to remove the pro-domain; 2) allosteric reconformation of the prodomain and 3) modification of the pro-domain through chemical reaction such as with reactive oxygen species or nonphysiological reagents. Allosteric reconformation of the pro-domain and the chemical modification of the pro-domain can allow the enzyme to remove its own pro-domain by autoproteolysis¹¹³. Activation of pro-MMP is believed to be a process that involves multiple steps and take place in the pericellular membrane. The first step is the conformational change that causes the exposure of the cysteineswitch and its subsequent disruption by interaction with the zinc ion. Partially activated MMP intermediates or other active MMPs remove the pro-domain through intra or intermolecular processing¹¹⁴. Pro-MMP2 activation has been the most documented activation, and MT1-MMP or MMP14 plays a very important role. Pro-MMP2 forms a complex with TIMP2; this complex interacts with the catalytic domain of MT1-MMP via the N-terminal domain of TIMP2 and forms a cell membrane-associated ternary complex. The activation of pro-MMP2 is triggered by a second MT1-MMP which would cleave the pro-domain¹¹⁵. The activation is completed by autolytic cleavage by MMP-**2**¹¹⁶

In vitro studies have shown that pro-MMP can be activated by thiol-modifying chemical agents such as mercurial compounds, SDS, oxidized glutathione and reactive oxygen species. These agents cause activation of several pro-MMPs. Reactive oxygen species activate pro-MMP via interaction of oxidized thiol and the zinc ion in pro-enzyme and autocatalytic cleavage¹¹⁷. Reactive oxygen species have also been shown to inactivate MMPs during increased inflammation¹¹⁸. Whether ROS can directly activate or inactivate MMPs in vivo has not been established.

Pro-MMPs can also be activated via the intrinsic allostery of MMP molecule. Fujita et al. have demonstrated that pro-MMP7 can be activated pericellularly by tetraspanin CD151 which is overexpressed in osteoarthritic articular cartilage. This increase in CD151 leads to an excess of MMP7 activity therefore causing cartilage destruction¹¹⁹. Later on, Geurts et al demonstrated that pro-MMP9 activation with hemin or beta-hematin, the core constituent of hemozoin, resulted in autocatalysis of the prodomain mediated by allosteric interaction with the hemopexin domain¹²⁰.

In vitro studies have shown that pro-MMPs can be activated by a single member of either serine proteinases or other MMPs such as MMP3 and MMP14. However, in vivo studies show that activation of pro-MMPs can be trigerred by more than one mechanism and can involve more than one participant. This has been supported using animal models. MMP3 has been shown to activate pro-MMP9 in vitro. It was suggested that MMP3 may play a key role in pro-MMPs activation¹²¹. However, complete deletion of MMP3 in mice does not attenuate MMP2 or MMP9 activation after perivascular electric injury either in the carotid artery or the femoral artery¹²². Furthermore, it is well established that MT1-MMP plays a key role in pro-MMP2 activation. MT1-MMP deletion does not prevent pro-MMP2 activation in fibroblasts from MT1-MMP knockout mice after treatment with ascorbic acid¹²³. Other supportive studies are: one from Lijnen at al who

have shown that in vivo plasminogen does not necessarily activate pro-MMP2 and pro-MMP9 by using plasminogen deficient mice¹²⁴ and another from Tchougounova et al who showed that chymase deficiency partially prevented pro-MMP2 and pro-MMP9 activation¹²⁵. These data strongly suggest that the mechanisms by which pro-MMPs are activated in vivo are still not clear.

It has been well established in vivo that maintaining a balance between active MMPs and their inhibitors is critical in order to avoid diseases caused by uncontrolled ECM turnover, inflammation, dysregulated cell growth, and migration. There are two major inhibitors: tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) and α_2 -macroglobulin. Human α_2 -macroglobulin is a broad spectrum inhibitor. It inhibits almost all endopeptidase in the body fluids and blood by engulfing the entire enzyme; this complex is then cleared by LDL receptor related protein-1 mediated endocytosis¹²⁶. In tissue there are four inhibitors known as TIMPs. Each TIMPs inhibit MMPs with a 1:1 molar ratio. TIMPs are broad spectrum inhibitors of MMPs, but they differ in their specificity. Data have shown that TIMP2, TIMP3 or TIMP4 can interact with pro-MMP2 and TIMP1 or TIMP3 with pro-MMP9¹²⁷. The role that TIMP2 plays when interacting with pro-MMP2 has been well established. However, the role of other TIMPs interaction is not known. Of all the TIMPs, only TIMP3 have shown to be the most relevant in vivo. Since TIMP3 deficient mice were shown to develop pulmonary alveolar enlargement and enhanced apoptosis in mammary gland duct epithelial cells with age¹²⁸, while TIMP1 and TIMP2 deficient mice have not been seen with any abnormalities. TIMP4, which is the newest recognized addition to the TIMP family, has not been well studied. TIMP4 knockout mice were recently developed and thus far have shown to be normal ¹²⁹. Other molecules have been shown to inhibit some MMPs. Procollagen C proteinase enhancer has been shown to be an inhibitor of MMP2¹³⁰. MMP2, MMP9 and MMP14 activities can also be inhibited

by the glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchored angiogenesis suppressor glycoprotein RECK¹³¹.

1.2.3. Matrix Metalloproteinases and AAA

Many MMPs have been implicated in human aortic aneurysms. MMP9 is the most studied. MMP9 is the most abundant elastolytic proteinase produced by human tissues in vitro and is highly expressed in macrophages infiltrated within the aneurysm tissue¹³². Data suggest that the size of the developing aneurysm is determined by the type of MMP within the aortic media¹³³. Smaller aneurysms have higher level of MMP2 whereas medium and larger sized aorta and ruptured aneurysm have a higher level of MMP9^{132,} ¹³⁴. The roles of MMP2 and MMP9 in aortic aneurysm have been well established. Longo et al. have reported a relationship between these two gelatinases in aortic aneurysm formation. They found that when MMP2-/- mice and MMP9-/- mice were treated with CaCl₂, none of these mice had developed AAA. However, reconstitution of MMP9 by intravenous infusion of wild type mice macrophages into both mice resulted in AAA formation in MMP9-/- mice but not in MMP2-/- mice⁵⁹. These data suggest that both MMP2 and MMP9 are required for AAA formation. Other MMPs have been implicated in AAA formation; these include MMP1, MMP3, MMP12, MMP13 and MT1-MMP. MMP1 and MMP3 have been shown to be elevated in plasma of patients with AAA¹³⁵. MMP12, MMP13 and MT1-MMP are increase in AAA tissue¹³⁶⁻¹³⁸, with MMP13 been highly expressed in medial smooth muscle cells¹³⁶. Cigarette smoking, a major risk factor in aortic aneurysm, increases MMP1 in rabbits' aortic tissue¹³⁹. While MMP1 has been shown to be increase in sites of in human AAA tissue where collagen generation could be important¹⁴⁰, other data have shown that there is no correlation between MMP1 level in the plasma and the size of the AAA¹⁴¹. Immunohistology demonstrated that MMP12 is more localized at the elastin fiber fragments¹⁴². Deficiency in MMP12 in mice was shown

to attenuate AAA growth after periaortic application of CaCl₂, but does not affect MMP2 and MMP9 expression¹³⁸. MMP3 deficient mice were shown to have an attenuated aortic diameter, and the expression of MMP3 in the wildtype mice was co-localized with macrophage infiltrates¹⁴³.

Due to the high implication of MMPs in aortic aneurysm formation, many drugs that target MMPs and inhibit their activities have been studied as potential treatment for small aneurysm to prevent AAA expansion. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID) have been widely used for their ability to suppress MMP expression and potentially reduce aortic aneurysm dilation. In a study conducted in rats, indomethacin treated rats had a decrease in MMP9 production and an attenuated aortic diameter after elastase infusion¹⁴⁴. Marimastat, a synthetic molecule designed to mimic MMPs substrates, prevented MMP2 activation and elastin degradation in aortic organ culture¹⁴⁵. Investigation of CGS27023A, a broad-spectrum MMP inhibitor, showed a reduction in aortic medial elastin degeneration and ectasia grade, suggesting that MMP inhibition can prevent or slow an aortic aneurysm progression¹⁴⁶. Many studies have demonstrated that doxycycline treatment inhibits MMP synthesis; therefore, preventing elastin degradation and aortic aneurysm expansion. Doxycycline has the ability to bind to any MMP at the active zinc site causing a conformational change and loss of enzymatic activity¹⁴⁷. Oral administration of doxycycline in AnglI treated mice reduced the incidence of AAA as well as the severity of the aneurysm⁷⁴. In a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study, patients with small AAA that received doxycycline daily for 3 months and were then monitored for 18 months had a decrease in aneurysm expansion¹⁴⁸. However, this study was criticized at different levels. One point was the size of the diameter in the doxycycline group vs the placebo group. Within the doxycycline group, average diameter was 3.1cm which according to Baxter is

considered dilated but not aneurysmal, and the placebo group had a much larger diameter (3.5cm). The most significant point was that during the whole 18 months period there was no significant difference between the placebo group and the doxycycline group. Significance was only seen when both group were subdivided into different group 6-12 month and 12-18 month¹⁴⁹. Doxycycline had shown to be beneficiary in animal studies, but in human studies, different trials provided conflicting evidence¹⁵⁰. Thus, the effectiveness of Doxycycline as a MMP inhibitor to treat small aneurysm is yet to be determined.

1.3. Tissue Inhibitors of Metalloproteinases (TIMPs):

1.3.1. Classification and regulation

Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) are endogenous inhibitors of the matrix metalloproteinases and are consequently important regulators of ECM turnover, tissue remodeling and cellular behavior¹⁵¹. There are four human paralogous genes that encodes for TIMPs1-4. The first TIMP was identifying in the 1970s and described as a small collagenase inhibitor because of its ability to inhibit collagenase produced in the media cultured human skin fibroblast¹⁵², human serum¹⁵³, bovine cartilage and aorta¹⁵⁴. It was then called "tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases" for its ability to not only inhibit collagenases, but gelatinases and proteoglycanase as well¹⁵⁵. Subsequently, other TIMPs were also discovered with the most recent being TIMP4. All four TIMPs inhibit all identified MMPs; but, their affinity varies with different MMPs. TIMP3 has a broader inhibition spectrum, and it can inhibit some members of the disintegrin metalloproteinases, ADAM and ADAMTs families. TIMPs also have other functions independent of inhibition of metalloproteinase. They can regulate cell proliferation, angiogenesis and plasticity. The structure, activity and biological function of all four TIMPs has been investigated thoroughly.

All four TIMPs are similar in structure; they are about 40% identical in sequence. TIMP2 and TIMP4 share the most similarity; they are about 50% identical in sequence, and TIMP1 shares around 41% of its sequence with other TIMPs¹⁵⁶. The genes for TIMPs1, 3, and 4 lay within an intron of the synapsin genes. Synapsins are genes that encode for neuro-specific phosphoproteins that coat the cytoplasmic surfaces of synaptic vesicles¹⁵⁷. TIMP2 is the host for the gene DDC8 (differential display clone 8), a gene that is highly expressed in the testis during spermatogenesis¹⁵⁸. The four TIMPs have two distinct domains, an N-terminus domain of about 125 amino acid residue and a Cterminus with 65 amino acid residues. There are three disulfide bonds that stabilize the conformation of each domain¹⁵⁹. The N-terminal domain has the ability to fold and function independently. N-TIMPs, which have the recombinant form of the N-terminal domain, are more stable in structure and are fully active inhibitors of MMPs and ADAMS^{160, 161}. Therefore, they are used to investigate different TIMPs properties. Although the four TIMPs share similarities in their structures, they do have differences in expression pattern. TIMPs 1, 3 and 4 are inducible and tissue specific while TIMP2 is more constitutive and ubiquitous. TIMP1 is mainly expressed in the reproductive system, TIMP3 is more seen in the heart, kidney, and thymus and TIMP4 is highly expressed in the cardiovascular system, as well as, kidney pancreas, colon, testes, brain and adipose tissue¹⁶².

The four TIMPs are broad-spectrum inhibitors of all MMPs identified to date. However, their affinity and specificity differ among them. TIMP1 is the most restrictive TIMP in its ability to inhibit MMPs. TIMP1 inhibits MMP1, MMP3, MMP7 and MMP9; it has very low affinity for MMP14, MMP16, MMP19, MMP24 and the membrane-type MMPs. TIMP2 is the only TIMP that interacts on the cell surface with MT1-MMP and pro-MMP2, and is required for the activation of pro-MMP2¹¹⁵. TIMP2 can also inhibit MMP2. TIMP2 thus

acts as both an MMP inhibitor and an activator. TIMP3 has a bigger spectrum of inhibition. It can also inhibit members of the ADAM and ADAMTs families while the activity of other TIMPs in this regard are limited^{161, 163}.

ADAMs (disintegrin and metalloproteinase motif) vary from MMPs in their domain structures and are very different in their catalytic domain sequences. They contain a disintegrin, cysteine-rich, EGF-like transmembrane domains C-terminal in their catalytic membrane-bound enzyme¹⁶⁴. ADAMTs site and thev are (disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs), are secreted proteins. They possess the disintegrin domain and different numbers of thrombospondin type1 motifs and other domain in their C-terminal domain¹⁶⁵. TIMP1 and TIMP3 inhibit ADAM10¹⁶³ and TIMP2 inhibits ADAM12¹⁶⁶. TIMP1 and N-TIMP4 inhibit ADAM 17¹⁶⁷, and TIMP4 inhitbits ADAM28¹⁶⁸. TIMP3 also inhibit ADAM12, 17, 28, and 33 as well as ADAMTs 1,2,4 and 5. TIMPs usually inhibit MMPs and ADAMs using the N-terminal domain. However, TIMP1 and TIMP3 do not use their N-terminal domain to inhibit ADAM10¹⁶⁹.

1.3.2. TIMPs and AAA

Disruption of the balance between MMPs and TIMPs may result in diseases associated with uncontrolled turnover of matrix, such as aortic aneurysm. The functions of TIMPs have been investigated to understand their role in AAA formation. TIMP1 mRNA has been found to be increased in human AAA tissues¹⁷⁰ and in murine model of AAA¹⁷¹. TIMP1-/- mice after a periaortic treatment of CaCl₂ were found to have an increase in aortic diameter compare to control⁶⁶. Local overexpression of TIMP1 in the rats' aortas prevented elastin degeneration and therefore prevented aneurysm formation¹⁷². Three different TIMP1 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) have identified in male Caucasian patients with AAA¹⁷³. TIMP2, a cofactor in MMP2 activation, have been shown to prevent aortic aneurysm increase in genetically deleted TIMP2 mice model

with CaCl₂⁶¹. On the hand, overexpression of TIMP2 by recombinant adenovirus in rat aorta also prevented an increase in aortic diameter by preventing elastin degeneration¹⁷⁴. These data are consistent with the complex function of TIMP2 in MMP2 activation. An increase in TIMP2 has been shown to activate MMP2 activity; however an overexpression of TIMP2 inhibits MMP2 activity¹⁷⁵. TIMP3-/- mice, when treated with ANGII, had an increase in aortic aneurysm formation and rupture¹⁷⁶. While a role of TIMP1/2/3 in aortic aneurysm has been reported^{172, 174, 176}, whether TIMP4 is involved in aortic aneurysm is unknown. Several lines of evidence implicate a role for TIMP4 in AAA: 1) it non-selectively inhibits MMP activity; 2) TIMP4 is down-regulated in intracranial aneurysms¹⁷⁷; 3) a Promoter SNP in TIMP4 gene has been associated with Kawasaki disease, a systematic vasculitis¹⁷⁸ and 4) TIMP4 is an inducible gene¹⁷⁹.

1.4. Molecular clock Bmal1

1.4.1. Regulation

Brain and muscle ARNT-like (Bmal1; also known as MOP3 in human or Arnt3 in mouse), is a member of the basic helic-loop-helix period-ARNT period-ARNT-single minded (bHLH-PAS) transcription factor family. It is an obligatory core clock gene and is essential for normal circadian rhythmicity in physiology and behavior^{180, 181}. At the cellular level, Bmal1 forms a heterodimer with Clock, another member of the bHLH-PAS family, through their PAS protein-protein interaction domain. The heterodimer constitutes the positive limb of the circadian feedback loop machinery to initiate the transcription of target genes containing E-box cis-regulatory enhancer sequences and are highly selective for those with the sequence CACGTG¹⁸² including the period (per1, per2 and per3) paralogous member of the PAS protein family and cryptochrome (cry1 and cry2)¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴, members of the vitamin B₂-based blue light photoreceptor/photolyase family.

negative limb of the feedback loop is comprised of the heteromultimer formed by per, cry and other proteins that translocate back in the nucleus and directly abrogate the transcriptional activity of the Bmal1:Clock complex¹⁸⁴⁻¹⁸⁶. This inhibition is believed to be mainly caused by the Cry proteins, probably by repressing histone acetyl transferase (HAT) activity^{187, 188} while the translocation of the complex has been attributed to one or more per proteins^{184, 187}. Phosphorylation of Per and Cry and subsequential degradation partly by casein kinase I epsilon and delta (CKI ε/δ) result in the Bmal1/Clock heterodimer being released from inhibition and therefore free to initiate transcription again¹⁸⁹⁻¹⁹¹. The Bmal1/Clock heterodimer activates another core clock gene creating yet another positive and negative feedback loop. Bmal1/Clock still constitute the positive limb while rev-erba, which codes for an orphan nuclear receptor¹⁹² constitutes the negative limb. Just like per and cry, rev-erba contains E-box enhancer in the promoter region which allows binding and activation by Bmal1/Clock^{193, 194}. Rev-erbα has been shown to inhibit Bmal1 transcription by binding the retinoic acid-related orphan response elements (ROREs) in the promoter region^{193, 195, 196}. It has also been shown that disruption of rev-erba significantly affects Clock and Cry1¹⁹³. The rev-erba negative limb is unlike the cry-per negative limb because it only inhibits Bmal1 instead of inhibiting the Bmal1/Clock Complex. The inhibitory effect of Cry-per on Bmal1/clock also acts to inhibit rev-erba transcription. Competing with rev-erba at the ROREs is Rora; whereas rev-erba acts to inhibit Bmal1 transcription, Ror α activates Bmal1 transcription through two conserved Rora conserved elements¹⁹⁷. More ROREs were shown to regulate Bmal1 expression. Since the Rev-erb and the ROR families recognize the similar response element with opposite effect on Bmal1 transcription, Guillaumond et al. investigated the possibility that each member of the both families can regulate Bmal1 expression. Within the Rev-erb family both Rev-erb α and Rev-reb β were shown to inhibit Bmal1 expression

and the RORs members (ROR α , ROR β , ROR γ) were shown to activate Bmal1 transcription¹⁹⁸.

At the molecular level, the combination of transcription, translation and posttranslational modification of the core clock genes results in a daily rhythmic expression, or circadian rhythms of those genes. In mammalian physiology, circadian rhythm is driven by a central pacemaker located in the suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN) of the hypothalamus. The SCN is controled by photic cues from the retino-hypotalamic tract which in turn control and synchronizes clock genes in peripheral tissues. Although the SCN controls rhythmicity in the whole organisms, rhythmicity is also maintained within individual tissues and even at the cellular level^{199, 200}. The phases within peripheral tissues have been shown to be delayed by approximately four hours from the SCN. Lesion of the SCN rendered rats behaviorally arrhythmic²⁰¹. Hormonal signals such as glucocorticoids and restricted feeding can uncouple the phase of peripheral tissues from the SCN^{202, 203}. In a study by Damiola et al., restricting mice from food during the day on a 12-h light/12h dark cycle resulted in a 12 hour shift of clock genes expression in the peripheral tissue while the expression in the SCN remained unchanged, and Stocklan et al. demonstrated that food restriction during the light not only shifts the phase of the clock genes expression by 10 hours after 3 days of restricted feeding in rats but it also alters their locomotor activities. Both findings from Damiola and Stocklan suggest that feeding is an important cue to determine clock genes expression pattern in peripheral tissues.

Even though the circadian machinery in the SCN and peripheral tissues is well understood, the mechanisms downstream of the clock machinery that regulate metabolism and physiological processes is still being heavily investigated. Ramsey et al. described in 2007 that there is an approximate of 5% to 10% of the transcriptome has shown to be have a 24 hour variation in the SCN, heart, vasculature and fat. Since then,

more genes have been shown to be under control of the clock core genes now estimated at over 10%. Albumin gene D-site binding protein (DBP) belongs to the PAR leucine zipper transcription factor family; it increases the transcription of many genes containing an insulin-response element in the liver²⁰⁴. It is endogenously rhythmic and its expression is not influenced by light. DBP mRNA expression does not change with a short exposure to light. Deletion of DBP does not alter rhythmicity. However, mice lacking DBP have been display significant differences in circadian locomotor activity²⁰⁵. (Although DBP is a clock control gene, its regulation requires both Bmal1 and Clock).

Another group of genes that are controlled by clock genes and are involved in metabolic processes such as lipid homeostasis in the vascular system is the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)²⁰⁶. PPAR are member of the nuclear receptor superfamily and there have been three types of PPAR described: PPAR α , PPAR β /PPAR δ and PPAR γ . PPAR α , which is highly expressed in the liver and brown adipose tissue, acts as a lipid sensor in the liver. It activates the transcription of specific genes in response to an influx of fatty acids²⁰⁷

Bmal1 and Clock are the two transcription factors that set off the circadian rhythm machinery. While the global deletion of Clock in mice does not affect circadian rhythm but affect the response to light²⁰⁸, global deletion of Bmal1 in mice disrupts behavior and molecular rhythm¹⁸³. Bmal1 null mice have been shown to have a reduced lifespan and pathologies associated with pre-mature aging and an increase in oxidative stress. Bmal1 is involved in vascular pathologies. It has been associated with prothrombotic phenotype²⁰⁹. A study from Somanath et al. had shown that when using the mesentery artery to induce thrombosis, the time to thrombotic occlusion in Bmal1 KO mice was shorter than in wildtype control. Bmal1 has been shown to play an important role in vascular pathologies²¹⁰. It has been associated with flow dependent vascular

remodeling²¹¹, aortic vascular stiffness, transplant arteriosclerosis and increased superoxide and endothelial nitric oxide synthase uncoupling in aorta.

1.4.2. Bmal1 and cardiovascular disease

Bmal1 and other core clock genes are expressed in peripheral tissues²¹², including cardiovascular organs: heart, aorta and kidney^{213, 214}. Data suggest that approximately 10% of genes in peripheral organs exhibit circadian expression in the heart^{215, 216} and vascular tissues²¹⁷. These data bring in a new perspective on the function of peripheral clocks in different organs or even at the cellular level. Heart rate, blood pressure, endothelial function, and fibrinolytic activity are all cardiovascular parameters that exhibit circadian variations. An alteration of Bmal1 has been shown to be involved in vascular pathologies²¹⁰. When the germline Bmal1^{-/-} mice underwent a chronic reduction in blood flow in the common carotid artery, those mice developed a wall thickness that was more pronounced then their littermate control. They had also developed vascular remodeling. However, instead of narrowing the lumen as observed with the control, those mice had an increase in lumen diameter which was accompanied with a development of a thrombosis²¹¹. Another study from Anea et al. had shown that Bmal1-/- mice have an increase in vascular stiffness and a decrease in compliance. They had also shown that Bmal1-/- mice have an increase of MMP2 and MMP9 activities 3 days after of common carotid artery ligation. MMP9 activity was also increase in non-ligated artery²¹⁸. Transplant model demonstrated that a transplant of aorta from Bmal1-/- mice into control mice lead to transplant arteriosclerosis observed by intimal hyperplasia and wall thickness while the transplant had only induced inward remodeling between control and control²¹⁹. Bmal1-/- mice had a reduced endothelial function due to an increase in oxidative stress²²⁰.

Circadian expression of clock genes has been shown to be expressed in vascular endothelial cells and in vascular smooth muscle cells²¹⁴. Data has shown that VSMC stimulation with ANGII induces clock genes expression. The time of stimulation by AngII can be considered as a zeitbeger time in VSMC²¹⁴. Xie et al. had demonstrated that tissue specific deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle cells lowered and altered blood pressure circadian rhythm²²¹. Although, there are studies that have looked at the role of Bmal1 in vascular diseases, those studies involved a global knockout of Bmal1, making it difficult to assess the role that Bmal1 plays in the vasculature itself without altering its expression in other tissues and cells. Studies from Xie mentioned above are more insightful by looking at the role of smooth muscle Bmal1 in the regulation of blood pressure. Since they have used smooth muscle cells specific Bmal1 KO and blood pressure is regulated in small vessel such as mesenteric arteries and smooth muscle cells are the biggest component of those vessels. Therefore, a specific deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle is most appropriate to study the role of Bmal1 in blood pressure regulation. Smooth muscle cells are big player in AAA formation and AAA ruptures have been shown to have time of the day variations. This could imply a role for clock genes in AAA formation. Whether Bmal1 plays a role in aortic aneurysm formation has not been showed yet. Therefore, there is the need to understand the role that smooth muscle Bmal1 could play in the formation of AAA.

1.5. Scope of the dissertation

Abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) is a multifactorial disease characterized by a permanent segmental, abnormal dilation of the aorta¹. This permanent dilation is due to an increase in elastin and ECM degradation; an increase in inflammatory cell infiltration; and smooth muscle cells apoptosis^{22, 23}. In human AAA, MMP expression increases in VSMCs³⁹, and thus play a central role in the development of AAA. MMPs degrade the

ECM of the vasculature including elastin, and the increase in MMPs is induced by an increase in inflammatory cells and cytokines, which are secreted by smooth muscle cells^{40, 41, 43, 46, 47}. The precise mechanisms of aortic aneurysm formation are not well understood making it very challenging to develop a therapeutic treatment. Therefore, the only treatment has been an emergency surgery, which has a mortality rate of more than 50%. Therefore, deciphering the molecular mechanism underlying aneurysm formation is urgently needed in order to identify new pharmacological therapeutic targets.

As previously mentioned, Bmal1 is an obligatory core clock gene and a transcriptional factor; it regulates genes essentials for normal circadian rhythm in physiology and behavior²²². Bmal1 is expressed in the SCN and peripheral tissues including VSMC, and is essential for normal vascular functions²²³. Alteration of Bmal1 has been associated with different vascular pathologies such as vascular stiffness²¹⁸, transplant arteriosclerosis²¹⁹ and flow-dependent vascular remodeling²¹¹. However, the role of Bmal1 in AAA formation has yet to be studied. AAA dissection and rupture have been shown to have circadian variability²²⁴, which would suggest an involvement of clock genes, and Bmal1 deletion has been shown to increase oxidative stress and MMPs, which are increased in human AAA VSMC^{43, 218, 220}. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to investigate the role that vascular Bmal1 plays in AAA formation. The initial hypothesis was that Bmal1 deletion would exacerbate AAA formation. Therefore, we used smooth muscle cells specific Bmal1 knockout mice to test our hypothesis. However, the hypothesis was rejected because Bmal1 deletion from smooth muscle cells showed a complete protection from AAA formation. We moved to understand the mechanism of protection.

Different experimental approaches were taken to understand and determine the mechanism of protection, and they are presented in chapter 2. The results and their

explanations are presented in chapter 3. The discussion and limitations of the project are presented in chapters 4.



Materials and Methods

2.1. Experimental Design





2.2. Animals

Four or eight to nine month old male smooth muscle cells Bmal1 Knockout mice (SM Bmal1^{-/-}) and littermate control were used for this study. SM Bmal1^{-/-} mice were generated by crossing Bmal1^{flox/flox} mice with smooth muscle cell specific SM22α-Cre knocked-in mice; both were purchased from Jackson Laboratory. Homozygous Bmal1^{flox/flox} mice possess a lox*P* sites flanking exon 8 which encode for Bmal1 binding site to E-box. To generate the SM22α-Cre knocked-in mice, a modified Cre recombinase under the control of SM22α promoter was introduced into B6SJLF2 donor oocytes. When Bmal1^{flox/flox} mice were crossed with SM22α-Cre transgenic mice, the presence of Cre resulted in the deletion of the flanked exon 8 of Bmal1. Since SM22α has been shown to be smooth muscle cells specific²²⁵, it is expressed in aorta, esophagus, intestine, trachea and uterus. SM22α is also expressed in the heart and skeletal muscles²²⁶. Bmal1 is specifically deleted in smooth muscle cells including the aorta.

C57B6/J mice used in this study were purchased from Jackson Laboratories. They were left for acclimatization for 2 weeks in light box: The light box is set for 12:12 light cycle: 12 hours of light and 12 hours of dark. The light was set to be turned on at 6:00am and turned off at 6:00pm. The mice were killed at 4 different time point: ZT5, ZT11, ZT17, ZT23 were ZT stand for Zeitgeber Time: the number of hours after the light is turned on; making ZT5 and ZT11 day time and ZT17 and ZT23 night time.

2.3 DOCA/AngiotensinII pump implantation plus salt

To induce Aortic Aneurysm, a 50 mg Deoxycorticosterone Acetate pellet (DOCA, 21-day release, Innovative Research of America, Sarasota, FL) or 1000 ng/kg/day Angiotensin II (Sigma-aldrich, St. Louis, MO) in osmotic minipump (Alzet mini pump 28 days release, Alzet, Cupertino, CA) was administered subcutaneously; the mice were also given drinking water containing 0.9% NaCl and 0.2% KCl for 21 days for DOCA and 28 days

for Angiontensin II plus salt. To perform the surgery, mice were anesthetized by inhalation of isoflurane mixed with oxygen (3% isoflurane and 97% oxygen). Mice were placed in the prone position with continuous anesthesia. Hair from the cervical area was removed using Nair shaving cream and lateral incision was made. There, a pouch was created to insert the pellet or the pump was placed subcutaneously in the thoracic spine area. The wound was closed with suture and the mice monitored for recovery^{227, 228}.

2.4 Blood Pressure measurement by tail cuff

Prior to DOCA or ANGII implantation, the systolic blood pressure was measured using a non-invasive tail cuff method with automated monitor (CODA6, Kent Scientific Corporation, Connecticut, USA). Mice are placed in a restrainer to keep mice from excessive movements with the tail still on the outside. The holder is then placed in a heated platform at 37°C then two cuffs: the occlusion cuff (O cuff) and the volume pressure recording cuff (VPR cuff) are placed around the tail to record blood pressure. Blood pressure measurements were recorded for 5 consecutive days at the same time of the day and averaged. Unusually high or low blood pressure collected during the 5 days were considered outliers and therefore excluded from the average blood pressure⁷³. The measurements were repeated on the third week for DOCA plus Salt and on the fourth week for ANGII plus Salt.

2.5. Aorta Inner diameter assessments by ultrasound

The aorta inner diameter was first measured prior to DOCA or Angiotensin II pump implantation and monitored weekly thereafter. The inner diameter was measured via ultrasound imaging system using VEVO 2100. In order to perform the ultrasound, mice were first anesthetized by inhalation of isoflurane mixed with oxygen (3% isoflurane and 97% oxygen). Upon loss of total locomotion, mice were placed in the supine position onto 37°C heated platform. The hair in the abdominal area was removed using Nair

shaving cream. Isoflurane was continuously maintained for the whole procedure. Warmed ultrasound transmission gel was placed in the entire shaved area and the transducer was placed just below the ribs cage. The maximal inner diameter of the aortic suprarenal area was measured from ultrasound image acquired from a cine loop of 100 images. Hepatic artery, hepatic vein, and bile duct were used as marker to acquire image in the same location in each mouse²²⁷.

2.6. Blood Sodium and Potassium Measurement

After the mice were euthanized, freshly drawn blood from a cardiac puncture with a syringe was subsequently placed in an I-STAT E3+ cartridge (cat# SKU: 600-9004) without anti-coagulant. The cartridge was placed into a VetScan I-STAT1 handheld analyzer by ABAXIS and sodium and potassium concentrations were determined.

2.7. mRNA isolation and Real-time PCR

Aorta was removed from mice treated with DOCA plus Salt for 7 or 21 days and from non-treated mice. The aorta was then placed in RNAlater RNA stabilization Reagent (QIAGEN cat # 76106). RNA was extracted using RNeasy plus mini kit (QIAGEN) as follows: The whole aorta was placed in a homogenizer with 300µl of RLT buffer containing β -Mercaptoethanol (for each 1 ml of RLT buffer, we added 10 µl of β -Mercaptoethanol), the tissue was homogenized until complete dissipation into the solution. Only debris of the tissue could be seen through the homogenizer. 580 µl of water and 20 µl of proteinase K (Invitrogen cat # AM2542) were then added followed by pipetting up and down for about 10 times using a syringe and needle. The sample was sucked up into the syringe and transferred in a 1.5 ml Eppendrof tube, then heated in a heating block at 55°C for 10 minutes then centrifuged at 4°C at full speed for 5 minutes. The supernatant was removed carefully without touching the pellet and transferred into a 1.5 ml eppendrof tube. Then 400 µl of 100% ethanol was added to the sample and

mixed by pipetting up and down. Then 700 µl of the sample was transferred into RNeasy spin column and centrifuge at 8000xg for 15 seconds and the flow-through was discarded. The remainder of the sample was added to the same spin column and centrifuged. The flow-through was then discarded. 700 µl of RW1 buffer was added to the spin column then centrifuged for 15 seconds at 8000Xg, the flow-through was discarded. Then 500 µl of RPE buffer was added to the RNeasy spin column at 8000xg for 15 seconds. Another 500 µl of RPE buffer was added to the RNeasy spin column and centrifuged at 8000xg for 2 minutes. The flow-through and the collection tube were discarded and the column placed in a new collection tube and centrifuged for 1 minute at full speed to allow the membrane to dry. The collection tube was discarded and the spin column membrane and centrifuge for 1 minute at 8000xg to elute the RNA. Then the RNA concentration was measured using a nanodrop. cDNA was generated by reverse transcriptase PCR as follows:

-RNA, distilled water; random primer and dNTP were mixed together in a PCR tube and placed in a PCR machine:

Step 1: 65°C for 5 minutes

While step 1 was running, in an epperdorf tube 5x buffer, RNaseout, RT and water were mixed together and placed in the PCR tube while sample was in set 2.

Step 2: 4^oC for 5 minutes

Step 3: 37°C for 1 hour

Step 4: 70°C for 15 minutes

Step 5: 4⁰C

cDNA generated was then diluted with distilled water for a final concentration of 10ng/µl. The amount of RNA added depended on the concentration of RNA and the total amount of desired cDNA generated with the maximum amount being 5000ng.

For real time PCR, the samples were prepared as followed:

Forward primer, Reverse primer, 5x buffer, MgCl₂, dNTP, SYB green, Taq Pol and water were mixed: vortexed and centrifuged together in a 1.5 ml epperdorf tube. 22µl mixture was then aliquoted in 96 well PCR plate (Phenix Research Products, USA lot# 466568) and 3µl or 30ng of the cDNA was added in each well. The plate was centrifuged and placed in PCR machine with the following steps:

Step1: 95°C for 3 minutes

Step2: 95°C for 15 seconds

Step3: 60°C for 1 minute

Step4: Go to step 2 40 times

Step5: Melt curve 60.0 to 95.0 with 0.5 increase for 5 seconds

Step6: 20°C for 5 minutes

Real-time PCR was performed for quantification of genes expression of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMPs)1, 2, 3 and 4, the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR), Bmal1, Rev-erb, Per1, and Cry1.

2.8. Immunohistochemistry

For immunohistochemistry studies, the aorta was fixed first by incubating the sample in 70% alcohol for 48 hours then in 5% formaldehyde for 24 hours, following which it was embedded in paraffin. With the use of a microtome, the embedded tissues were cut in

series with a thickness of 5µm. Once a section was cut, with the use of a pencil it was held then placed in warmed water and picked up with a slide. Finally the tissue's slides were placed on a heated platform to dry.

The tissue was first stained for elastin with an elastin staining kit (Van Gieson staining, Richard-Allan Scientific CAT # 87017). Samples were deparaffinized by heating at 60^oC for 2 hours, this was followed by a series of incubation for hydration: 2 times in xylene for 15 min each time, 2 times in 100% ethanol for 5 minutes each times then in 95% ethanol for 5 min and 85% ethanol for 5 minutes followed by 70% and 50% ethanol for 5 minutes and water for 5 minutes. Samples were stained in working elastic stain solution for 30 minutes then rinsed in running tap water for 1 minute. The samples were then decolorized in working differentiating solution followed by a rinsed in tap water. The samples were then placed in sodium thiosulfate solution for 1 minute, then rinse with water for 3 minutes. They were then stained with Van Gieson stain solution for 3 minutes followed twice by dehydration in anhydrous alcohol for 1 minute each then cleared in clearing reagent 3 times for 1 minute each and mounted.

For TIMP4 staining, the section were deparaffinized, rehydrated, and treated with low pH antigen retrieve buffer (Vector Laboratory, Burlingame, CA) to retrieve antigen. Sections were treated with 3% H₂O₂ to quench endogenous peroxidases. After blocking endogenous background with Avidin/Biotin blocking kit (Vector/Laboratories) and non-specific binding (normal goat serum, Vectastain ABC Kit), slides were incubated with the TIMP4 primary antibodies (AssayBioTech) overnight at 4°C. Slides were then incubated with biotinylated secondary antibody (VECTASTAIN, ABC kit, elite). This incubation was followed by signaling detection which required samples to be subjected to the procedure of VECTASTAIN Elite ABC system (Vector Laboratories). Immunoreactivity was

visualized by DAB (DAKO North America Inc, Carpinteria, CA) followed by counterstaining with hematoxylin.

2.9. Gel Zymography

The aorta was freshly dissected and equilibrated in PBS for 30 minutes, then incubated in Krebs buffer for 24 hours at 37^oC. The medium containing MMPs loaded in a 2% gelatin zymogram gel : 10% gel (Acrylamide 29:1, 4x Separate gel buffer pH 8.8, gelatin, 10% APS, TEMED), stacking gel (Stacking buffer, Acrylamide 29:1, 10% APS, TEMED).The gel ran at 100v until the dye front reached the bottom of the gel. It was then incubated 2 times in wash buffer (1M Tris, 1 M CaCl₂, 10mM ZnCl₂, 2% Na₂N₃, Triton X-100) at 37^oC with shaking, followed by incubation in reaction buffer (1M Tris, 1 M CaCl₂, 10mM ZnCl₂, 2% Na₂N₃, Triton X-100) at 37^oC overnight. After incubation, the gel was washed 3 times with water at room temperature with shaking, stained with GelCode Blue Safe Protein and destained with water. The gel was scanned for visualization.

2.10. In Situ Zymography

To detect MMP/Gelatinases activities, the slides containing sections of paraffin embedded aorta were heated at 59°C overnight, deparaffinized in xylene and rehydrated in graded alcohol. Samples were incubated with a DQ gelatin fluorescein conjugate (EnzChek Gelatinase/Collagen Assay Kit, Molecular Probes CAT# E12055). Samples were first equilibrated in reaction buffer (0.5 M Tris-HCl, 1.5 M NaCl, 50mM CaCl₂, 2 mM sodium azide, pH 7.6) for 5 minutes. Substrate was prepared by dissolving 1mg DQ gelatin in 1.0 ml of water then further diluted (1:200) in reaction buffer to make the reaction mixture. Each sample was incubated with 100µl of the reaction mixture at 37°C for 2 hours in the dark. The slides were then washed with PBS 3 times for 2 minutes each. The slides were then fixed in 4% formaldehyde for 10 minutes in the dark washed with PBS 3 times for 5 minutes each. The slides were then counterstain with DAPI then mounted²²⁹.

2.11. ChIP Assay

Freshly dissected aorta was allowed to equilibrate in PBS for 30 minutes and fixed in 1% formaldehyde in PBS for 1 hour, following which 2% glycine in PBS was added in the sample. The tissue was frozen in liquid nitrogen and pulverized until a powder was formed. Then lysis buffer (0.1 M NaCl, 50mm Mop-NaOH pH 7.0, 1M EGTA, 0.1% Tween 20, 2mM MgCl₂,0.5mM DTT(TCEP) was added to the sample and allowed to equilibrate at room temperature. The sample was centrifuged and the pellet collected and washed twice with the lysis buffer. The sample was then treated with mung bean nuclease at room temperature followed by sonication (36% power) and centrifugation at 4°C. The supernatant was diluted 10 fold in CHIP dilution buffer (5% sodium deoxycholate, Triton X-100, 0.5 M EDTA, 1M Tris HCl pH8.0, 5M NaCl) supplemented with proteases and phosphatases inhibitor (PMSF, aprotinin, leupeptin, pepstatin, DTT, NaF, Na₃VO₄). Salmon sperm DNA/protein A/G 50% slurry was added to pre-clear the sample with rotation at 4°C. Sample was then centrifuged and the supernatant collected and incubated with immunoprecipitating 3ug Bmal1 or non-specific IgG overnight at 4°C. Salmon sperm DNA/ protein G-agarose slurry was added to collect Ab/Histone complex by rotation at 4^oC. The sample was centrifuged and the pellet was collected. A series of washes followed: 2 times wash with low salt (10% SDS.Triton-X100, 0.5M EDTA, 1M Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 5M Nacl), 2 times High salt (10% SDS, Triton-X100, 0.5M EDTA, 1M Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 5M Nacl), 2 times LiCl (5M LiCl, NP-40, Deoxychloric Acid, 0.5M EDTA, 1MTris-HCl pH 8.0) and 3 times 1X TE(1M Tris-HCl, 0.5 M EDTA). The immunocomplexes were eluted by adding elution buffer (1M Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 5M NaCl, 0.5M EDTA, 10% SDS) to the pelleted complex, then centrifuged following which the

supernatant was collected. 5M NaCl was added to the supernatant and histone crosslink reverse by heating at 65^oC. 0.5 M EDTA, 1M Tris-Cl pH 6.5 and 10mg/ml of proteinase K were added to the sample which was followed by incubation at 45^oC. DNA was extracted by 1 volume of phenol/chloroform and twice by half volume of straight chloroform. 1/10 Volume of 3M NaOac, 2 volumes of 100% ethanol and 1 ul of glycogen were added to the DNA extract which was stored at -80^oC. Then the product centrifuged at 4^oC. The pellet was washed with 75% ethanol and resuspended in TE.

1 µl of the sample used for PCR as followed:

Step1: 94° for 3:00

Step2: 94° for 0:30

Step3: 55° for 1:00

Step4: 72° for 0:30

Step5: Go to step2 for 40 times

Step6: 72° for 10:00

The product was run in 1.5% agarose gel

2.12. TIMP4 Promoter Cloning

A mouse Bacterial Artificial Chromosome (BAC) clone containing the mouse TIMP4 promoter was purchased from Lifetechnologies. A small portion of the glycerol stock was streaked on a LB plate containing 12.5µg/ml chloramphenicol and incubated at 37°C overnight. A single colony was isolated and incubated in 10ml of LB 12.5µg/ml chloramphenicol at 37°C overnight with shaking. The culture was in 1.5 ml tubes and centrifuged for 1 minute at 14000 rpm. The supernatant was discarded. The pellet was

resuspended in 200 µl of solution I (50 mM Tris pH 8.0 with HCl, 10 mM EDTA, 100µg/ml RNase A). Then 200 µl of solution II (200 mM NaOH, 1%SDS) was added and gently mixed, it was followed by adding 200 µl of solution III (3.0 M Potassium Acetate, pH 5.5). The sample was mixed by inverting the tube gently. A white precipitate had formed. The tube was then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 14,000rpm. The supernatant was transferred to a new tube without transferring any pellets. 900 µl of 100% ethanol was added to the supernatant and mixed well by inverting the tube, followed by centrifugation for 20 minutes at 14,000 rpm. The supernatant was removed and discarded. 100 µl of ice cold 75% ethanol was added to the pellet then centrifuged for 30 sec. The supernatant was completely removed from the pellet and dried for 20 minutes. The pellet was resuspended in 50 µl of distilled water. 1 µl of the sample was used for PCR to amplify the product as followed:

Step1: 94° for 3:00

Step2: 94° for 0:30

Step3: 55° for 1:00

Step4: 72° for 2:00

Step5: Go to step2 for 40 times

Step6: 72° for 10:00

1 μ I of the sample was used to verify the product in 1.5% agarose gel.

The PCR product was then ligated to a TA vector as follows: in a 0.5 µl PCR tube, 5 µl of 2x Rapid Ligation Buffer was mixed, 1µl of the vector, 1 µl of the PCR product and 1µl of T4 DNA ligase and nuclease free water was added to a final volume of 10µl. The

reaction was mixed by pipetting and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour at room temperature.

Tube containing E. coli competent cells was placed on ice until thawed. The cells were mixed by gently flicking the tube. 50 µl of cells was transferred in the tube containing the ligation reaction. The tube was then gently flicked and placed on ice for 20 minutes. The tube was placed in a water bath at 42°C for 50 seconds and placed on ice for 2 minutes. 900µl of SOC medium was added to the reaction and incubated for 1.5 hours at 37°C with shaking. 100 µl of the transformation culture was plated in a LB plate containing ampicillin/IPTG/X-Gal then incubated overnight at 37°C. A single colony was picked and incubated in 10ml of LB 12.5µg/ml chloramphenicol at 37°C overnight with shaking. The culture was in 1.5 ml tubes and centrifuged for 1 minute at 14000 rpm. The supernatant was discarded. The pellet was resuspended in 200 µl of solution I. Then 200 µl of solution II was added and gently mixed, followed by adding 200 µl of solution III. The sample was mixed by inverting the tube gently. A white precipitate had formed. The tube was then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 14,000rpm. The supernatant was transferred to a new tube without transferring any pellets. 900 µl of 100% Ethanol was added to the supernatant and mixed well by inverting the tube, followed by centrifugation for 20 minutes at 14,000 rpm. The supernatant was removed and discarded. 100 µl of ice cold 75% ethanol was added to the pellet then centrifuged for 30 sec. The supernatant was completely removed from the pellet and dried for 20 minutes. The pellet was resuspended in 50 µl of distilled water. One µl of the sample was used to verify the product by PCR as previously discribed. The sample was then digested with KPNI and XHOI and ran in a 1.5% agarose gel to verify the product.

The insert (product) was cut from the gel and placed in a 1.5 ml tube. 10µl of the membrane binding per 10µg of gel solution was added then vortexed and incubated at

65°C until the gel was completely dissolved. The dissolved gel mixture was transferred into SV Minicolumn inserted in a collection tube and incubated at room temperature for 1 minute. The mixture was then centrifuged at 16,000xg for 1 minute. The flow-through was discarded. 700µl of the membrane solution with ethanol was added and centrifuge at 16,000xg for 1 minute. Another 500µl of membrane solution was added and the column was centrifuged at 16,000xg for 5 minutes. The flow-through was discarded and the column was centrifuged for 1 minute with lid open. The minicolumn was transferred into a new 1.5 ml tube and 50 µl of nuclease-free water was added to the column and incubated at room temperature for 1 minute then centrifuged at 16,000xg for 1 minute. While running this experiment, the pGL3 vector was also digested using KPNI and XHOI. Then the DNA purified from the cut gel was ligated to the digested pGL3 vector at 37°C for 1 hour. The ligated product was then transfected into competent E.coli cells as described above.

A single colony was picked from a freshly streaked plate and inoculated in 5 ml LB medium containing chloramphenicol overnight at 37^oC with shaking. The culture was diluted 1/500 in LB medium and 200 µl of the diluted culture was inoculated with 100 ml of medium at 37^oC overnight with shaking. Culture was transferred into plastic centrifuge tube. The bacterial cells were harvested by centrifugation at 6000 x g for 15 min. at 4^oC. The bacteria were resuspended in 10 ml Buffer P1; 10 ml of buffer P2 was added, then mixed vigorously by inverting 6 times, then incubated at room temperature for 5 min. Chilled Buffer P3 was then added to the lysate, and mixed vigorously by inverting 6 times. The lysate was poured into the barrel of the QlAfilter cartridge then incubated at room temperature for 10 min. without inserting the plunger. The cap was then removed from the cartridge and the plunger inserted slowly and the cell lysate was filtered into a 50 ml tube. Then 2.5 ml of buffer ER was added to the filtered lysate and mixed by inverting the tube 10 times, then incubated on ice for 30 min. QlAGEN-tip 500 was

equilibrated by adding 10 ml Buffer QBT and allowed the column to empty by gravity flow. The filtered lysate was placed into the QIAGEN-tip and allowed to enter the resin by gravity flow. The QIAGEN-tip was washed 2 times with 30 ml Buffer QC. The DNA was eluted with 15 ml of Buffer QN, then precipitated by adding 10.5 ml of isopropanol. It was then mixed and centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 30 min at 4^oC. The supernatant was removed. The DNA pellet was washed with 5 ml of 70% ethanol and centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 10 min. The supernatant was removed without disturbing the pellet. The pellet was air-dried for 10 minutes and redissolved in 500 µl of Buffer TE. Then the DNA concentration was measured using the nanodrop and the Plasmid aliquoted and stored at -80° C.

2.13. TIMP4 Promoter Assay

The aorta of SMC Bmal1^{-/-} and their littermate control were used to isolate vascular smooth muscle cells. The cells were transfected with pGL3-TIMP4 luciferase vector and TRL-SV 40 Renillla vector with Lipofectamine-Plus reagent (Life technologies). Cells were first plated in twelve wells plate and incubated for 48 hours until the cells were about 70% confluent. The medium was then changed to OPTI-medium for 3 hours incubation at 37°C. The DNA was pre-complexed with the plus reagent mixed and incubated at room temperature for 15 min. In a second tube, Lipofectamine reagent was diluted into OPTI-medium; next, this was combined with the precomplexed DNA, mixed and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. The DNA-Plus –Lipofectamine Reagent was added to each well containing fresh medium. The complexes was was incubated overnight at 37°C. The medium was then removed and incubated for 24 hour at 37°C with DMEM. After transfection was completed, the medium was removed and passive lysis buffer (Promega CAT# E1941) was added to each well followed by shaking

at room temperature. The lysed cells were centrifuge at 4°C and the supernatant was kept for the reading of the luciferase and renilla.

2.14. TIMP4 ELISA

2.14.1 Sample Preparation

After isolating the aorta from mice, the tissue was snap-frozen with liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until protein extraction. To extract protein from aorta, the frozen tissue was homogenized using rotor homogenizer and RIPA buffer (25mM Tris HCl pH 7.6, 150mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 1% sodium deoxylatecholate, 0.1% SDS) containing proteases at 4°C. The samples were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 16000g at 4°C. The supernatant was aliquoted and the protein concentration was measured by BCA protein assay with Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit.

2.14.2. ELISA

The capture antibody was diluted to working concentration in PBS. A 96-well microplate was coated with 100 µl of the diluted capture antibody in each well. The plate was sealed and incubated overnight at room temperature. The next day, the capture antibody was aspirate from the wells and washed with wash buffer (0.05% Tween 20 in PBS, pH 7.2-7.4) 3 times. The plates was then blocked by adding 300 µl of block buffer (1% BSA in PBS, pH 7.2-7.4) and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour; this step was followed by washing the plate with wash buffer 3 times. 100 µl of the sample or standards in reagent diluent (50mM Tris, 10mM CaCl₂, 0.15M NaCl₂, 0.05 Brij 35, pH 7.45-7.55) per well was added on the plate. The plate was covered and incubated at room temperature for 2 hours. The standards were prepared by making a six point standard curve with 2 fold serial dilutions with a highest concentration being 10,000 pg/mL and the lowest concentration 313 pg/mL. The plate was washed 3 times with wash buffer after incubation. 100 µl of detection antibody diluted in reagent diluent was

added in each well. The plate was covered and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. The plate was then washed 3 times with was buffer. Then 100µl of the working dilution of streptavidin-HRP was added to each well. The plate was covered first adhesive strip then with aluminum foil to avoid light and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature. After 20 minutes, the plate was washed three times with wash buffer. 100µl of substrate solution was added to each well and left to incubate for 20 minutes at room temperature, the plate was again covered with aluminum foil to avoid light. 50 µl of stop solution was added to each plate and tapped gently for mixing. The optical density of each well was determined using a microplate reader. To correct imperfections in the plate, 540nm wavelength was subtracted from the readings at 450nm.

2.15. Statistical Analysis

All data were expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. Unpaired Student t-test was used for comparison between two groups. One-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keul's posthoc analysis was used for the comparison among multiple groups. Two-way ANOVA with repeated measures was used for comparison among multiple groups. Chi Square analysis was used for comparing AAA, TAA, and rupture incidence. A P value of <0.05 was considered significant. A P value of >0.05 was considered non-significant (NS).

2.16. Study approval.

All animal procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use

Committee of University of Kentucky.

Table 1: List of Primers

Gene	Primer	Sequence	Application
MR	Forw ard	5'-ATGGAAACCACACGGTGACCT-3'	Real Time PCR
	Reverse	5'-AGCCTCATCTCCACACACCAAG-3'	Real Time PCR
TIMP1	Forw ard	5'-CCAGAGCCGTCACTTTGCTT-3	Real Time PCR
	Reverse	5'-AGGAAAAGTAGACAGTGTTCAGGCTT-3'	Real Time PCR
TIMP2	Forw ard	5'-ACGCTTAGCATCACCCAGAAG-3	Real Time PCR
	Reverse	5'TTGGGACAGGGAGTGATCTTG-3'	Real Time PCR
TIMP3	Forw ard	5'ATCCCCAGGATGCCTTCTG-3'	Real Time PCR
	Reverse	5'-CCCTCCTTCACCAGCTTCTTT-3	Real Time PCR
TIMP4	Forw ard	5'-TGTGGCTGCCAAATCACCA-3'	Real Time PCR
	Reverse	5'-TCATGCAGACATAGTGCTGGG-3'	Real Time PCR
Bmal1	Forw ard	5'-CACTGTCCCAGGCATTCCA-3'	Real Time PCR
	Reverse	5'-TTCCTCCGCGATCATTCG-3'	Real Time PCR
Cry1	Forw ard	5'-TCGCCGGCTCTTCCAA-3'	Real Time PCR
	Reverse	5'-TCAAGACACTGAAGCAAAAATCG-3'	Real Time PCR
Per1	Forw ard	5'-TCGAAACCAGGACACCTTCTCT-3'	Real Time PCR
	Reverse	5'-GGGCACCCCGAAACACA-3'	Real Time PCR
Rev-erbα	Forw ard	5'-CCCTGGACTCCAATAACAACACA-3'	Real Time PCR
	Reverse	5'-GCCATTGGAGCTGTCACTGTAG-3'	Real Time PCR
TIMP4	Forw ard	5'-CCT ACT TGT TTT ACA CAT GGA ACC-3'	CHIP 1
	Reverse	5'-GTT TAC AGA CAG CAA AAT TTA CCC TT-3'	CHIP 1
TIMP4	Forw ard	5'-CAC CGC TAA GAA GAT TTT TGT TCT-3'	CHIP 2
	Reverse	5'-TGA ACT GGA CAG AGA TAG GCC T-3'	CHIP 2
TIMP4	Forw ard	5'-TAA GAA AGT AAA CGC TTT CCC AA-3'	CHIP 3
	Reverse	5'-ATC AGC TCA GCC TTG TCA CTT-3'	CHIP 3
TIMP4	Forw ard	5'-AAG CCA CAC TAG CAG GTG AAG-3'	CHIP 4
	Reverse	5'-CGA ACT CTT TTC TCC ATT AAG TAG GA-3'	CHIP 4
TIMP4	Forw ard	5'-TGA CAT CCT TCC CTA CCA CC-3'	CHIP 5
	Reverse	5'-CAA GAG CTA GTG AAG GGA AGC A-3'	CHIP 5
TIMP4	Forw ard	5'-TTT GGT CAA TTT GTC AAA ATA CAA TG-3'	Cloning TIMP4 Promoter
	Reverse	5'-GAC ACT GCA GAG CCC CAG-3'	Cloning TIMP4 Promoter

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

3.1. Deletion of Bmal1 in vascular smooth muscle cells protects from mineralocorticoid agonist plus salt induced aortic aneurysm

Liu et al. had previously demonstrated that administration of mineralocorticoid receptor agonists, deoxycorticosterone acetate (DOCA) or aldosterone, when combined with high salt, induces aortic aneurysms²²⁷. To determine the role of vascular smooth muscle Bmal1 in aortic aneurysm formation, we administered DOCA plus salt to 4-month old male SM-Bmal1^{-/-} and littermate control mice for 21 days. The increase in the external diameter of the abdominal and thoracic aorta by DOCA and salt administration was significantly suppressed in the SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice (Fig.2A). Eight out of 26 control mice had over a 50% dilation in abdominal aorta; however only one out of 25 SM-Bmal1^{-/-} had None of the SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice showed thoracic aorta dilation (Fig.2 A). The this. incidence of aortic aneurysms was significantly decreased from 30.7% in control mice to 4% in the SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice (P<0.01); the incidence of thoracic aortic aneurysms (TAA) was decreased from 11.5% in control mice to 0% in the SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice ; and rupture incidence went from 7.6% to 0% (Fig. 2B). Fig. 3 shows photographs of a normal aorta from the SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and a typical aneurysmal aorta from the control mice administered with DOCA and high salt.

Mineralocorticoid receptors agonists plus salt induced aortic aneurysm in mice showed that AAA formation and severity was aged dependent; therefore, we investigated whether deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle will still afford the same protection in older (8 months) mice. A dramatic protective effect by Bmal1 deletion was observed. Ultrasound quantification of the intraluminal diameter of the abdominal aorta illustrated that DOCA plus salt induced a time- dependent dilation in the control mice and that

dilation was significantly suppressed in the SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice. The increase in the intraluminal diameter (Fig. 4A; P<0.001) and external diameter (Fig. 4B; P<0.001) of aorta were much more pronounced in control mice than in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice. The aortic aneurysm incidence was drastically decreased from 68.7% in the control to 0% in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice (P<0.001), and TAAs were decreased from 31.2% in control mice to 0% in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice (P<0.05) (Fig. 4C). Moreover, no rupture occurred in the 16 SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice while 2 of 16 control mice died of rupture (Fig. 4C). Fig. 5 shows photographs of a normal aorta from the SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and a typical aneurysmal aorta from the control mice administered aldosterone and high salt.


Figure 2: Four month old SM-Bmal1-/- mice are protected from DOCA-salt induced aortic aneurysm.

(A) Quantification of abdominal and thoracic aortic outer diameter in control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice after 3 weeks of DOCA plus salt (B) Incidence of AAA,TAA and aortic rupture after DOCA plus salt administration (3 weeks). Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis was used for statistics in A. Chi Square was used for comparing AA incidence in B. *: P<0.05, **P<0.01, NS: No significance.



В

WT







Figure 3: Representative pictures of aortas

Representative pictures of aortas with connected hearts and kidneys from 4 month old (A) WT and (B) KO mice after 3 weeks of DOCA plus salt



Figure 4: Eight month old SM-Bmal1-/- mice are protected from DOCA- salt induced aortic aneurysm

(A) Quantification of inner abdominal aortic diameter by ultrasound in control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice prior to and after DOCA- salt (B) Quantification of abdominal and thoracic aortic outer diameter in control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice after 3 weeks of DOCA-salt (C) Incidence of TAA, AAA and aortic rupture after DOCA plus salt administration (3 weeks). Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis was used for statistics in A and B. Chi Square was used for comparing AA incidence in C. *: P<0.05, ***P<0.001, NS: No significance.





Α



Figure 5: Representative pictures of aortas

Representative pictures of aortas with connected hearts and kidneys from 8 month old (A) WT and (B) KO mice after 3 weeks of DOCA plus salt

3.2. Deletion of Bmal1 in vascular smooth muscle cells has no effect on plasma sodium, mineralocorticoid receptor mRNA, and blood pressure.

Since DOCA plus salt model of aortic aneurysm was shown to be dependent on high salt intake and to work through the mineralocorticoid receptor, we first investigated whether Bmal1 deletion in smooth muscle cell prevents plasma sodium increase in response to DOCA plus salt. We measured plasma sodium before and after DOCA plus salt administration in control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice. The plasma sodium concentration was similar in control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice after DOCA plus salt treatment (Fig 6). We also measured plasma potassium and found similar decrease in plasma potassium in both control (P<0.05) and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice (Fig.7; P<0.01). These results suggest that Bmal1 deletion from smooth muscle cells does not affect sodium retention or potassium excretion. Therefore, this is not a mechanism to account for the protection observed in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice. Second, we investigated the possibility that deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle cells may decrease mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) expression in the aorta since DOCA plus salt model of AAA is dependent on MR²²⁷. We therefore looked at both Bmal1 and MR mRNA expression in different regions of the aorta including the arch, descending, suprarenal, and infrarenal aorta in wild type mice ZT5, ZT11, ZT17 and ZT23 (Fig.8). There was no significant difference in Bmal1 and MR mRNA expression among the different regions. Even in the suprarenal aorta, where AAA occurs in mice, Bmal1 and MR mRNA was unchanged. Bmal1 and MR mRNA had a trend towards a time-dependent variation in their mRNA expression, and, in particular, there was an inverse temporal correlation between Bmal1 and MR mRNA expression, indicating that Bmal1 may negatively regulate MR expression. This hypothesis was investigated by looking at aortic MR mRNA expression in control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice before and after 7 days of DOCA and salt treatment at ZT17 (Fig.9). DOCA and salt suppressed MR mRNA expression in the aortic arch (P<0.05) and descending aorta of

61

control mice (P<0.001). A trend for downregulation of MR mRNA was found in suprarenal and infrarenal aorta. Deletion of smooth muscle Bmal1 had little effect on MR mRNA expression in the aorta before and after DOCA-salt treatment except for the descending aorta where deletion of smooth muscle Bmal1 significantly decreased MR mRNA expression (Fig.9; P<0.01).

As DOCA plus salt administration increases blood pressure and hypertensive patients have high prevalence of aortic aneurysms^{230, 231}, we examined blood pressure in control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice by the tail cuff method to investigate whether the protective effects of Bmal1 deletion were associated with inhibition of DOCA plus salt induced increases in blood pressure. First, 4-month-old SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice had lower blood pressure than control mice (Fig.10A; P<0.001), consistent with our previous telemetry results. Interestingly, there was no difference in basal blood pressure between 8-month-old SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and control mice (Fig 10B). Second, perhaps more important, both SM-Bmal1^{-/-} and control mice , regardless of their ages, increased their blood pressure to a similar extent in response to DOCA or Aldo plus salt, suggesting that deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle has little effect on DOCA or Aldo plus salt-induced hypertension.



Figure 6: Deletion of Bmal1 from smooth muscle cells does not affect plasma sodium level

Sodium content in plasma from control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice at basal and after 21 days of DOCA plus salt treatment. Two-way ANOVA was followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis**P<0.01,***P<0.001, NS: No Significance



Figure 7: Deletion of Bmal1 from smooth muscle cells does not affect plasma potassium level

Potassium content in plasma from control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice at basal and after 21 days of DOCA plus salt treatment. Two-way ANOVA was followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis*P<0.05,**P<0.01, NS: No Significance



Figure 8: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle has little effect on basal and DOCAsalt-induced MR expression in suprarenal aorta

Aortas were isolated at ZT5, 11, 17, and 23 from ten-week-old C57BL/6J mice (A through D) Aortas were then cut into arch, thoracic, suprarenal, and infernal aorta. Relative expressions of MR and Bmal1 mRNA were normalized to 36B4 mRNA expression. Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis was used for statistics in (A through D; N=4).



Figure 9: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle has little effect on basal and DOCAsalt-induced MR expression in suprarenal aorta

Aortas were isolated at ZT5 from ten-week-old SM-Bmal1^{-/-} and WT littermates administered with DOCA-salt for 7 days (A through D). Aortas were then cut into arch, thoracic, suprarenal, and infernal aorta. Relative expressions of MR mRNA were normalized to 36B4 mRNA expression. One-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' post-hoc analysis was used for statistics in (A through D; N=3 to 4). **P*<0.05; ***P*<0.01; ****P*<0.001. *NS*: not statistically significant.

66





Figure 10: Bmal1 deletion does not affect DOCA plus salt induced hypertension

(A) Systolic blood pressure from 4 months old control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice before and after 21days after DOCA plus Salt treatment (B) Systolic blood pressure from 8 months old control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice before and after 21 days of DOCA plus Salt treatment . Two-way ANOVA was used by Bonferroni's post-hoc correction.**P<0.01, ***P<0.001,NS: No significance

В

Α

3.3. Deletion of Bmal1 from smooth muscles cells prevents MMP activation triggered by DOCA plus salt administration and elastin degradation

One hallmark of aortic aneurysm is elastin degradation which leads to aortic dilation and subsequently to aortic rupture. We therefore investigated whether Bmal1 deletion eased DOCA plus salt induced Verhoeff's Van Gieson (EVG) elastin staining. DOCA-salt induced elastin degradation (Fig 11; P<0.001), and deletion of BMAL1 in smooth muscle effectively prevented mice from DOCA-salt induced elastin degradation (Fig 11).

Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMPs), in particular MMP2 and MMP9, have been demonstrated to play a major role in elastin degradation in aortic aneurvsms²³². Therefore, we investigated the effect of deletion of BMAL1 in smooth muscle on DOCA plus salt-induced MMP activation. We used in situ zymography to measure MMP activity in abdominal aortic cryosections from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} and control mice administered with DOCA and salt for 7 days (Fig.12). In the absence of DOCA and salt, little MMP activity was detected in aorta from both SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and controls. In the presence of DOCA and salt, however, a large MMP activity was readily detected in aorta from control mice, but not in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice (Fig.12), suggesting that deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle prevents mice from DOCA-salt-induced elastin degradation through inhibiting MMP. We also used in situ zymography to measure MMP activity in paraffin-embedded abdominal aortas from mice administered DOCA and salt for 21 days. A similar dramatic protective effect of deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle on DOCA-salt-induced MMP activation was also observed in paraffin-embedded aortas (Fig. 13). It should be pointed out that using in situ zymography to detect MMP activity in fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue has been well described²²⁹. However, the detected MMP activity in paraffinembedded aortic section was only found in aortic thrombosis area, which is different from what we reported in aortic cryosections where MMP could be readily detected in the media of smooth muscle layer²²⁷, probably reflecting that less MMP activity was

68

preserved in paraffin-embedded tissue²²⁹. Regardless of these differences, it is clear that both data indicate a critical role of smooth muscle BMAL1 in DOCA-salt-induced MMP activation.



Figure 11: Bmal1 deletion from smooth muscle cells prevents DOCA plus salt induced elastin degradation

(A) Elastin integrity in control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice after 21 days of DOCA plus salt administration. (B): Quantification of elastin breaks per surface area, Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis. ***P<0.001 .Scale bar: at lower magnification: 500µm, higher magnification 100µm



Figure 12: Bmal1 deletion from smooth muscle cells prevents DOCA plus salt induced gelatinases activation in the aorta

In situ zymography of cryosections of abdominal aorta from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates administered with DOCA-salt for 7 days. Scale bar: 100µm.



Figure 13: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle protects mice from DOCA-saltinduced MMP activation

In situ zymography (e through h and m through p) and phase contrast microscopy (a though d and I through I) of abdominal aortic cross-sections from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice (I through p) and WT littermates (a through h) with (c, d, g, h, k, I, o, and p) or without DOCA-salt administration (a, b, e, f, i, j, m, and n). Scale bar: at lower magnification: 500μ m, higher magnification: 100μ m.

3.4. Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle selectively increases TIMP4 expression in abdominal aorta

The protective effect of deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle may be attributable to inhibiting/downregulating MMP2/MMP9 and/or to activating/upregulating tissue TIMPs. To investigate which mechanism(s) is (are) operating in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice, we determined aortic MMP2 and MMP9 activities in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} and control administered DOCA and salt for 7 days by gel zymography, a simple but sensitive method to detecting MMP activity under a condition at which MMPs are dissociated from bound TIMPs²³³. Consistent with the results of in situ zymography, a significant or a trend towards increase in proMMP2, MMP2, proMMP9, and MMP9 activities was detected in control mice treated with DOCA-salt (Fig. 14A through E). Surprisingly, in sharp contrast to the result of in situ zymography, deletion of BMAL1 in smooth muscle had little effect on DOCA-salt-induced proMMP2, MMP2, proMMP9, and MMP9 activities. Moreover, a significant or a trend towards increase in basal proMMP2, MMP2, proMMP9, and MMP9 activities was found in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice relative to that in control mice (Fig. 14A through E). Since in gel zymography is to detect MMP activity under a condition that all MMPs, including proMMPs, are activated by SDS, the activity of MMPs detected by in gel zymography actually is proportional to the level of MMPs protein in samples regardless they are active or inactive²³⁴. In contrast, in situ zymography is only to detect active MMPs. Thus, these results suggest that the activity of MMPs, but not the level of MMPs, is suppressed by the deletion of BMAL1 in smooth muscle. We then investigated the possibility that the overall inhibition of MMP activity detected by in situ zymography is attributable to enhanced expression of tissue inhibitors of MMPs (TIMPs). TIMPs are specific inhibitors of MMPs that control the local activities of MMPs in tissues^{151, 235}. Four TIMPs (TIMP1, TIMP2, TIMP3, and TIMP4) have been identified and characterized so far in mammals, and all four TIMPs can inhibit active forms of all MMPs with distinct affinity and potency^{156, 236}. Five different approaches were taken to rigorously test whether and/or which TIMP(s) in aorta is affected by deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle and/or by DOCA or Aldo plus salt in vivo and ex vivo.

First, we determined mRNA expression of all four TIMPs in aorta in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} and control mice administered with DOCA and salt for 7 days. All four TIMP transcripts were found in mouse aorta but among the four TIMPs, Timp4 was the most abundant (Figure 15). The order of relative abundance for the four TIMPs in mouse aorta were TIMP4 > TIMP3 >TIMP2 >TIMP1. The basal level of TIMP4 was 508-, 427-, and 311-fold higher than TIMP1, TIMP2, and TIMP3 in control mouse aorta, respectively. Moreover, among four TIMPs, TIMP4 was selectively upregulated in mouse aorta from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice. There was a trend towards increased TIMP4 mRNA expression in the aorta from WT mice but it did not reach statistical significance. Interestingly, a significant increase in TIMP4 mRNA expression was found in aorta from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice after DOCA plus salt treatment. (Fig. 15; P<0.01). The level of TIMP4 was 1,014-, 2,035-, and 559-fold higher than the levels of TIMP1, TIMP2, and TIMP3 in aorta in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice after DOCA-salt administration, suggesting that TIMP4 may play a major role in inhibiting DOCA-salt-induced MMP activation. While little changes were found in TIMP1 and TIMP2 mRNA expression in response to deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle and/or DOCA-salt, a significant increase in TIMP3 mRNA was found in both SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates in response to DOCA-salt treatment. However, deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle downregulated TIMP3 mRNA expression before and after DOCA-salt administration, suggesting that TIMP3 unlikely accounts for the protective effect of deletion of BMAL1 in smooth muscle on DOCA-salt-induced AAA.

Second, we determined the mRNA expression of all four TIMPs in an aortic organ culture in the presence of Aldo (10 nM) and high salt (additional 10 mM NaCl) to

investigate whether DOCA and salt directly or indirectly act on the aorta. The mRNA expression pattern of TIMP1, TIMP2, TIMP3, and TIMP4 in response to Aldo and salt observed in ex vivo organ culture (Fig. 16) was similar to that found in vivo although the extent of increases in TIMP4 mRNA expression were somewhere different. These data not only verified that deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle selectively upregulated TIMP4 mRNA expression in aorta, but demonstrated that Aldo and salt was able to directly act on aorta ex vivo. Third, we determined TIMP4 mRNA expression in aorta from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates administered with DOCA-salt for 21 days (Fig.17). Again, TIMP4 was found to be significantly upregulated by deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle (P<0.01) and could be further elevated by DOCA-salt in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice (P<0.05), but not in WT littermates (P<0.001). (Fig.17). Interestingly, the level of TIMP4 increase induced by DOCA-salt was higher at 21 days than at 7 days (182% increase at 7 days vs. 85% increase at 7 days), indicating that DOCA-salt-induced TIMP4 upregulation in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice is time-dependent.

Fourth, we determined TIMP4 protein expression in aorta by ELISA in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates administered with DOCA-salt for 7 days to investigate whether TIMP4 mRNA upregulation leads to its protein upregulation. Quantitative data showed that deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle increased TIMP4 protein expression (Fig. 18; P<0.001). However, TIMP4 protein was not further increased in aorta by DOCA and salt, which is different from its mRNA upregulation.

Finally, we determined TIMP4 protein expression by immunohistochemistry in aorta from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates administered with DOCA and salt for 21 days to investigate the localization of TIMP4 in abdominal aorta. TIMP4 protein was dramatically upregulated in the media smooth muscle layer of the aorta in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice before and after DOCA-salt administration (Fig. 19). There was no obvious increase in TIMP4

immunostaining in aorta from WT mice after DOCA-salt treatment, which agrees with quantitative data by real-time PCR and ELISA.

Taken together, these data indicate that selective upregulation of TIMP4 by deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle may be responsible for its protective effect on DOCA or Aldo plus salt-induced MMP activation, elastin degradation, and AAA formation.



Figure 14: Lack of suppression on the MMP2/9 activities by Bmal1 deletion from smooth muscle cells

(A); Representative gel zymography from the medium in which aortas from control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} were incubated after 7 days of DOCA plus salt (B): Pro-MMP2 quantification from gel zymography(n=4) (C): Active MMP2 quantification from gel zymography (n=4) (D): Pro-MMP9 quantification from gel zymography (n=4) (E): Active MMP9 quantification from gel zymography . Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis **P<0.01, NS: No Significance



Figure 15: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle selectively upregulates TIMP4 mRNA expression in aorta

mRNA expressions of TIMP1,TIMP2, TIMP3, and TIMP4 in aortas from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates at basal condition and after administered with DOCA-salt for 7 days. One-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' post-hoc analysis was used for statistics (N=4-6) *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001. *NS*: not statistically significant.



Figure 16: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle selectively upregulates TIMP4 mRNA expression in aorta.

mRNA expressions of TIMP1, TIMP2, TIMP3, and TIMP4 in aortic organ culture (N=3-4). Aortas were isolated from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates and then incubated with Aldo (10 nM) and high salt (10 mM increase) medium for 24 h. One-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' post-hoc analysis was used for statistics (N=4) **P*<0.05, ***P*<0.01, *NS*, not statistically significant



Figure 17: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle upregulates TIMP4 mRNA expression in aorta

TIMP4 mRNA expression in aortas from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates before and after DOCA-salt for 21 days One-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' post-hoc analysis was used for statistics (N=4) *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001



Figure 18: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle upregulates TIMP4 protein expression in aorta

TIMP4 protein expression was determined by ELISA in aortas from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates before and after DOCA-salt for 7 days. One-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' post-hoc analysis was used for statistics (N=4) ***P<0.001. *NS*: not statistically significant



Figure 19: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle upregulates TIMP4 protein expression in aorta

Representative immunostaining of TIMP4 in paraffin-embedded suprarenal aortic crosssections in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates before and after DOCA-salt for 21 days. Scale bar: at lower magnification (a, c, e, and g): 500 μ m, higher magnification (b, d, f, and h): 100 μ m.

3.5. Bmal1 is upregulated in aorta by DOCA and salt.

It is clear that smooth muscle Bmal1 is critically involved in DOCA plus salt-induced MMP activation, elastin degradation, and AAA formation, which probably involves TIMP4. However it is unclear how smooth muscle Bmal1 is regulated by DOCA plus salt. To address this important mechanistic issue, we first investigated whether smooth muscle Bmal1 mRNA responds to DOCA-salt. An over 6-fold increase in Bmal1 mRNA expression was found in the aorta from mice administered with DOCA-salt for 7 days compared to that in control aorta (Figure 20; P<0.001), suggesting that DOCA-salt-induced Bmal1 mRNA upregulation precedes and accounts for its protein upregulation.

To investigate the mechanism by which Bmal1 is upregulated by DOCA-salt, we determined Per1, Cry1, and Rev-erbA mRNA expression in aorta of mice administered with DOCA and salt for 7 days as Bmal1 is negatively regulated by Per1, Cry1, and Rev-erbα under physiological conditions²²². We found that DOCA-salt administration had little effect on Per1 mRNA (Fig.21), significantly increased Cry1 transcripts (Fig. 22; P<0.01), but downregulated Rev-erbα transcript (Fig. 23; P<0.001), suggesting that DOCA-salt upregulates Bmal1 through suppressing Rev-erbα in aortic smooth muscle.



Figure 20: Bmal1 is upregulated after DOCA plus salt treatment

Bmal1 mRNA expression in aortas from control mice before and after DOCA plus salt for 7 days (N= 5-6). Student's *t* test was used for statistics. ***P<0.001



Figure 21: Per1 is not affected by DOCA plus salt treatment.

Per1 mRNA expression in aortas from control mice before and after DOCA plus salt for 7 days (N=5-6). Student's t test was used for statistics. NS: not significantly different



Figure 22: Cry1 mRNA increases with DOCA plus salt treatment

Cry1 mRNA expression in aortas from control mice before and after DOCA plus salt for 7 days (N=5-6). P<0.01 Student's t test was used for statistics.



Figure 23: DOCA plus salt treatment negatively affect Rev-erb α mRNA expression

Rev-erb α mRNA expression in aortas from control mice before and after DOCA plus salt for 7 days (N=5-6). Student's *t* test was used for statistics. P<0.001

3.6. Identification of TIMP4 as a new target of Bmal1 in aorta.

To identify the molecular mechanism by which deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle upregulates TIMP4 mRNA and protein, we tested the possibility that Bmal1 may directly bind to TIMP4 gene promoter and suppressed its transcription.

First, to determine whether Bmal1, as a transcriptional factor, directly binds TIMP4 promoter, we analyzed the mouse TIMP4 promoter DNA sequence and identified several canonical E-boxes (CANNTG, where N can be any nucleotide) that Bmal1 can potentially bind to (Fig. 24). To determine whether Bmal1 binds to these putative E-boxes, we performed chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays in aortas from WT mice. The results showed that Bmal1 bound to the TIMP4 promoter at E-box 2 through E-box 7 except for E-box 5 (Fig. 25).

Second, to investigate whether the binding of Bmal1 to the TIMP4 promoter regulates its activity, we cloned a 2-kb mouse TIMP4 promoter, inserted it into a luciferase reporter vector (pGI3-TIMP4p-luc), and transfected the pGI3-TIMP4P-luc vector into aortic vascular smooth muscle cells isolated from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} and WT littermate mice. In WT cells, the TIMP4 promoter exhibited a 6-fold increase in luciferase activity over the pGL3 luciferase vector (Fig. 26 A). In contrast, when transfected into in Bmal1-deficient cells, the TIMP4 promoter activity was further increased by 9-fold over that in WT cells (Fig.26B), suggesting that TIMP4 transcription is suppressed by Bmal1 in WT cells. The effective deletion of Bmal1 was verified by quantification of its mRNA (Fig. 27).

Third, to investigate whether the observed Bmal1-mediated TIMP4 transcriptional suppression translates to its mRNA suppression, we determined TIMP4 mRNA expression in WT and Bmal1-deficient cells and found that TIMP4 mRNA exhibited a 27-fold increase over that in WT cells (Fig. 28;P<0.05), suggesting that Bmal1 suppresses

87

TIMP4 promoter activity and mRNA expression in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells.

Fourth, to investigate whether Rev-erbA, a negative regulator of Bmal1²²², is involved in upregulation of TIMP4 by deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle in response to DOCA-salt, we determined Rev-erbα mRNA expressions in aorta from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates administered with DOCA-salt for 7 days. Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle or administration of mice with DOCA-salt alone had similar potency in suppressing Rev-erbα transcript (Fig.29; P<0.001), but combination of both of them further suppressed Rev-erbα transcript (Fig.29; P<0.05), suggesting that their inhibitory mechanisms are different. These results also suggest a possibility that Rev-erbα suppresses TIMP4 under physiological conditions and downregulation of Rev-erbα by deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle or administration of mice with DOCA-salt abolishes this suppression and results in TIMP4 upregulation. To test whether Rev-erbα binds to the TIMP4 promoter to suppress its transcription, we searched Rev-erbα response elements (AGGTCA) in the 2-kb mouse TIMP4 promoter but we were unable to find one (Z. Guo and M. Gong, unpublished observation), suggesting that it is unlikely that Rev-erbα directly binds to the TIMP4 promoter to suppress its transcription.

Finally, we were intrigued by the fact that Bmal1, generally thought of as a transcriptional activator, suppress TIMP4 transcription. To address this important issue, we determined Cry1 mRNA expression in aorta from in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates administered with DOCA and salt for 7 days as it has been shown Cry1 can interact with Bmal1 to switch Bmal1 from a transcriptional activator to a transcriptional repressor²³⁷. If this is involved in Bmal1 to regulation of TIMP4, the Cry1 transcript should be upregulated. The results supported this possibility (Fig.30).

88



Figure 24: TIMP4 Promoter contains E-boxes

Schematic diagram of 2-kb mouse TIMP4 promoter showing 7 E-boxes and ChIP-PCR primers. E1-E7: E-box1-7; F (forward)/R (reverse) primers.



Figure 25: Bmal1 binds to TIMP4 promoter

Representative aortic tissue ChIP PCR showing that Bmal1 binds to TIMP4 promoter at E-box 2, 3, 4, 6, and 7, but not E-box 5.



Figure 26: Deletion of Bmal1 increases TIMP4 promoter activity in smooth muscle cells

(A) TIMP4 promoter activity relative to pGL3-basic vector in WT aortic VSMC. (B) TIMP4 promoter activity in aortic VSMC from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates. Student's *t* test was used for statistics in A and B. **P<0.01,***P<0.001



Figure 27: Bmal1 is deleted in Bmal1 KO VSMC

Bmal1 mRNA expression in aortic VSMC from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates. (N=3) Student's *t* test was used for statistics **P<0.01


Figure 28: TIMP4 expression is increased in aortic VSMC

TIMP4 mRNA expression in aortic VSMC from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates (N=3). Student's *t* test was used for statistics *P<0.05



Figure 29: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle downregulates Reverb α mRNA expression in aorta

Rev-erb α mRNA expression in aorta from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates before and after DOCA-salt for 7 days. One-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' post-hoc analysis was used for statistics (N=5-6), *P<0.05,****P*<0.001.



Figure 30: Deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle upregulates Cry1 mRNA expression in aorta

Cry1 mRNA expression in aorta from SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and WT littermates before and after DOCA-salt for 7 days One-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' post-hoc analysis was used for statistics (N=5-6), *P<0.05, **P<0.01, *NS*: not statistically significant

3.7. Deletion Bmal1 in vascular smooth muscle cells protects from Angiotensin II plus salt-induced aortic aneurysm

We have seen that deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle showed a dramatic protection from DOCA plus salt induced aortic aneurysm. Moreover, such protective effect was associated with prevention of the massive MMP activation and up-regulation of TIMP4. These results suggest that the up-regulated TIMP4 may inhibit the overall MMP activity to provide the protection. Since the activation of MMP is believed to be responsible for the final degradation of ECM and aortic dilation, a key event can be triggered by divergent up-stream insults. Therefore, we determined whether Bmal1 deletion could provide a broad protection from aortic aneurysm triggered by divergent insults.

To test this possibility, we used a modified model of ANGII induced aortic aneurysm. We administered ANGII for 28 days followed by salt for 14 days in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} and littermate controls. Ultrasound quantification of the intraluminal diameter of the abdominal aorta showed a modest time-dependent dilation after ANGII alone in control mice, this dilation further increased with the presence of high salt. As expected, the abdominal aortic dilation was suppressed in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} (Fig.31 A; P<0.01). The maximal external diameter was more pronounced in control mice than SM-Bmal1^{-/-} (Fig. 31 B). The incidence of aortic aneurysm was significantly decrease from 56.2% in control vs 0% in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} (P<0.01), and TAAs were decreased from 31.2% in control vs 0% in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} (P<0.05). No rupture occurred in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} out of 11 mice while 2 rupture occurred within the control group out of 16 mice (Fig. 31 C). Fig. 32 shows photographs of a normal aorta from the SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice and a typical aneurysmal aorta from the control mice with ANGII and high salt.

We had also examined blood pressure increase in those mice which showed that ANGII alone increases blood pressure in both SM-Bmal1^{-/-}and control mice (Fig. 33; P<0.001).

However, after ANGII blood pressure increased but remained lower in SM-Bmal1^{-/-} than control mice (P<0.01).



Figure 31: Eight month old SM-Bmal1-/- mice are protected from Angiotensin II followed by salt induced aortic aneurysm

(A) Quantification of inner abdominal aortic diameter by ultrasound in control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice prior to and after ANGII- salt (B) Quantification of abdominal and thoracic aortic outer diameter in control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice after 4 weeks of ANGII followed by 2 weeks salt (C) Incidence of TAA, AAA and aortic rupture after 4 weeks of ANGII followed by 2 weeks salt administration (6 weeks). Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis was used for statistics in A and B. Chi Square was used for comparing AA incidence in D. *: P<0.05, **P<0.01, NS: No significance.



Α

В





Figure 32: Representative pictures of aortas from 8 month old mice after ANGII

Representative pictures of aortas with connected hearts from 8 month old (A) WT and (B) KO mice after 4 weeks of ANGII followed by 2 weeks of salt



Figure 33: Bmal1 deletion does not affect Angiotensin II induced hypertension

Systolic blood pressure from 8 months old control and SM-Bmal1^{-/-} mice before and after 28 days after ANGII treatment.Two-way ANOVA was used by Bonferroni's post-hoc correction **P<0.01, ***P<0.001.

3.8 SM Bmal1 heterozygous mice are not protected from DOCA plus Salt induced Aortic Aneurysm

We wanted to determine whether both copy of Bmal1 in smooth muscle cells are required for the protection that we have observed in DOCA plus salt induced model of aortic aneurysm and ANGII plus salt induced model of aortic aneurysm. To answer this question, we used 8 month old SM-Bmal1^{+/-} and littermate control mice and administered DOCA plus salt for 21 days. We found that the control mice had a time dependent increase in maximal intraluminal diameter, and the SM-Bmal1^{+/-} mice had a modest but significant decrease (Fig. 34 A; P<0.05). The incidence of abdominal aortic aneurysm formation went from 50% in control mice to 35.7% in SM-Bmal1^{+/-} mice and in TAAs from 41.6% to 35.7%. One rupture occurred in the SM-Bmal1^{+/-} out of 14 and 2 occurred in control mice (Fig. 34 B). Although, there is a decrease in maximal intraluminal diameter of the abdominal aorta and a decrease in aortic aneurysm incidence, overall the decrease in incidence did not reach significance. This suggests that to see a complete protection from aortic aneurysm, both copies of Bmal1 have to be deleted in smooth muscle cells. Fig. 35 shows photographs of aortas from the SM-Bmal1^{+/-} and the control mice administered with DOCA and high salt. We had also measured blood pressure which shows no change between SM-Bmal1^{+/-} and the control mice before and after DOCA plus salt (Fig.36).



Figure 34: Eight month old SM-Bmal1+/- mice are not protected from DOCA- salt induced aortic aneurysm

(A) Quantification of inner abdominal aortic diameter by ultrasound in control and SM-Bmal1^{+/-} mice prior to and after DOCA- salt (B) Incidence of TAA, AAA and aortic rupture after DOCA plus salt administration (3 weeks). Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis was used for statistics in A. Chi Square was used for comparing AA incidence in B. *: P<0.05, NS: No significance. В





SM Bmal1^{+/-}



Figure 35: Representative pictures of aortas

Representative pictures of aortas with connected hearts and kidneys from 8 month old (A) WT and (B) SM-Bmal1^{+/-} mice after 3 weeks of DOCA plus salt



Figure 36: One Copy of Bmal1 does not affect mineralocorticoid receptor agonists induced hypertension

Systolic blood pressure from 8 months old control and SM-Bmal1^{+/-} mice before and after 21days after DOCA plus Salt treatment. Two-way ANOVA was used by Bonferroni's post-hoc correction NS: No significance.

CHAPTER 4

Discussion

4.1. Overview of the study

AAA is a complex multifactorial disease of unknown etiology. AAA is characterized by different features including MMP activation, elastin degradation, inflammation, oxidative stress and smooth muscle cell atrophy. Smooth muscle cells have been considered the epicenter of AAA formation since they modulate early and late events that lead to aortic rupture²³⁸. Since AAA is so complex and the causative effects are unknown, a direct therapeutic target has proven challenging to develop. Therefore, there is an urgent need to better understand the disease and find a therapeutic target. Disruption of the Bmal1 gene is associated with vascular diseases as well as metabolic diseases. However, the actual role that Bmal1 plays in vascular smooth muscles cells has not been established. We hypothesized that Bmal1 plays a critical role in AAA formation. We deleted Bmal1 in vascular smooth muscle cells and found that this protects from AAA formation. The protection is independent of blood pressure increase. Therefore, we tested other molecular mechanisms and found that Bmal1 deletion increases TIMP4 expression in the vasculature which in turn inhibits MMP2 and MMP9 activities. This inhibition prevents elastin degradation and aortic dilation, protecting against AAA formation. Thus, this study identifies Bmal1 as new key player in the pathogenesis of AAA.

4.2. Bmal1 is ubiquitously expressed and has a specific function in the vasculature

The embryonic global Bmal1 knockout, or conventional, Bmal1 knockout mice have a shorter lifespan and display signs of early aging and age-related pathologies²³⁹. They also have impaired glucose tolerance, reduced insulin secretion, and are susceptible to diabetes. They have abnormal bone calcification, eye pathologies and

neurodegeneration²⁴⁰⁻²⁴². Finally, they display phenotype such as infertility and increased sensitivity to chemotherapy^{243, 244}. Mechanistically, these phenotypes may be caused by an increase in oxidative stress and MMP activities.

Since Bmal1 is expressed in different parts of the brain and in peripheral tissues including smooth muscle cells. Researchers have recently been investigating the role that Bmal1 plays in vascular diseases. Anea et al. have shown that when the carotid arteries of Bmal1 Knockout mice were ligated, Bmal1 knockout mice had higher remodeling than control mice²¹¹. Other studies have demonstrated that deletion of Bmal1 in mice causes increased vascular superoxide and endothelial NO synthase uncoupling²²⁰. However, these studies involved the germline global deletion of Bmal1, making it challenging to determine whether these pathologies resulted from Bmal1 function in the vasculature or a systemic disruption from multiple systems. One effective approach to distinguish the tissue specific role of Bmal1 vs. the systemic function of Bmal1 would be tissue specific deletion of Bmal1.

In order to investigate the role that Bmal1 might play in specific tissues, investigators have generated tissue specific Bmal1 knockout mice. Thus far, there have been no reports of early aging and shorter lifespan in these tissue specific knockouts. However, there have been multiple reports that suggest Bmal1 regulates metabolism. Deletion of Bmal1 in skeletal muscle does not lead to loss of locomotor activities as seen in the conventional Bmal1 knockout mice. Relative to WT mice, the skeletal muscle specific Bmal1knockout mice have a normal lifespan, a slight increase in bodyweight, altered muscle glucose metabolism, and muscle insulin resistance²⁴⁵. Mice lacking Bmal1 in the liver have normal local insulin sensitivity , normal total body fat content, and hypoglycemia²⁴⁶. Mice with Bmal1 deletion in the pancreas have normal bodyweight,

of Bmal1 in adipose tissue have normal local insulin sensitivity but develop obesity²⁴⁸. Mice lacking Bmal1 in the heart have a cardiomyopathy and have early mortality²⁴⁹. When smooth muscle cell specific Bmal1 knockout mice were used to determine the role of Bmal1 in blood pressure regulation, Bmal1 in smooth muscle cells was shown to be required for normal amplitude and time-of-day variations of vascular smooth muscle contraction and normal blood pressure circadian rhythms²²¹. Thus, these studies suggest that the use of tissue specific Bmal1 abrogates systemic effects of Bmal1 deletion from a prenatal stage. Therefore, in order to determine the role of vascular Bmal1 in AAA pathogenesis, we selected to use smooth muscle specific Bmal1 knockout mice.

4.3. Smooth muscle cells initiate events leading to AAA formation and rupture

In order to avoid the systemic effects of the global Bmal1 knockout mice, we used smooth muscle cell specific Bmal1 knockout mice. Smooth muscle cells are the major cell type in the aorta²⁵⁰, and they modulate early events of AAA formation²³⁸. Ailawadi *et al.* had demonstrated that SM22 alpha and smooth muscle alpha actin, which are smooth muscle cell markers, are decreased in the formation of AAA using the elastase model. They had also observed an increase in MMP2 and MMP9 in smooth muscle²³⁸. Smooth muscle is a source of elastolytic activities, which are thought to be the initial event in AAA formation. Isolated smooth muscle cells from AAA synthesize higher levels of MMP2 and MMP9 than non-aneurysmal tissues^{132, 251-253}. Furthermore, they also secrete inhibitors of MMPs. Secretion of TIMP1 from smooth muscle cells has been well described²⁴. This increase in metalloproteases by smooth muscle cells and the subsequent degradation of the elastin are part of the initial event of AAA formation. This is followed by an infiltration of inflammatory cells in the vasculature. Lee *et al.* have reported an increase in other metalloproteinases such as MMP1 and MMP3 after smooth muscle cell interaction with monocytes²⁵⁴. This increase has been attributed to

an IL-1 dependent mechanism²⁵⁴. Increase in inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 and IL-6 further intensifies the expression of MMPs and their inhibitors²⁵⁵. Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) in smooth muscle cells also play an important role in the AAA formation. ROS also lead to smooth muscle cell apoptosis. Li *et al.* had demonstrated that H_2O_2 is the major species that leads to a depletion of smooth muscle cell population in the aorta²⁵⁶. The depletion of smooth muscle cell leads to the expansion and rupture of the aorta. Together, these observations suggest that smooth muscle cells are key players in AAA formation and rupture. Using smooth muscle specific Bmal1 knockout, we demonstrated that deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle cells abolishes AAA formation and subsequently we have identified smooth muscle Bmal1 as a new player in the formation of AAA.

4.4. Gelatinases MMP2 and MMP9, and TIMP4 play a role in AAA formation

To gain insight into the protective mechanism from deletion of Bmal1, we focused on MMPs. The degradation of the elastin layer due to an imbalance between MMPs and their endogenous inhibitors is one of the hallmarks of AAA²⁵⁷. Our data showed that smooth muscle specific Bmal1 knockout mice are protected from DOCA plus salt induced elastin degradation. Two well characterized elastin degrading enzymes in AAA formation are MMP2 and MMP9²⁵⁸. Both MMPs are first secreted as inactive proenzymes and are then activated by other MMPs²⁵⁹. MMP2 is predominantly produced locally by smooth muscle cells and adventitial fibroblasts, and to a lesser extent from macrophages, while MMP9 is primarily produced by macrophages²⁶⁰. Longo *et al.* investigated the importance of MMP2 and 9 in aortic aneurysm formation using MMP2 Knockout mice and MMP9 knockout mice, and concluded that both MMP2 and MMP9 were necessary for aortic aneurysm formation⁵⁹, since inhibition of either MMP2 or MMP9 or both resulted from complete protection from AAA formation. In accordance

with these results, our data demonstrated that MMP2 and MMP9 activities are inhibited in the aorta of smooth muscle cells Bmal1 knockout mice after DOCA plus salt administration. This suggests that MMP inhibition is part of the mechanism by which smooth muscle Bmal1 knockout mice are protected from developing AAA. These results support numerous studies implicating MMP2 and MMP9 as major players in the formation of AAA and rupture.

Under normal physiological conditions, the activities of MMPs are tightly regulated by TIMPs. An imbalance between MMPs and TIMPs favoring MMP activation leads to an increase in vascular remodeling, vascular diseases such as atherosclerosis²⁶¹, and AAA formation. This indicates that TIMPs play an important role in aortic aneurysm formation. Among the four TIMPs that have been identified, TIMPs 1, 2, and 3 play an important role in AAA formation. Three polymorphisms in TIMP1 have identified; two of these have been associated with AAA in patients¹⁷³. Mice lacking TIMP1 develop larger aneurysms after elastase infusion than control mice⁶⁶, and local overexpression of TIMP1 inhibits elastin degradation, aortic aneurysm formation and rupture in rats. On the other hand, deletion of TIMP2 attenuated aortic aneurysm formation in mice⁶¹ while an overexpression in TIMP2 inhibited aortic aneurysm formation in rats¹⁷⁴. Whereas the role of TIMP1 is clearly understood as inhibitory for MMPs, the role of TIMP2 remains ambiguous, probably due to the double influence of TIMP2 on MMP2: an increase in TIMP2 activates proMMP2 and an overexpression of TIMP2 inhibits MMP2 activation¹⁷⁶. Global deletion of TIMP3 in mice causes an increase in aortic aneurysm formation¹⁷⁶.

Our data by in situ zymography clearly showed that MMP activities were inhibited in SMC-Bmal1^{-/-} mice. We had also seen that TIMP4 was the only TIMP upregulated and TIMP4 is a strong inhibitor of gelatinases ¹⁷⁹. Thus, TIMP4 likely inhibited MMP2/9 activity in vivo. Future studies with TIMP4 knockout mice will be necessary to definitively

conclude this. The role of TIMP4 in aortic aneurysm formation has not previously been reported. This study implicates TIMP4 in the protective mechanism of Bmal1deletion in smooth muscle cells against AA formation on the basis of the following observations. In the absence of Bmal1, TIMP4 mRNA and protein increases significantly. TIMP4 is the most abundant among all the TIMPs in the aorta. In response to DOCA or Aldo plus salt, TIMP1, 2, and 4 mRNA do not respond (i.e., increase) to the treatment. DOCA plus salt increases TIMP3 mRNA in vivo. These results are similar with data found in dilated aorta from patients with aortic aneurysm, where the TIMP3 mRNA was the only TIMPs upregulated among the four TIMPs²⁶², which suggests a compensatory mechanism. TIMP4 is a new target for Bmal1 in the aorta through binding several E-boxes. Within the promoter, TIMP4 does not contain a TATA box, but contains an initiator sequence and relatively few identifiable transcription–factor-binding consensus motifs^{263, 264} and we have identified several E-boxes within the promoter. Promoter assays have shown increased TIMP4 promoter activity in the absence of Bmal1 in smooth muscle cells, while the presence of Bmal1 attenuated the promoter activity.

4.5. Hypertension is not a risk factor for AAA formation and does not account for the protection in SMC-Bmal1 Knockout mice

Decreasing blood pressure is unlikely a mechanism underlying the protective effect from aortic aneurysm in SMC-Bmal1^{-/-} mice. Hypertension was widely described as a risk factor for AAA formation. However, recent evidence argues this concept. Using the ANGII model to induce aortic aneurysm, Manning *et. al* had demonstrated that doxycycline, a broad spectrum inhibitor of MMPs, had significantly reduced AAA formation in LDL receptor knockout mice. However, doxycycline had no effect on ANGII induced hypertension⁷⁴. Although vitamin E⁷⁵ and 17β estradiol⁷⁰ had attenuated AAA formation in APOE knockout mice using ANGII, no difference was observed in systolic

blood pressure with vs. without treatment. DOCA plus salt, a model that has widely been used to induce hypertension, has recently been described as a model that also induced AAA²²⁷. In this model, losartan and enalapril decreased the systolic blood pressure after DOCA plus salt treatment, but did not alter the rate of aortic aneurysm formation²²⁷. More studies using genetically deleted genes have supported the evidence that hypertension is not a risk factor for AAA formation. A genetic deletion of uPA²⁶⁵, osteopontin²⁶⁶ and BLT²⁶⁷ in ApoE knockout mice had decrease AAA formation after ANGII infusion, but had no effect on systolic blood pressure.²⁶⁸ Further investigation in castrated ApoE male mice showed a decrease in AAA formation and no change in systolic blood pressure²⁶⁹. The Tsukuba hypertensive mice, which develop AAA after high salt intake, did not differ in systolic blood pressure after high salt intake when compare to the control⁵⁷. Thus in a variety of different experimental settings AAA formation occurs independently of increased blood pressure.

Nevertheless, we determined whether SMC-Bmal1 KO mice had altered blood pressure. Our data showed that the protection we observe in smooth muscle knockout mice is independent of blood pressure increase. Although the knockout mice have a lower basal systolic blood pressure, the blood pressure in response to DOCA plus salt increases in both control and the knockout mice with the same amplitude. Therefore, AAA formation is independent of blood pressure increase and the protection seen in smooth muscle Bmal1 Knockout mice is independent of blood pressure. Indeed, other investigators have demonstrated that lower blood pressure after DOCA plus salt treatment does not protect from AAA formation²²⁷.

4.6. Abdominal aortic aneurysm formation is not a circadian related disease

Our data identified TIMP4, a gene not related to clock genes, as a new target for Bmal1. As a transcription activator, Bmal1 not only regulates the expression of clock genes, but

also regulates the expression of many other genes. Many of the Bmal1 targeted genes are related to metabolism. Through a genome-wide profiling, Hatanaka et al. have found that Bmal1 regulated 10 to 15% of all transcripts including clock genes in different tissues²⁷⁰. Therefore, disruption of Bmal1 may result in disruption of regulated genes, leading to different disorders circadian or non-circadian related. Bmal1 has been associated with hypertension²⁷¹. Diseases such as hypertension or stroke are considered to be circadian related diseases, because they disturb a 24 hour pattern and they also have circadian pattern of symptoms. In AAA, the rupture has diurnal variations. Most patients with ruptured AAA are admitted in early morning with a peak between 8:00 am and 10:00 am, the lowest admittance of patients have been between 2:00 pm and 4:00 pm²⁷². This pattern had mirrored the circadian rhythm of systolic blood pressure²⁷³. Here, we see that disruption of Bmal1 in the vasculature leads to protective effects from AAA formation. Since Bmal1 is a core clock gene and regulate other clock genes, diseases associated with Bmal1 could be interpreted as circadian or clock related disease. Although, the rupture of AAA is circadian in pattern, AAA formation will not be considered circadian. In AAA formation, the integrity and structure of the aortic wall is destroyed and is independent of the variation of time. Therefore, AAA formation would not be considered as a circadian related disease.

4.7. Limitations of the study and future directions

By using smooth muscle cell specific Bmal1 knockout mice, we have avoided the systemic effect of the prenatal global deletion of Bmal1 in mice. However, the effect of deleting Bmal1 at the embryonic stage in smooth muscle still remains. Yang et al. have developed an inducible global Bmal1 knockout mouse to overcome the effect of deletion of Bmal1 at the embryonic stage. Although, these mice had a complete loss of rhythmicity in all tissues, they displayed phenotypes that were different from the

conventional Bmal1 knockout mice. These mice had a normal lifespan, normal blood glucose and, though they display some sign of early aging such as ocular abnormalities, they retain fertility, normal body weight, and normal organ size²⁷⁴. These mice had additional phenotypes that were opposite to the conventional Bmal1 knockout mice in hair growth and atherogenesis. The inducible Bmal1 knockout mice had increased growing follicles across all ages and a consistent expression of Ccnd1 and Mik67 genes, hair growth promoting genes, in the skin²⁷⁴. The difference in phenotypes between the inducible Bmal1 mice and the conventional Bmal1 mice as was suggested by Yang et al. may be attributed to an important role that Bmal1might play during the embryonic stage. Therefore, deletion of Bmal1 during that stage might be the contributing factor to early aging and subsequent phenotypes. Hence, a future goal would be the use of an inducible smooth muscle cell specific Bmal1 to investigate AAA formation.

Our data suggest that the absence of Bmal1 in the vasculature is beneficial since Bmal1 protects from AAA and decreases blood pressure. However, targeting smooth muscle cells Bmal1 for therapeutic treatment would be damaging because blood pressure loses its rhythmicity in such animals²²¹. Therefore, the best target may be TIMP4, which our data demonstrated to be downstream of Bmal1 and may contribute to protection from AAA. However, the present study fails to conclusively demonstrate a direct involvement of TIMP4 in aortic aneurysm formation. The other TIMPs 1, 2 and 3 have been demonstrated to play a role in aortic aneurysm formation, but the role of TIMP4 has yet to be adequately explored. The best approach to determine the role that TIMP4 plays in aortic aneurysm formation would be to use TIMP4 knockout mice, TIMP4 transgenic mice, or to locally overexpress TIMP4 on the aorta and administer DOCA plus salt to induce aortic aneurysm. TIMP4 knockout mice have been generated and have been shown to be susceptible to myocardial infraction followed by a right ventricular wall

rupture and death¹²⁹. However, these mice have not yet been available for purchase to the public. Our findings predict that using TIMP4 knockout mice to induce aortic aneurysm, would lead to an increase in rate of AAA formation after DOCA plus salt or Angiotensin II plus salt; while using TIMP4 transgenic mice or local overexpression of TIMP4 would lead to a protection from AAA formation.

We were unable to precisely demonstrate the mechanism by which Bmal1 regulates TIMP4 expression. Multiple lines of evidence show that Bmal1 acts as a transcription factor when bound to an E-box. While we have shown that Bmal1 binds to TIMP4 promoter and the absence of Bmal1 increases TIMP4 promoter activity, we have also shown that deletion of Bmal1selectively increases TIMP4 expression (Fig. 15-19). These data suggest that Bmal1 acts as a break on theTIMP4 promoter. Determining whether or not Bmal1 directly regulates TIMP4 expression has been challenging. One suggested mechanism of regulation was that Rev-erb could act as a repressor. Bmal1 regulates Rev-erb by binding to E-box at the promoter region, and Rev-erb in turn inhibits Bmal1 by binding to a response element. Therefore, we explored the possibility that Rev-erb in the presence of Bmal1 would bind to TIMP4 promoter and repress its expression. However, TIMP4 does not contain a rev-erb response element in its promoter region. Another mechanism envisions the possibility that the interaction between Bmal1 and Cry1, which has been shown to act as a repressor²³⁷, could repress TIMP4 expression. Although, our results have demonstrated an upregulation of Cry1 in the absence of Bmal1, which is consistent with the study from Kondratov et al, more work is needed to confirm that it is the interaction between Bmal1 and Cry1 represses TIMP4 expression.

It will also be important to explore the mechanism for the increase in Bmal1mRNA expression after DOCA plus salt treatment. Aldosterone and angiotensin II have been shown to induce Bmal1 circadian rhythmicity in H9c2 cardiomyoblasts and vascular

smooth muscle cells respectively^{214, 275}. Our Data have shown that Bmal1 expression increases in response to DOCA plus salt (Fig. 20), whether this increase is an actual increase, or a shift in rhythmic expression, has not been determined in this study. Bmal1 expression fluctuates during the day and the expression pattern could have shifted after DOCA plus salt treatment. Therefore, to address this question the expression of Bmal1 in the aorta should be examined prior to and after DOCA plus salt/ aldosterone and salt or ANGII plus salt administration in mice at different times of the day. The data could be further tested by looking at Bmal1 expression in VSMC at different times of the day with or without aldosterone and high salt or ANGII plus salt treatment.

One last issue that has not been explored in this study would be to determine whether deletion of Bmal1 in smooth muscle protects from aortic aneurysm across different models of aortic aneurysm. We have shown that smooth muscle cell specific Bmal1 knockout mice are protected from DOCA plus salt induced AAA and from angiotensin II plus salt. The DOCA plus salt model has been used for decades to study hypertension, but it has only been recently shown that it can also induce aortic aneurysm²²⁷. ANGII plus salt has only been used in our study. Models of aortic aneurysm using angiotensin II have used apoE knockout mice or LDR knockout mice to induced AAA. Therefore, the use of other chemically induced models such as calcium chloride and elastase will determine how broad the protection extends. Both models depend upon different mechanisms but an increase in MMP2 and MMP9 is seen in these models. In this study, we have concluded that the protection is partially due to an increase in TIMP4 expression. Since TIMP4 inhibits both MMP2 and MMP9, we hypothesize that smooth muscle cell Bmal1 knockout mice will be protected or show an attenuation from aortic aneurysm induced by calcium chloride or elastase infusion.

4.8. Conclusions

In this study, we have identified Bmal1 has a key player in the formation of AAA and identified a potential mechanism. We have therefore demonstrated that: 1) Vascular smooth muscle cell deletion of Bmal1 protects from aortic aneurysm formation. 2) Vascular smooth muscle cell deletion of Bmal1 does not affect MR expression before and after DOCA plus salt in the aorta except for the descending aorta. 3) Vascular smooth muscle cell deletion of Bmal1 does not affect plasma sodium. We then explored the mechanism and found the following: 1) Vascular smooth muscle cell deletion of Bmal1 selectively increase in vivo. 2) Vascular smooth muscle cell deletion of Bmal1 selectively increases TIMP4 expression. 3) Bmal1 binds to TIMP4 promoter and Bmal1 presence represses TIMP4 expression. 4) The protection seen in this model is independent of blood pressure increase.

References

- 1. Sakalihasan N, Limet R, Defawe OD. Abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Lancet*. 2005;365:1577-1589
- 2. Anderson LA. Abdominal aortic aneurysm. *The Journal of cardiovascular nursing*. 2001;15:1-14
- 3. Elefteriades JA, Farkas EA. Thoracic aortic aneurysm clinically pertinent controversies and uncertainties. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 2010;55:841-857
- 4. Hiratzka LF, Bakris GL, Beckman JA, Bersin RM, Carr VF, Casey DE, Jr., Eagle KA, Hermann LK, Isselbacher EM, Kazerooni EA, Kouchoukos NT, Lytle BW, Milewicz DM, Reich DL, Sen S, Shinn JA, Svensson LG, Williams DM. 2010 accf/aha/aats/acr/asa/sca/scai/sir/sts/svm guidelines for the diagnosis and management of patients with thoracic aortic disease: A report of the american college of cardiology foundation/american heart association task force on practice guidelines, american association for thoracic surgery, american college of radiology, american stroke association, society of cardiovascular anesthesiologists, society for cardiovascular angiography and interventions, society of interventional radiology, society of thoracic surgeons, and society for vascular medicine. *Circulation*. 2010;121:e266-369
- 5. Halushka MK. Single gene disorders of the aortic wall. *Cardiovascular pathology : the official journal of the Society for Cardiovascular Pathology*. 2012;21:240-244
- 6. Dietz HC, Cutting GR, Pyeritz RE, Maslen CL, Sakai LY, Corson GM, Puffenberger EG, Hamosh A, Nanthakumar EJ, Curristin SM, et al. Marfan syndrome caused by a recurrent de novo missense mutation in the fibrillin gene. *Nature*. 1991;352:337-339
- 7. Neptune ER, Frischmeyer PA, Arking DE, Myers L, Bunton TE, Gayraud B, Ramirez F, Sakai LY, Dietz HC. Dysregulation of tgf-beta activation contributes to pathogenesis in marfan syndrome. *Nature genetics*. 2003;33:407-411
- Loeys BL, Chen J, Neptune ER, Judge DP, Podowski M, Holm T, Meyers J, Leitch CC, Katsanis N, Sharifi N, Xu FL, Myers LA, Spevak PJ, Cameron DE, De Backer J, Hellemans J, Chen Y, Davis EC, Webb CL, Kress W, Coucke P, Rifkin DB, De Paepe AM, Dietz HC. A syndrome of altered cardiovascular, craniofacial, neurocognitive and skeletal development caused by mutations in tgfbr1 or tgfbr2. *Nature genetics*. 2005;37:275-281
- Loeys BL, Schwarze U, Holm T, Callewaert BL, Thomas GH, Pannu H, De Backer JF, Oswald GL, Symoens S, Manouvrier S, Roberts AE, Faravelli F, Greco MA, Pyeritz RE, Milewicz DM, Coucke PJ, Cameron DE, Braverman AC, Byers PH, De Paepe AM, Dietz HC. Aneurysm syndromes caused by mutations in the tgf-beta receptor. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2006;355:788-798
- 10. Lloyd BM, Braverman AC, Anadkat MJ. Multiple facial milia in patients with loeys-dietz syndrome. *Archives of dermatology*. 2011;147:223-226
- 11. Horbelt D, Guo G, Robinson PN, Knaus P. Quantitative analysis of tgfbr2 mutations in marfan-syndrome-related disorders suggests a correlation between phenotypic severity and smad signaling activity. *Journal of cell science*. 2010;123:4340-4350
- Beighton P, De Paepe A, Steinmann B, Tsipouras P, Wenstrup RJ. Ehlers-danlos syndromes: Revised nosology, villefranche, 1997. Ehlers-danlos national foundation (USA) and ehlers-danlos support group (uk). *American journal of medical genetics*. 1998;77:31-37
- Pepin M, Schwarze U, Superti-Furga A, Byers PH. Clinical and genetic features of ehlersdanlos syndrome type iv, the vascular type. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2000;342:673-680

- 14. Kim HK, Gottliebson W, Hor K, Backeljauw P, Gutmark-Little I, Salisbury SR, Racadio JM, Helton-Skally K, Fleck R. Cardiovascular anomalies in turner syndrome: Spectrum, prevalence, and cardiac mri findings in a pediatric and young adult population. *AJR. American journal of roentgenology*. 2011;196:454-460
- Gravholt CH, Landin-Wilhelmsen K, Stochholm K, Hjerrild BE, Ledet T, Djurhuus CB, Sylven L, Baandrup U, Kristensen BO, Christiansen JS. Clinical and epidemiological description of aortic dissection in turner's syndrome. *Cardiology in the young*. 2006;16:430-436
- 16. Jain D, Dietz HC, Oswald GL, Maleszewski JJ, Halushka MK. Causes and histopathology of ascending aortic disease in children and young adults. *Cardiovascular pathology : the official journal of the Society for Cardiovascular Pathology*. 2011;20:15-25
- 17. Milewicz DM, Kwartler CS, Papke CL, Regalado ES, Cao J, Reid AJ. Genetic variants promoting smooth muscle cell proliferation can result in diffuse and diverse vascular diseases: Evidence for a hyperplastic vasculomyopathy. *Genetics in medicine : official journal of the American College of Medical Genetics*. 2010;12:196-203
- 18. van de Laar IM, Oldenburg RA, Pals G, Roos-Hesselink JW, de Graaf BM, Verhagen JM, Hoedemaekers YM, Willemsen R, Severijnen LA, Venselaar H, Vriend G, Pattynama PM, Collee M, Majoor-Krakauer D, Poldermans D, Frohn-Mulder IM, Micha D, Timmermans J, Hilhorst-Hofstee Y, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Willems PJ, Kros JM, Oei EH, Oostra BA, Wessels MW, Bertoli-Avella AM. Mutations in smad3 cause a syndromic form of aortic aneurysms and dissections with early-onset osteoarthritis. *Nature genetics*. 2011;43:121-126
- 19. Lo RC, Schermerhorn ML. Abdominal aortic aneurysms in women. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 2016;63:839-844
- 20. Lederle FA, Johnson GR, Wilson SE, Chute EP, Hye RJ, Makaroun MS, Barone GW, Bandyk D, Moneta GL, Makhoul RG. The aneurysm detection and management study screening program: Validation cohort and final results. Aneurysm detection and management veterans affairs cooperative study investigators. *Archives of internal medicine*. 2000;160:1425-1430
- 21. Lederle FA, Johnson GR, Wilson SE, Chute EP, Littooy FN, Bandyk D, Krupski WC, Barone GW, Acher CW, Ballard DJ. Prevalence and associations of abdominal aortic aneurysm detected through screening. Aneurysm detection and management (adam) veterans affairs cooperative study group. *Annals of internal medicine*. 1997;126:441-449
- 22. Shimizu K, Mitchell RN, Libby P. Inflammation and cellular immune responses in abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2006;26:987-994
- 23. Lopez-Candales A, Holmes DR, Liao S, Scott MJ, Wickline SA, Thompson RW. Decreased vascular smooth muscle cell density in medial degeneration of human abdominal aortic aneurysms. *The American journal of pathology*. 1997;150:993-1007
- 24. Galis ZS, Muszynski M, Sukhova GK, Simon-Morrissey E, Unemori EN, Lark MW, Amento E, Libby P. Cytokine-stimulated human vascular smooth muscle cells synthesize a complement of enzymes required for extracellular matrix digestion. *Circulation research*. 1994;75:181-189
- 25. MacTaggart JN, Xiong W, Knispel R, Baxter BT. Deletion of ccr2 but not ccr5 or cxcr3 inhibits aortic aneurysm formation. *Surgery*. 2007;142:284-288
- 26. Ishibashi M, Egashira K, Zhao Q, Hiasa K, Ohtani K, Ihara Y, Charo IF, Kura S, Tsuzuki T, Takeshita A, Sunagawa K. Bone marrow-derived monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 receptor ccr2 is critical in angiotensin ii-induced acceleration of atherosclerosis and

aneurysm formation in hypercholesterolemic mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2004;24:e174-178

- 27. Owens AP, 3rd, Rateri DL, Howatt DA, Moore KJ, Tobias PS, Curtiss LK, Lu H, Cassis LA, Daugherty A. Myd88 deficiency attenuates angiotensin ii-induced abdominal aortic aneurysm formation independent of signaling through toll-like receptors 2 and 4. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2011;31:2813-2819
- 28. von Andrian UH, Chambers JD, Berg EL, Michie SA, Brown DA, Karolak D, Ramezani L, Berger EM, Arfors KE, Butcher EC. L-selectin mediates neutrophil rolling in inflamed venules through sialyl lewisx-dependent and -independent recognition pathways. *Blood*. 1993;82:182-191
- 29. Hannawa KK, Eliason JL, Woodrum DT, Pearce CG, Roelofs KJ, Grigoryants V, Eagleton MJ, Henke PK, Wakefield TW, Myers DD, Stanley JC, Upchurch GR, Jr. L-selectinmediated neutrophil recruitment in experimental rodent aneurysm formation. *Circulation*. 2005;112:241-247
- 30. Wang Y, Ait-Oufella H, Herbin O, Bonnin P, Ramkhelawon B, Taleb S, Huang J, Offenstadt G, Combadiere C, Renia L, Johnson JL, Tharaux PL, Tedgui A, Mallat Z. Tgf-beta activity protects against inflammatory aortic aneurysm progression and complications in angiotensin ii-infused mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2010;120:422-432
- 31. Dai J, Michineau S, Franck G, Desgranges P, Becquemin JP, Gervais M, Allaire E. Long term stabilization of expanding aortic aneurysms by a short course of cyclosporine a through transforming growth factor-beta induction. *PloS one*. 2011;6:e28903
- 32. Juvonen J, Surcel HM, Satta J, Teppo AM, Bloigu A, Syrjala H, Airaksinen J, Leinonen M, Saikku P, Juvonen T. Elevated circulating levels of inflammatory cytokines in patients with abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 1997;17:2843-2847
- Satoh H, Nakamura M, Satoh M, Nakajima T, Izumoto H, Maesawa C, Kawazoe K, Masuda T, Hiramori K. Expression and localization of tumour necrosis factor-alpha and its converting enzyme in human abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Clin Sci (Lond)*. 2004;106:301-306
- 34. Kaneko H, Anzai T, Horiuchi K, Kohno T, Nagai T, Anzai A, Takahashi T, Sasaki A, Shimoda M, Maekawa Y, Shimizu H, Yoshikawa T, Okada Y, Yozu R, Fukuda K. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme is a key mediator of abdominal aortic aneurysm development. *Atherosclerosis*. 2011;218:470-478
- Koole D, Hurks R, Schoneveld A, Vink A, Golledge J, Moran CS, de Kleijn DP, van Herwaarden JA, de Vries JP, Laman JD, Huizinga R, Pasterkamp G, Moll FL.
 Osteoprotegerin is associated with aneurysm diameter and proteolysis in abdominal aortic aneurysm disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2012;32:1497-1504
- 36. Dawson J, Cockerill GW, Choke E, Belli AM, Loftus I, Thompson MM. Aortic aneurysms secrete interleukin-6 into the circulation. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 2007;45:350-356
- Sharma AK, Lu G, Jester A, Johnston WF, Zhao Y, Hajzus VA, Saadatzadeh MR, Su G, Bhamidipati CM, Mehta GS, Kron IL, Laubach VE, Murphy MP, Ailawadi G, Upchurch GR, Jr. Experimental abdominal aortic aneurysm formation is mediated by il-17 and attenuated by mesenchymal stem cell treatment. *Circulation*. 2012;126:S38-45
- 38. Johnston WF, Salmon M, Su G, Lu G, Stone ML, Zhao Y, Owens GK, Upchurch GR, Jr., Ailawadi G. Genetic and pharmacologic disruption of interleukin-1beta signaling inhibits experimental aortic aneurysm formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2013;33:294-304
- 39. Curci JA. Digging in the "soil" of the aorta to understand the growth of abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Vascular*. 2009;17 Suppl 1:S21-29

- 40. Hussain S, Assender JW, Bond M, Wong LF, Murphy D, Newby AC. Activation of protein kinase czeta is essential for cytokine-induced metalloproteinase-1, -3, and -9 secretion from rabbit smooth muscle cells and inhibits proliferation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2002;277:27345-27352
- 41. Bendeck MP, Zempo N, Clowes AW, Galardy RE, Reidy MA. Smooth muscle cell migration and matrix metalloproteinase expression after arterial injury in the rat. *Circulation research*. 1994;75:539-545
- 42. Ailawadi G, Eliason JL, Upchurch GR, Jr. Current concepts in the pathogenesis of abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Journal of vascular surgery : official publication, the Society for Vascular Surgery [and] International Society for Cardiovascular Surgery, North American Chapter*. 2003;38:584-588
- 43. Crowther M, Goodall S, Jones JL, Bell PR, Thompson MM. Increased matrix metalloproteinase 2 expression in vascular smooth muscle cells cultured from abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 2000;32:575-583
- 44. Uzui H, Lee JD, Shimizu H, Tsutani H, Ueda T. The role of protein-tyrosine phosphorylation and gelatinase production in the migration and proliferation of smooth muscle cells. *Atherosclerosis*. 2000;149:51-59
- 45. Wu L, Tanimoto A, Murata Y, Sasaguri T, Fan J, Sasaguri Y, Watanabe T. Matrix metalloproteinase-12 gene expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Genes to cells : devoted to molecular & cellular mechanisms*. 2003;8:225-234
- 46. Galis ZS, Muszynski M, Sukhova GK, Simon-Morrissey E, Libby P. Enhanced expression of vascular matrix metalloproteinases induced in vitro by cytokines and in regions of human atherosclerotic lesions. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 1995;748:501-507
- 47. Tung WS, Lee JK, Thompson RW. Simultaneous analysis of 1176 gene products in normal human aorta and abdominal aortic aneurysms using a membrane-based complementary DNA expression array. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 2001;34:143-150
- 48. Allaire E, Muscatelli-Groux B, Guinault AM, Pages C, Goussard A, Mandet C, Bruneval P, Melliere D, Becquemin JP. Vascular smooth muscle cell endovascular therapy stabilizes already developed aneurysms in a model of aortic injury elicited by inflammation and proteolysis. *Annals of surgery*. 2004;239:417-427
- 49. Losy F, Dai J, Pages C, Ginat M, Muscatelli-Groux B, Guinault AM, Rousselle E, Smedile G, Loisance D, Becquemin JP, Allaire E. Paracrine secretion of transforming growth factorbeta1 in aneurysm healing and stabilization with endovascular smooth muscle cell therapy. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 2003;37:1301-1309
- 50. Hunt DM. Primary defect in copper transport underlies mottled mutants in the mouse. *Nature*. 1974;249:852-854
- 51. Andrews EJ, White WJ, Bullock LP. Spontaneous aortic aneurysms in blotchy mice. *The American journal of pathology*. 1975;78:199-210
- Senapati A, Carlsson LK, Fletcher CD, Browse NL, Thompson RP. Is tissue copper deficiency associated with aortic aneurysms? *The British journal of surgery*. 1985;72:352-353
- 53. Jaakkola P, Hippelainen M, Kantola M. Copper and zinc concentrations of abdominal aorta and liver in patients with infrarenal abdominal aortic aneurysm or aortoiliacal occlusive disease. *Annales chirurgiae et gynaecologiae*. 1994;83:304-308
- 54. Maki JM, Rasanen J, Tikkanen H, Sormunen R, Makikallio K, Kivirikko KI, Soininen R. Inactivation of the lysyl oxidase gene lox leads to aortic aneurysms, cardiovascular dysfunction, and perinatal death in mice. *Circulation*. 2002;106:2503-2509

- 55. Tangirala RK, Rubin EM, Palinski W. Quantitation of atherosclerosis in murine models: Correlation between lesions in the aortic origin and in the entire aorta, and differences in the extent of lesions between sexes in ldl receptor-deficient and apolipoprotein edeficient mice. *Journal of lipid research*. 1995;36:2320-2328
- 56. Fukamizu A, Sugimura K, Takimoto E, Sugiyama F, Seo MS, Takahashi S, Hatae T, Kajiwara N, Yagami K, Murakami K. Chimeric renin-angiotensin system demonstrates sustained increase in blood pressure of transgenic mice carrying both human renin and human angiotensinogen genes. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1993;268:11617-11621
- 57. Nishijo N, Sugiyama F, Kimoto K, Taniguchi K, Murakami K, Suzuki S, Fukamizu A, Yagami K. Salt-sensitive aortic aneurysm and rupture in hypertensive transgenic mice that overproduce angiotensin ii. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology*. 1998;78:1059-1066
- 58. Chiou AC, Chiu B, Pearce WH. Murine aortic aneurysm produced by periarterial application of calcium chloride. *The Journal of surgical research*. 2001;99:371-376
- 59. Longo GM, Xiong W, Greiner TC, Zhao Y, Fiotti N, Baxter BT. Matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9 work in concert to produce aortic aneurysms. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2002;110:625-632
- 60. Peterson BG, Longo GM, Matsumura JS, Kibbe MR, Morasch MD, Cardeira KR, Eskandari MK. Endovascular repair of thoracic aortic pathology with custom-made devices. *Surgery*. 2005;138:598-605; discussion 605
- Kiong W, Knispel R, Mactaggart J, Baxter BT. Effects of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 2 deficiency on aneurysm formation. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 2006;44:1061-1066
- 62. Yamanouchi D, Morgan S, Stair C, Seedial S, Lengfeld J, Kent KC, Liu B. Accelerated aneurysmal dilation associated with apoptosis and inflammation in a newly developed calcium phosphate rodent abdominal aortic aneurysm model. *Journal of vascular surgery : official publication, the Society for Vascular Surgery [and] International Society for Cardiovascular Surgery, North American Chapter.* 2012;56:455-461
- 63. Gadowski GR, Ricci MA, Hendley ED, Pilcher DB. Hypertension accelerates the growth of experimental aortic aneurysms. *The Journal of surgical research*. 1993;54:431-436
- 64. Cho BS, Woodrum DT, Roelofs KJ, Stanley JC, Henke PK, Upchurch GR, Jr. Differential regulation of aortic growth in male and female rodents is associated with aaa development. *The Journal of surgical research*. 2009;155:330-338
- 65. Bergoeing MP, Arif B, Hackmann AE, Ennis TL, Thompson RW, Curci JA. Cigarette smoking increases aortic dilatation without affecting matrix metalloproteinase-9 and -12 expression in a modified mouse model of aneurysm formation. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 2007;45:1217-1227
- Eskandari MK, Vijungco JD, Flores A, Borensztajn J, Shively V, Pearce WH. Enhanced abdominal aortic aneurysm in timp-1-deficient mice. *The Journal of surgical research*. 2005;123:289-293
- 67. Manning MW, Cassi LA, Huang J, Szilvassy SJ, Daugherty A. Abdominal aortic aneurysms: Fresh insights from a novel animal model of the disease. *Vasc Med*. 2002;7:45-54
- 68. Rush C, Nyara M, Moxon JV, Trollope A, Cullen B, Golledge J. Whole genome expression analysis within the angiotensin ii-apolipoprotein e deficient mouse model of abdominal aortic aneurysm. *BMC genomics*. 2009;10:298
- 69. Cassis LA, Gupte M, Thayer S, Zhang X, Charnigo R, Howatt DA, Rateri DL, Daugherty A. Ang ii infusion promotes abdominal aortic aneurysms independent of increased blood

pressure in hypercholesterolemic mice. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2009;296:H1660-1665

- 70. Martin-McNulty B, Tham DM, da Cunha V, Ho JJ, Wilson DW, Rutledge JC, Deng GG, Vergona R, Sullivan ME, Wang YX. 17 beta-estradiol attenuates development of angiotensin ii-induced aortic abdominal aneurysm in apolipoprotein e-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2003;23:1627-1632
- 71. Daugherty A, Manning MW, Cassis LA. Antagonism of at2 receptors augments angiotensin ii-induced abdominal aortic aneurysms and atherosclerosis. *British journal of pharmacology*. 2001;134:865-870
- 72. Inoue N, Muramatsu M, Jin D, Takai S, Hayashi T, Katayama H, Kitaura Y, Tamai H, Miyazaki M. Involvement of vascular angiotensin ii-forming enzymes in the progression of aortic abdominal aneurysms in angiotensin ii- infused apoe-deficient mice. *Journal of atherosclerosis and thrombosis*. 2009;16:164-171
- 73. Cassis LA, Helton MJ, Howatt DA, King VL, Daugherty A. Aldosterone does not mediate angiotensin ii-induced atherosclerosis and abdominal aortic aneurysms. *British journal of pharmacology*. 2005;144:443-448
- 74. Manning MW, Cassis LA, Daugherty A. Differential effects of doxycycline, a broadspectrum matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor, on angiotensin ii-induced atherosclerosis and abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2003;23:483-488
- 75. Gavrila D, Li WG, McCormick ML, Thomas M, Daugherty A, Cassis LA, Miller FJ, Jr., Oberley LW, Dellsperger KC, Weintraub NL. Vitamin e inhibits abdominal aortic aneurysm formation in angiotensin ii-infused apolipoprotein e-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2005;25:1671-1677
- 76. Zhang Y, Naggar JC, Welzig CM, Beasley D, Moulton KS, Park HJ, Galper JB. Simvastatin inhibits angiotensin ii-induced abdominal aortic aneurysm formation in apolipoprotein e-knockout mice: Possible role of erk. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2009;29:1764-1771
- 77. Jones A, Deb R, Torsney E, Howe F, Dunkley M, Gnaneswaran Y, Gaze D, Nasr H, Loftus IM, Thompson MM, Cockerill GW. Rosiglitazone reduces the development and rupture of experimental aortic aneurysms. *Circulation*. 2009;119:3125-3132
- 78. Tsui JC. Experimental models of abdominal aortic aneurysms. *The open cardiovascular medicine journal*. 2010;4:221-230
- 79. Economou SG, Taylor CB, Beattie EJ, Jr., Davis CB, Jr. Persistent experimental aortic aneurysms in dogs. *Surgery*. 1960;47:21-28
- 80. Ammirati M, Ostertag H, Rabin E, Ciric I. Pathology of laser-induced experimental aneurysms. *Lasers in surgery and medicine*. 1988;8:308-317
- 81. White JC, Sayre GP, Whisnant JP. Experimental destruction of the media for the production of intracranial arterial aneurysms. *Journal of neurosurgery*. 1961;18:741-745
- 82. Quigley MR, Heiferman K, Kwaan HC, Vidovich D, Nora P, Cerullo LJ. Laser-sealed arteriotomy: A reliable aneurysm model. *Journal of neurosurgery*. 1987;67:284-287
- Baborde JC, Parodi JC, Clem MF, Tio FO, Barone HD, Rivera FJ, Encarnacion CE, Palmaz JC. Intraluminal bypass of abdominal aortic aneurysm: Feasibility study. *Radiology*. 1992;184:185-190
- 84. Criado E, Marston WA, Woosley JT, Ligush J, Chuter TA, Baird C, Suggs CA, Mauro MA, Keagy BA. An aortic aneurysm model for the evaluation of endovascular exclusion prostheses. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 1995;22:306-314; discussion 314-305
- 85. Eton D, Warner D, Owens C, McClenic B, Cava R, Ofek B, Borhani M, Baraniewski H, Schuler JJ. Results of endoluminal grafting in an experimental aortic aneurysm model. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 1996;23:819-829; discussion 829-831

- 86. Gadowski GR, Pilcher DB, Ricci MA. Abdominal aortic aneurysm expansion rate: Effect of size and beta-adrenergic blockade. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 1994;19:727-731
- 87. Gomis-Ruth FX. Catalytic domain architecture of metzincin metalloproteases. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2009;284:15353-15357
- 88. Van Lint P, Libert C. Chemokine and cytokine processing by matrix metalloproteinases and its effect on leukocyte migration and inflammation. *Journal of leukocyte biology*. 2007;82:1375-1381
- 89. Page-McCaw A, Ewald AJ, Werb Z. Matrix metalloproteinases and the regulation of tissue remodelling. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*. 2007;8:221-233
- 90. Rowe RG, Weiss SJ. Breaching the basement membrane: Who, when and how? *Trends in cell biology*. 2008;18:560-574
- 91. Puente XS, Sanchez LM, Overall CM, Lopez-Otin C. Human and mouse proteases: A comparative genomic approach. *Nature reviews. Genetics*. 2003;4:544-558
- 92. Shapiro SD, Kobayashi DK, Ley TJ. Cloning and characterization of a unique elastolytic metalloproteinase produced by human alveolar macrophages. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1993;268:23824-23829
- 93. Pendas AM, Knauper V, Puente XS, Llano E, Mattei MG, Apte S, Murphy G, Lopez-Otin C. Identification and characterization of a novel human matrix metalloproteinase with unique structural characteristics, chromosomal location, and tissue distribution. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1997;272:4281-4286
- 94. Llano E, Pendas AM, Knauper V, Sorsa T, Salo T, Salido E, Murphy G, Simmer JP, Bartlett JD, Lopez-Otin C. Identification and structural and functional characterization of human enamelysin (mmp-20). *Biochemistry*. 1997;36:15101-15108
- 95. Lu Y, Papagerakis P, Yamakoshi Y, Hu JC, Bartlett JD, Simmer JP. Functions of klk4 and mmp-20 in dental enamel formation. *Biological chemistry*. 2008;389:695-700
- 96. Yang M, Kurkinen M. Cloning and characterization of a novel matrix metalloproteinase (mmp), cmmp, from chicken embryo fibroblasts. Cmmp, xenopus xmmp, and human mmp19 have a conserved unique cysteine in the catalytic domain. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1998;273:17893-17900
- 97. Murphy G, Knauper V. Relating matrix metalloproteinase structure to function: Why the "hemopexin" domain? *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*. 1997;15:511-518
- 98. Marchenko ND, Marchenko GN, Weinreb RN, Lindsey JD, Kyshtoobayeva A, Crawford HC, Strongin AY. Beta-catenin regulates the gene of mmp-26, a novel metalloproteinase expressed both in carcinomas and normal epithelial cells. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*. 2004;36:942-956
- 99. Zhao YG, Xiao AZ, Park HI, Newcomer RG, Yan M, Man YG, Heffelfinger SC, Sang QX. Endometase/matrilysin-2 in human breast ductal carcinoma in situ and its inhibition by tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases-2 and -4: A putative role in the initiation of breast cancer invasion. *Cancer research*. 2004;64:590-598
- 100. Overall CM. Molecular determinants of metalloproteinase substrate specificity: Matrix metalloproteinase substrate binding domains, modules, and exosites. *Molecular biotechnology*. 2002;22:51-86
- 101. Gearing AJ, Beckett P, Christodoulou M, Churchill M, Clements J, Davidson AH, Drummond AH, Galloway WA, Gilbert R, Gordon JL, et al. Processing of tumour necrosis factor-alpha precursor by metalloproteinases. *Nature*. 1994;370:555-557

- 102. Yu Q, Stamenkovic I. Cell surface-localized matrix metalloproteinase-9 proteolytically activates tgf-beta and promotes tumor invasion and angiogenesis. *Genes & development*. 2000;14:163-176
- 103. McQuibban GA, Gong JH, Wong JP, Wallace JL, Clark-Lewis I, Overall CM. Matrix metalloproteinase processing of monocyte chemoattractant proteins generates cc chemokine receptor antagonists with anti-inflammatory properties in vivo. *Blood*. 2002;100:1160-1167
- 104. Loffek S, Schilling O, Franzke CW. Series "matrix metalloproteinases in lung health and disease": Biological role of matrix metalloproteinases: A critical balance. *The European respiratory journal*. 2011;38:191-208
- 105. Yan C, Boyd DD. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase gene expression. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 2007;211:19-26
- Benbow U, Brinckerhoff CE. The ap-1 site and mmp gene regulation: What is all the fuss about? *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*. 1997;15:519-526
- Chakraborti S, Mandal M, Das S, Mandal A, Chakraborti T. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases: An overview. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*. 2003;253:269-285
- 108. Fuks F. DNA methylation and histone modifications: Teaming up to silence genes. *Current opinion in genetics & development*. 2005;15:490-495
- 109. Chicoine E, Esteve PO, Robledo O, Van Themsche C, Potworowski EF, St-Pierre Y. Evidence for the role of promoter methylation in the regulation of mmp-9 gene expression. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 2002;297:765-772
- 110. Couillard J, Demers M, Lavoie G, St-Pierre Y. The role of DNA hypomethylation in the control of stromelysin gene expression. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 2006;342:1233-1239
- 111. Cosma MP, Tanaka T, Nasmyth K. Ordered recruitment of transcription and chromatin remodeling factors to a cell cycle- and developmentally regulated promoter. *Cell*. 1999;97:299-311
- Overall CM, Wrana JL, Sodek J. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of 72-kda gelatinase/type iv collagenase by transforming growth factor-beta 1 in human fibroblasts. Comparisons with collagenase and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase gene expression. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1991;266:14064-14071
- 113. Ra HJ, Parks WC. Control of matrix metalloproteinase catalytic activity. *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*. 2007;26:587-596
- 114. Van Wart HE, Birkedal-Hansen H. The cysteine switch: A principle of regulation of metalloproteinase activity with potential applicability to the entire matrix metalloproteinase gene family. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1990;87:5578-5582
- 115. Itoh Y, Takamura A, Ito N, Maru Y, Sato H, Suenaga N, Aoki T, Seiki M. Homophilic complex formation of mt1-mmp facilitates prommp-2 activation on the cell surface and promotes tumor cell invasion. *The EMBO journal*. 2001;20:4782-4793
- 116. Atkinson SJ, Crabbe T, Cowell S, Ward RV, Butler MJ, Sato H, Seiki M, Reynolds JJ, Murphy G. Intermolecular autolytic cleavage can contribute to the activation of progelatinase a by cell membranes. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1995;270:30479-30485
- 117. Fu X, Kao JL, Bergt C, Kassim SY, Huq NP, d'Avignon A, Parks WC, Mecham RP, Heinecke JW. Oxidative cross-linking of tryptophan to glycine restrains matrix metalloproteinase

activity: Specific structural motifs control protein oxidation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2004;279:6209-6212

- 118. Kassim SY, Fu X, Liles WC, Shapiro SD, Parks WC, Heinecke JW. Nadph oxidase restrains the matrix metalloproteinase activity of macrophages. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2005;280:30201-30205
- 119. Fujita Y, Shiomi T, Yanagimoto S, Matsumoto H, Toyama Y, Okada Y. Tetraspanin cd151 is expressed in osteoarthritic cartilage and is involved in pericellular activation of promatrix metalloproteinase 7 in osteoarthritic chondrocytes. *Arthritis and rheumatism*. 2006;54:3233-3243
- 120. Geurts N, Martens E, Van Aelst I, Proost P, Opdenakker G, Van den Steen PE. Betahematin interaction with the hemopexin domain of gelatinase b/mmp-9 provokes autocatalytic processing of the propeptide, thereby priming activation by mmp-3. *Biochemistry*. 2008;47:2689-2699
- 121. Ogata Y, Enghild JJ, Nagase H. Matrix metalloproteinase 3 (stromelysin) activates the precursor for the human matrix metalloproteinase 9. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1992;267:3581-3584
- 122. Lijnen HR, Silence J, Van Hoef B, Collen D. Stromelysin-1 (mmp-3)-independent gelatinase expression and activation in mice. *Blood*. 1998;91:2045-2053
- 123. Ruangpanit N, Price JT, Holmbeck K, Birkedal-Hansen H, Guenzler V, Huang X, Chan D, Bateman JF, Thompson EW. Mt1-mmp-dependent and -independent regulation of gelatinase a activation in long-term, ascorbate-treated fibroblast cultures: Regulation by fibrillar collagen. *Experimental cell research*. 2002;272:109-118
- 124. Lijnen HR, Van Hoef B, Lupu F, Moons L, Carmeliet P, Collen D. Function of the plasminogen/plasmin and matrix metalloproteinase systems after vascular injury in mice with targeted inactivation of fibrinolytic system genes. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998;18:1035-1045
- 125. Tchougounova E, Lundequist A, Fajardo I, Winberg JO, Abrink M, Pejler G. A key role for mast cell chymase in the activation of pro-matrix metalloprotease-9 and pro-matrix metalloprotease-2. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2005;280:9291-9296
- 126. Strickland DK, Ashcom JD, Williams S, Burgess WH, Migliorini M, Argraves WS. Sequence identity between the alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor and low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein suggests that this molecule is a multifunctional receptor. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1990;265:17401-17404
- 127. Murphy G, Nagase H. Progress in matrix metalloproteinase research. *Molecular aspects of medicine*. 2008;29:290-308
- 128. Sahebjam S, Khokha R, Mort JS. Increased collagen and aggrecan degradation with age in the joints of timp3(-/-) mice. *Arthritis and rheumatism*. 2007;56:905-909
- 129. Koskivirta I, Kassiri Z, Rahkonen O, Kiviranta R, Oudit GY, McKee TD, Kyto V, Saraste A, Jokinen E, Liu PP, Vuorio E, Khokha R. Mice with tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 4 (timp4) deletion succumb to induced myocardial infarction but not to cardiac pressure overload. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2010;285:24487-24493
- Mott JD, Thomas CL, Rosenbach MT, Takahara K, Greenspan DS, Banda MJ. Posttranslational proteolytic processing of procollagen c-terminal proteinase enhancer releases a metalloproteinase inhibitor. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2000;275:1384-1390
- 131. Oh J, Takahashi R, Kondo S, Mizoguchi A, Adachi E, Sasahara RM, Nishimura S, Imamura Y, Kitayama H, Alexander DB, Ide C, Horan TP, Arakawa T, Yoshida H, Nishikawa S, Itoh Y, Seiki M, Itohara S, Takahashi C, Noda M. The membrane-anchored mmp inhibitor reck is

a key regulator of extracellular matrix integrity and angiogenesis. *Cell*. 2001;107:789-800

- 132. McMillan WD, Patterson BK, Keen RR, Shively VP, Cipollone M, Pearce WH. In situ localization and quantification of mrna for 92-kd type iv collagenase and its inhibitor in aneurysmal, occlusive, and normal aorta. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 1995;15:1139-1144
- 133. Aziz F, Kuivaniemi H. Role of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors in preventing abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Annals of vascular surgery*. 2007;21:392-401
- 134. McMillan WD, Tamarina NA, Cipollone M, Johnson DA, Parker MA, Pearce WH. Size matters: The relationship between mmp-9 expression and aortic diameter. *Circulation*. 1997;96:2228-2232
- 135. Wilson WR, Anderton M, Choke EC, Dawson J, Loftus IM, Thompson MM. Elevated plasma mmp1 and mmp9 are associated with abdominal aortic aneurysm rupture. *European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery*. 2008;35:580-584
- 136. Mao D, Lee JK, VanVickle SJ, Thompson RW. Expression of collagenase-3 (mmp-13) in human abdominal aortic aneurysms and vascular smooth muscle cells in culture. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 1999;261:904-910
- 137. Xiong W, Knispel R, MacTaggart J, Greiner TC, Weiss SJ, Baxter BT. Membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase regulates macrophage-dependent elastolytic activity and aneurysm formation in vivo. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2009;284:1765-1771
- 138. Longo GM, Buda SJ, Fiotta N, Xiong W, Griener T, Shapiro S, Baxter BT. Mmp-12 has a role in abdominal aortic aneurysms in mice. *Surgery*. 2005;137:457-462
- 139. Lemaitre V, Dabo AJ, D'Armiento J. Cigarette smoke components induce matrix metalloproteinase-1 in aortic endothelial cells through inhibition of mtor signaling. *Toxicological sciences : an official journal of the Society of Toxicology*. 2011;123:542-549
- 140. Irizarry E, Newman KM, Gandhi RH, Nackman GB, Halpern V, Wishner S, Scholes JV, Tilson MD. Demonstration of interstitial collagenase in abdominal aortic aneurysm disease. *The Journal of surgical research*. 1993;54:571-574
- 141. Nakamura M, Tachieda R, Niinuma H, Ohira A, Endoh S, Hiramori K, Makita S. Circulating biochemical marker levels of collagen metabolism are abnormal in patients with abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Angiology*. 2000;51:385-392
- 142. Curci JA, Liao S, Huffman MD, Shapiro SD, Thompson RW. Expression and localization of macrophage elastase (matrix metalloproteinase-12) in abdominal aortic aneurysms. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1998;102:1900-1910
- 143. Silence J, Lupu F, Collen D, Lijnen HR. Persistence of atherosclerotic plaque but reduced aneurysm formation in mice with stromelysin-1 (mmp-3) gene inactivation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2001;21:1440-1445
- 144. Holmes DR, Petrinec D, Wester W, Thompson RW, Reilly JM. Indomethacin prevents elastase-induced abdominal aortic aneurysms in the rat. *The Journal of surgical research*. 1996;63:305-309
- 145. Treharne GD, Boyle JR, Goodall S, Loftus IM, Bell PR, Thompson MM. Marimastat inhibits elastin degradation and matrix metalloproteinase 2 activity in a model of aneurysm disease. *The British journal of surgery*. 1999;86:1053-1058
- 146. Prescott MF, Sawyer WK, Von Linden-Reed J, Jeune M, Chou M, Caplan SL, Jeng AY. Effect of matrix metalloproteinase inhibition on progression of atherosclerosis and aneurysm in Idl receptor-deficient mice overexpressing mmp-3, mmp-12, and mmp-13

and on restenosis in rats after balloon injury. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 1999;878:179-190

- 147. Liapis CD, Paraskevas KI. The pivotal role of matrix metalloproteinases in the development of human abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Vasc Med*. 2003;8:267-271
- 148. Mosorin M, Juvonen J, Biancari F, Satta J, Surcel HM, Leinonen M, Saikku P, Juvonen T. Use of doxycycline to decrease the growth rate of abdominal aortic aneurysms: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 2001;34:606-610
- 149. Baxter BT. Regarding "use of doxycycline to decrease the growth rate of abdominal aortic aneurysms: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study". *Journal of vascular surgery*. 2001;34:757-758
- 150. Dodd BR, Spence RA. Doxycycline inhibition of abdominal aortic aneurysm growth: A systematic review of the literature. *Current vascular pharmacology*. 2011;9:471-478
- 151. Benjamin MM, Khalil RA. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors as investigative tools in the pathogenesis and management of vascular disease. *Exs*. 2012;103:209-279
- 152. Bauer EA, Stricklin GP, Jeffrey JJ, Eisen AZ. Collagenase production by human skin fibroblasts. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 1975;64:232-240
- 153. Woolley DE, Roberts DR, Evanson JM. Inhibition of human collagenase activity by a small molecular weight serum protein. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 1975;66:747-754
- 154. Kuettner KE, Hiti J, Eisenstein R, Harper E. Collagenase inhibition by cationic proteins derived from cartilage and aorta. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 1976;72:40-46
- 155. Cawston TE, Galloway WA, Mercer E, Murphy G, Reynolds JJ. Purification of rabbit bone inhibitor of collagenase. *The Biochemical journal*. 1981;195:159-165
- 156. Brew K, Nagase H. The tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (timps): An ancient family with structural and functional diversity. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 2010;1803:55-71
- 157. Pohar N, Godenschwege TA, Buchner E. Invertebrate tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase: Structure and nested gene organization within the synapsin locus is conserved from drosophila to human. *Genomics*. 1999;57:293-296
- 158. Jaworski DM, Beem-Miller M, Lluri G, Barrantes-Reynolds R. Potential regulatory relationship between the nested gene ddc8 and its host gene tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2. *Physiological genomics*. 2007;28:168-178
- 159. Williamson RA, Marston FA, Angal S, Koklitis P, Panico M, Morris HR, Carne AF, Smith BJ, Harris TJ, Freedman RB. Disulphide bond assignment in human tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (timp). *The Biochemical journal*. 1990;268:267-274
- 160. Murphy G, Houbrechts A, Cockett MI, Williamson RA, O'Shea M, Docherty AJ. The nterminal domain of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases retains metalloproteinase inhibitory activity. *Biochemistry*. 1991;30:8097-8102
- 161. Kashiwagi M, Tortorella M, Nagase H, Brew K. Timp-3 is a potent inhibitor of aggrecanase 1 (adam-ts4) and aggrecanase 2 (adam-ts5). *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2001;276:12501-12504
- 162. Greene J, Wang M, Liu YE, Raymond LA, Rosen C, Shi YE. Molecular cloning and characterization of human tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 4. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1996;271:30375-30380
- 163. Amour A, Knight CG, Webster A, Slocombe PM, Stephens PE, Knauper V, Docherty AJ, Murphy G. The in vitro activity of adam-10 is inhibited by timp-1 and timp-3. *FEBS letters*. 2000;473:275-279

- 164. Edwards DR, Handsley MM, Pennington CJ. The adam metalloproteinases. *Molecular aspects of medicine*. 2008;29:258-289
- 165. Porter S, Clark IM, Kevorkian L, Edwards DR. The adamts metalloproteinases. *The Biochemical journal*. 2005;386:15-27
- 166. Jacobsen J, Visse R, Sorensen HP, Enghild JJ, Brew K, Wewer UM, Nagase H. Catalytic properties of adam12 and its domain deletion mutants. *Biochemistry*. 2008;47:537-547
- 167. Lee MH, Rapti M, Murphy G. Total conversion of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase (timp) for specific metalloproteinase targeting: Fine-tuning timp-4 for optimal inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-{alpha}-converting enzyme. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2005;280:15967-15975
- 168. Mochizuki S, Shimoda M, Shiomi T, Fujii Y, Okada Y. Adam28 is activated by mmp-7 (matrilysin-1) and cleaves insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 2004;315:79-84
- 169. Rapti M, Atkinson SJ, Lee MH, Trim A, Moss M, Murphy G. The isolated n-terminal domains of timp-1 and timp-3 are insufficient for adam10 inhibition. *The Biochemical journal*. 2008;411:433-439
- 170. Zempo N, Sakano H, Ikenaga S, Harada M, Yamashita A, Morikage N, Takenaka H, Fujioka K, Esato K. Fatal diffuse atheromatous embolization following endovascular grafting for an abdominal aortic aneurysm: Report of a case. *Surgery today*. 2001;31:269-273
- 171. Bumdelger B, Kokubo H, Kamata R, Fujii M, Ishida M, Ishida T, Yoshizumi M. Induction of timp1 in smooth muscle cells during development of abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Hiroshima journal of medical sciences*. 2013;62:63-67
- 172. Allaire E, Forough R, Clowes M, Starcher B, Clowes AW. Local overexpression of timp-1 prevents aortic aneurysm degeneration and rupture in a rat model. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1998;102:1413-1420
- 173. Hinterseher I, Krex D, Kuhlisch E, Schmidt KG, Pilarsky C, Schneiders W, Saeger HD, Bergert H. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 (timp-1) polymorphisms in a caucasian population with abdominal aortic aneurysm. *World journal of surgery*. 2007;31:2248-2254
- 174. Zhao X, Li H, Dong J, Kokudo N, Tang W. Overexpression of timp-2 mediated by recombinant adenovirus in rat abdominal aorta inhibits extracellular matrix degradation. *Bioscience trends*. 2008;2:206-210
- 175. Lu KV, Jong KA, Rajasekaran AK, Cloughesy TF, Mischel PS. Upregulation of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (timp)-2 promotes matrix metalloproteinase (mmp)-2 activation and cell invasion in a human glioblastoma cell line. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology*. 2004;84:8-20
- 176. Basu R, Fan D, Kandalam V, Lee J, Das SK, Wang X, Baldwin TA, Oudit GY, Kassiri Z. Loss of timp3 gene leads to abdominal aortic aneurysm formation in response to angiotensin ii. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2012;287:44083-44096
- 177. Roder C, Kasuya H, Harati A, Tatagiba M, Inoue I, Krischek B. Meta-analysis of microarray gene expression studies on intracranial aneurysms. *Neuroscience*. 2012;201:105-113
- 178. Ban JY, Yoon KL, Kim SK, Kang S, Chung JH. Promoter polymorphism (rs3755724, -55c/t) of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 4 (timp4) as a risk factor for kawasaki disease with coronary artery lesions in a korean population. *Pediatric cardiology*. 2009;30:331-335
- 179. Melendez-Zajgla J, Del Pozo L, Ceballos G, Maldonado V. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-4. The road less traveled. *Molecular cancer*. 2008;7:85
- 180. Camacho F, Cilio M, Guo Y, Virshup DM, Patel K, Khorkova O, Styren S, Morse B, Yao Z, Keesler GA. Human casein kinase idelta phosphorylation of human circadian clock proteins period 1 and 2. *FEBS letters*. 2001;489:159-165
- 181. Pittendrigh CS. Temporal organization: Reflections of a darwinian clock-watcher. *Annual review of physiology*. 1993;55:16-54
- 182. Gekakis N, Staknis D, Nguyen HB, Davis FC, Wilsbacher LD, King DP, Takahashi JS, Weitz CJ. Role of the clock protein in the mammalian circadian mechanism. *Science*. 1998;280:1564-1569
- 183. Bunger MK, Wilsbacher LD, Moran SM, Clendenin C, Radcliffe LA, Hogenesch JB, Simon MC, Takahashi JS, Bradfield CA. Mop3 is an essential component of the master circadian pacemaker in mammals. *Cell*. 2000;103:1009-1017
- 184. Kume K, Zylka MJ, Sriram S, Shearman LP, Weaver DR, Jin X, Maywood ES, Hastings MH, Reppert SM. Mcry1 and mcry2 are essential components of the negative limb of the circadian clock feedback loop. *Cell*. 1999;98:193-205
- 185. Okamura H, Miyake S, Sumi Y, Yamaguchi S, Yasui A, Muijtjens M, Hoeijmakers JH, van der Horst GT. Photic induction of mper1 and mper2 in cry-deficient mice lacking a biological clock. *Science*. 1999;286:2531-2534
- 186. Sato TK, Yamada RG, Ukai H, Baggs JE, Miraglia LJ, Kobayashi TJ, Welsh DK, Kay SA, Ueda HR, Hogenesch JB. Feedback repression is required for mammalian circadian clock function. *Nature genetics*. 2006;38:312-319
- 187. Etchegaray JP, Lee C, Wade PA, Reppert SM. Rhythmic histone acetylation underlies transcription in the mammalian circadian clock. *Nature*. 2003;421:177-182
- 188. Griffin EA, Jr., Staknis D, Weitz CJ. Light-independent role of cry1 and cry2 in the mammalian circadian clock. *Science*. 1999;286:768-771
- 189. Akashi M, Tsuchiya Y, Yoshino T, Nishida E. Control of intracellular dynamics of mammalian period proteins by casein kinase i epsilon (ckiepsilon) and ckidelta in cultured cells. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2002;22:1693-1703
- 190. Eide EJ, Vielhaber EL, Hinz WA, Virshup DM. The circadian regulatory proteins bmal1 and cryptochromes are substrates of casein kinase iepsilon. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2002;277:17248-17254
- 191. Keesler GA, Camacho F, Guo Y, Virshup D, Mondadori C, Yao Z. Phosphorylation and destabilization of human period i clock protein by human casein kinase i epsilon. *Neuroreport*. 2000;11:951-955
- 192. Giguere V. Orphan nuclear receptors: From gene to function. *Endocrine reviews*. 1999;20:689-725
- 193. Preitner N, Damiola F, Lopez-Molina L, Zakany J, Duboule D, Albrecht U, Schibler U. The orphan nuclear receptor rev-erbalpha controls circadian transcription within the positive limb of the mammalian circadian oscillator. *Cell*. 2002;110:251-260
- 194. Ueda HR, Chen W, Adachi A, Wakamatsu H, Hayashi S, Takasugi T, Nagano M, Nakahama K, Suzuki Y, Sugano S, Iino M, Shigeyoshi Y, Hashimoto S. A transcription factor response element for gene expression during circadian night. *Nature*. 2002;418:534-539
- 195. Adelmant G, Begue A, Stehelin D, Laudet V. A functional rev-erb alpha responsive element located in the human rev-erb alpha promoter mediates a repressing activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1996;93:3553-3558
- 196. Harding HP, Lazar MA. The monomer-binding orphan receptor rev-erb represses transcription as a dimer on a novel direct repeat. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 1995;15:4791-4802

- 197. Akashi M, Takumi T. The orphan nuclear receptor roralpha regulates circadian transcription of the mammalian core-clock bmal1. *Nature structural & molecular biology*. 2005;12:441-448
- 198. Guillaumond F, Dardente H, Giguere V, Cermakian N. Differential control of bmal1 circadian transcription by rev-erb and ror nuclear receptors. *Journal of biological rhythms*. 2005;20:391-403
- 199. Balsalobre A, Damiola F, Schibler U. A serum shock induces circadian gene expression in mammalian tissue culture cells. *Cell*. 1998;93:929-937
- 200. Yamazaki S, Numano R, Abe M, Hida A, Takahashi R, Ueda M, Block GD, Sakaki Y, Menaker M, Tei H. Resetting central and peripheral circadian oscillators in transgenic rats. *Science*. 2000;288:682-685
- 201. Sakamoto K, Nagase T, Fukui H, Horikawa K, Okada T, Tanaka H, Sato K, Miyake Y, Ohara O, Kako K, Ishida N. Multitissue circadian expression of rat period homolog (rper2) mrna is governed by the mammalian circadian clock, the suprachiasmatic nucleus in the brain. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1998;273:27039-27042
- 202. Balsalobre A, Marcacci L, Schibler U. Multiple signaling pathways elicit circadian gene expression in cultured rat-1 fibroblasts. *Current biology : CB*. 2000;10:1291-1294
- 203. Damiola F, Le Minh N, Preitner N, Kornmann B, Fleury-Olela F, Schibler U. Restricted feeding uncouples circadian oscillators in peripheral tissues from the central pacemaker in the suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Genes & development*. 2000;14:2950-2961
- 204. Mueller CR, Maire P, Schibler U. Dbp, a liver-enriched transcriptional activator, is expressed late in ontogeny and its tissue specificity is determined posttranscriptionally. *Cell*. 1990;61:279-291
- 205. Lopez-Molina L, Conquet F, Dubois-Dauphin M, Schibler U. The dbp gene is expressed according to a circadian rhythm in the suprachiasmatic nucleus and influences circadian behavior. *The EMBO journal*. 1997;16:6762-6771
- 206. Ramsey KM, Marcheva B, Kohsaka A, Bass J. The clockwork of metabolism. *Annual review of nutrition*. 2007;27:219-240
- 207. Escher P, Braissant O, Basu-Modak S, Michalik L, Wahli W, Desvergne B. Rat ppars: Quantitative analysis in adult rat tissues and regulation in fasting and refeeding. *Endocrinology*. 2001;142:4195-4202
- 208. Debruyne JP, Noton E, Lambert CM, Maywood ES, Weaver DR, Reppert SM. A clock shock: Mouse clock is not required for circadian oscillator function. *Neuron*. 2006;50:465-477
- 209. Somanath PR, Podrez EA, Chen J, Ma Y, Marchant K, Antoch M, Byzova TV. Deficiency in core circadian protein bmal1 is associated with a prothrombotic and vascular phenotype. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 2011;226:132-140
- 210. Reilly DF, Westgate EJ, FitzGerald GA. Peripheral circadian clocks in the vasculature. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2007;27:1694-1705
- 211. Anea CB, Zhang M, Stepp DW, Simkins GB, Reed G, Fulton DJ, Rudic RD. Vascular disease in mice with a dysfunctional circadian clock. *Circulation*. 2009;119:1510-1517
- 212. Maemura K, Takeda N, Nagai R. Circadian rhythms in the cns and peripheral clock disorders: Role of the biological clock in cardiovascular diseases. *Journal of pharmacological sciences*. 2007;103:134-138
- 213. Maemura K, de la Monte SM, Chin MT, Layne MD, Hsieh CM, Yet SF, Perrella MA, Lee ME. Clif, a novel cycle-like factor, regulates the circadian oscillation of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 gene expression. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2000;275:36847-36851

- 214. Nonaka H, Emoto N, Ikeda K, Fukuya H, Rohman MS, Raharjo SB, Yagita K, Okamura H, Yokoyama M. Angiotensin ii induces circadian gene expression of clock genes in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circulation*. 2001;104:1746-1748
- 215. Storch KF, Lipan O, Leykin I, Viswanathan N, Davis FC, Wong WH, Weitz CJ. Extensive and divergent circadian gene expression in liver and heart. *Nature*. 2002;417:78-83
- 216. Young ME, Razeghi P, Taegtmeyer H. Clock genes in the heart: Characterization and attenuation with hypertrophy. *Circulation research*. 2001;88:1142-1150
- 217. Rudic RD, McNamara P, Reilly D, Grosser T, Curtis AM, Price TS, Panda S, Hogenesch JB, FitzGerald GA. Bioinformatic analysis of circadian gene oscillation in mouse aorta. *Circulation*. 2005;112:2716-2724
- 218. Anea CB, Ali MI, Osmond JM, Sullivan JC, Stepp DW, Merloiu AM, Rudic RD. Matrix metalloproteinase 2 and 9 dysfunction underlie vascular stiffness in circadian clock mutant mice. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*. 2010;30:2535-2543
- 219. Cheng B, Anea CB, Yao L, Chen F, Patel V, Merloiu A, Pati P, Caldwell RW, Fulton DJ, Rudic RD. Tissue-intrinsic dysfunction of circadian clock confers transplant arteriosclerosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2011;108:17147-17152
- 220. Anea CB, Cheng B, Sharma S, Kumar S, Caldwell RW, Yao L, Ali MI, Merloiu AM, Stepp DW, Black SM, Fulton DJ, Rudic RD. Increased superoxide and endothelial no synthase uncoupling in blood vessels of bmal1-knockout mice. *Circulation research*. 2012;111:1157-1165
- 221. Xie Z, Su W, Liu S, Zhao G, Esser K, Schroder EA, Lefta M, Stauss HM, Guo Z, Gong MC. Smooth-muscle bmal1 participates in blood pressure circadian rhythm regulation. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2015;125:324-336
- 222. Green CB, Takahashi JS, Bass J. The meter of metabolism. *Cell*. 2008;134:728-742
- 223. Takeda N, Maemura K. Circadian clock and cardiovascular disease. *Journal of cardiology*. 2011;57:249-256
- 224. Mehta RH, Manfredini R, Hassan F, Sechtem U, Bossone E, Oh JK, Cooper JV, Smith DE, Portaluppi F, Penn M, Hutchison S, Nienaber CA, Isselbacher EM, Eagle KA. Chronobiological patterns of acute aortic dissection. *Circulation*. 2002;106:1110-1115
- 225. Winder SJ, Sutherland C, Walsh MP. Biochemical and functional characterization of smooth muscle calponin. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology*. 1991;304:37-51
- 226. Li L, Miano JM, Cserjesi P, Olson EN. Sm22 alpha, a marker of adult smooth muscle, is expressed in multiple myogenic lineages during embryogenesis. *Circulation research*. 1996;78:188-195
- 227. Liu S, Xie Z, Daugherty A, Cassis LA, Pearson KJ, Gong MC, Guo Z. Mineralocorticoid receptor agonists induce mouse aortic aneurysm formation and rupture in the presence of high salt. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*. 2013;33:1568-1579
- Daugherty A, Manning MW, Cassis LA. Angiotensin ii promotes atherosclerotic lesions and aneurysms in apolipoprotein e-deficient mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2000;105:1605-1612
- 229. Hadler-Olsen E, Kanapathippillai P, Berg E, Svineng G, Winberg JO, Uhlin-Hansen L. Gelatin in situ zymography on fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue: Zinc and ethanol fixation preserve enzyme activity. *The journal of histochemistry and cytochemistry : official journal of the Histochemistry Society*. 2010;58:29-39
- 230. Fujita T, Sato Y. Natriuretic and antihypertensive effects of potassium in doca-salt hypertensive rats. *Kidney international*. 1983;24:731-739

- 231. Spittell JA, Jr. Hypertension and arterial aneurysm. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 1983;1:533-540
- 232. Sakalihasan N, Delvenne P, Nusgens BV, Limet R, Lapiere CM. Activated forms of mmp2 and mmp9 in abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 1996;24:127-133
- 233. Toth M, Fridman R. Assessment of gelatinases (mmp-2 and mmp-9 by gelatin zymography. *Methods in molecular medicine*. 2001;57:163-174
- 234. Toth M, Sohail A, Fridman R. Assessment of gelatinases (mmp-2 and mmp-9) by gelatin zymography. *Methods Mol Biol*. 2012;878:121-135
- 235. Visse R, Nagase H. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: Structure, function, and biochemistry. *Circulation research*. 2003;92:827-839
- 236. Baker AH, Edwards DR, Murphy G. Metalloproteinase inhibitors: Biological actions and therapeutic opportunities. *Journal of cell science*. 2002;115:3719-3727
- 237. Kondratov RV, Shamanna RK, Kondratova AA, Gorbacheva VY, Antoch MP. Dual role of the clock/bmal1 circadian complex in transcriptional regulation. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2006;20:530-532
- 238. Ailawadi G, Moehle CW, Pei H, Walton SP, Yang Z, Kron IL, Lau CL, Owens GK. Smooth muscle phenotypic modulation is an early event in aortic aneurysms. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2009;138:1392-1399
- 239. Kondratov RV, Kondratova AA, Gorbacheva VY, Vykhovanets OV, Antoch MP. Early aging and age-related pathologies in mice deficient in bmal1, the core componentof the circadian clock. *Genes & development*. 2006;20:1868-1873
- 240. Musiek ES, Lim MM, Yang G, Bauer AQ, Qi L, Lee Y, Roh JH, Ortiz-Gonzalez X, Dearborn JT, Culver JP, Herzog ED, Hogenesch JB, Wozniak DF, Dikranian K, Giasson BI, Weaver DR, Holtzman DM, Fitzgerald GA. Circadian clock proteins regulate neuronal redox homeostasis and neurodegeneration. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2013;123:5389-5400
- 241. McDearmon EL, Patel KN, Ko CH, Walisser JA, Schook AC, Chong JL, Wilsbacher LD, Song EJ, Hong HK, Bradfield CA, Takahashi JS. Dissecting the functions of the mammalian clock protein bmal1 by tissue-specific rescue in mice. *Science*. 2006;314:1304-1308
- 242. Bunger MK, Walisser JA, Sullivan R, Manley PA, Moran SM, Kalscheur VL, Colman RJ, Bradfield CA. Progressive arthropathy in mice with a targeted disruption of the mop3/bmal-1 locus. *Genesis*. 2005;41:122-132
- 243. Kennaway DJ. The role of circadian rhythmicity in reproduction. *Human reproduction update*. 2005;11:91-101
- 244. Gorbacheva VY, Kondratov RV, Zhang R, Cherukuri S, Gudkov AV, Takahashi JS, Antoch MP. Circadian sensitivity to the chemotherapeutic agent cyclophosphamide depends on the functional status of the clock/bmal1 transactivation complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2005;102:3407-3412
- 245. Dyar KA, Ciciliot S, Wright LE, Bienso RS, Tagliazucchi GM, Patel VR, Forcato M, Paz MI, Gudiksen A, Solagna F, Albiero M, Moretti I, Eckel-Mahan KL, Baldi P, Sassone-Corsi P, Rizzuto R, Bicciato S, Pilegaard H, Blaauw B, Schiaffino S. Muscle insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism are controlled by the intrinsic muscle clock. *Molecular metabolism*. 2014;3:29-41
- 246. Lamia KA, Storch KF, Weitz CJ. Physiological significance of a peripheral tissue circadian clock. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2008;105:15172-15177

- 247. Marcheva B, Ramsey KM, Buhr ED, Kobayashi Y, Su H, Ko CH, Ivanova G, Omura C, Mo S, Vitaterna MH, Lopez JP, Philipson LH, Bradfield CA, Crosby SD, JeBailey L, Wang X, Takahashi JS, Bass J. Disruption of the clock components clock and bmal1 leads to hypoinsulinaemia and diabetes. *Nature*. 2010;466:627-631
- 248. Paschos GK, Ibrahim S, Song WL, Kunieda T, Grant G, Reyes TM, Bradfield CA, Vaughan CH, Eiden M, Masoodi M, Griffin JL, Wang F, Lawson JA, Fitzgerald GA. Obesity in mice with adipocyte-specific deletion of clock component arntl. *Nature medicine*. 2012;18:1768-1777
- 249. Young ME, Brewer RA, Peliciari-Garcia RA, Collins HE, He L, Birky TL, Peden BW, Thompson EG, Ammons BJ, Bray MS, Chatham JC, Wende AR, Yang Q, Chow CW, Martino TA, Gamble KL. Cardiomyocyte-specific bmal1 plays critical roles in metabolism, signaling, and maintenance of contractile function of the heart. *Journal of biological rhythms*. 2014;29:257-276
- 250. Wills A, Thompson MM, Crowther M, Sayers RD, Bell PR. Pathogenesis of abdominal aortic aneurysms--cellular and biochemical mechanisms. *European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery*. 1996;12:391-400
- 251. Patel MI, Melrose J, Ghosh P, Appleberg M. Increased synthesis of matrix metalloproteinases by aortic smooth muscle cells is implicated in the etiopathogenesis of abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 1996;24:82-92
- 252. McMillan WD, Patterson BK, Keen RR, Pearce WH. In situ localization and quantification of seventy-two-kilodalton type iv collagenase in aneurysmal, occlusive, and normal aorta. *Journal of vascular surgery*. 1995;22:295-305
- 253. Goodall S, Crowther M, Hemingway DM, Bell PR, Thompson MM. Ubiquitous elevation of matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression in the vasculature of patients with abdominal aneurysms. *Circulation*. 2001;104:304-309
- 254. Lee E, Grodzinsky AJ, Libby P, Clinton SK, Lark MW, Lee RT. Human vascular smooth muscle cell-monocyte interactions and metalloproteinase secretion in culture. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 1995;15:2284-2289
- 255. Szekanecz Z, Shah MR, Pearce WH, Koch AE. Human atherosclerotic abdominal aortic aneurysms produce interleukin (il)-6 and interferon-gamma but not il-2 and il-4: The possible role for il-6 and interferon-gamma in vascular inflammation. *Agents and actions*. 1994;42:159-162
- 256. Li PF, Dietz R, von Harsdorf R. Reactive oxygen species induce apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cell. *FEBS letters*. 1997;404:249-252
- 257. Knox JB, Sukhova GK, Whittemore AD, Libby P. Evidence for altered balance between matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in human aortic diseases. *Circulation*. 1997;95:205-212
- 258. Allan JA, Docherty AJ, Barker PJ, Huskisson NS, Reynolds JJ, Murphy G. Binding of gelatinases a and b to type-i collagen and other matrix components. *The Biochemical journal*. 1995;309 (Pt 1):299-306
- 259. Curry TE, Jr., Osteen KG. The matrix metalloproteinase system: Changes, regulation, and impact throughout the ovarian and uterine reproductive cycle. *Endocrine reviews*. 2003;24:428-465
- 260. Davis V, Persidskaia R, Baca-Regen L, Itoh Y, Nagase H, Persidsky Y, Ghorpade A, Baxter BT. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 production and its binding to the matrix are increased in abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*. 1998;18:1625-1633

- 261. Galis ZS, Sukhova GK, Lark MW, Libby P. Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degrading activity in vulnerable regions of human atherosclerotic plaques. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1994;94:2493-2503
- 262. Tsarouhas K, Soufla G, Apostolakis S, Zaravinos A, Panagiotou M, Khoury M, Hassoulas JA, Tsatsakis AM, Spandidos DA. Transcriptional regulation of timps in ascending aorta aneurysms. *Thrombosis research*. 2010;126:399-405
- 263. Murphy G. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. *Genome biology*. 2011;12:233
- 264. Young DA, Phillips BW, Lundy C, Nuttall RK, Hogan A, Schultz GA, Leco KJ, Clark IM, Edwards DR. Identification of an initiator-like element essential for the expression of the tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-4 (timp-4) gene. *The Biochemical journal*. 2002;364:89-99
- 265. Deng GG, Martin-McNulty B, Sukovich DA, Freay A, Halks-Miller M, Thinnes T, Loskutoff DJ, Carmeliet P, Dole WP, Wang YX. Urokinase-type plasminogen activator plays a critical role in angiotensin ii-induced abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Circulation research*. 2003;92:510-517
- 266. Bruemmer D, Collins AR, Noh G, Wang W, Territo M, Arias-Magallona S, Fishbein MC, Blaschke F, Kintscher U, Graf K, Law RE, Hsueh WA. Angiotensin ii-accelerated atherosclerosis and aneurysm formation is attenuated in osteopontin-deficient mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2003;112:1318-1331
- 267. Ahluwalia N, Lin AY, Tager AM, Pruitt IE, Anderson TJ, Kristo F, Shen D, Cruz AR, Aikawa M, Luster AD, Gerszten RE. Inhibited aortic aneurysm formation in blt1-deficient mice. *J Immunol*. 2007;179:691-697
- 268. Henriques T, Zhang X, Yiannikouris FB, Daugherty A, Cassis LA. Androgen increases at1a receptor expression in abdominal aortas to promote angiotensin ii-induced aaas in apolipoprotein e-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2008;28:1251-1256
- 269. Henriques TA, Huang J, D'Souza SS, Daugherty A, Cassis LA. Orchidectomy, but not ovariectomy, regulates angiotensin ii-induced vascular diseases in apolipoprotein e-deficient mice. *Endocrinology*. 2004;145:3866-3872
- 270. Hatanaka F, Matsubara C, Myung J, Yoritaka T, Kamimura N, Tsutsumi S, Kanai A, Suzuki Y, Sassone-Corsi P, Aburatani H, Sugano S, Takumi T. Genome-wide profiling of the core clock protein bmal1 targets reveals a strict relationship with metabolism. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2010;30:5636-5648
- 271. Woon PY, Kaisaki PJ, Braganca J, Bihoreau MT, Levy JC, Farrall M, Gauguier D. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like (bmal1) is associated with susceptibility to hypertension and type 2 diabetes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America. 2007;104:14412-14417
- Killeen S, Neary P, O'Sullivan M, Redmond HP, Fulton G. Daily diurnal variation in admissions for ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysms. *World journal of surgery*. 2007;31:1869-1871
- 273. Hughes MA, Tambyraja AL, Chalmers RT. Daily diurnal variation in admissions for ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysms. *World journal of surgery*. 2008;32:1223; author reply 1224
- Yang G, Chen L, Grant GR, Paschos G, Song WL, Musiek ES, Lee V, McLoughlin SC, Grosser T, Cotsarelis G, FitzGerald GA. Timing of expression of the core clock gene bmal1 influences its effects on aging and survival. *Science translational medicine*.
 2016;8:324ra316

275. Tanaka K, Ashizawa N, Kawano H, Sato O, Seto S, Nishihara E, Terazono H, Isomoto S, Shinohara K, Yano K. Aldosterone induces circadian gene expression of clock genes in h9c2 cardiomyoblasts. *Heart and vessels*. 2007;22:254-260

VITA

Jenny Lutshumba

Education

- 2005: High School, Irvington High School
- 2009: B.S. in Biotechnology, Kean University, NJ

Professional Positions

2006-2009:	Academic Foundation student Assistant
	Exceptional Educational Opportunity Program
	Kean University, NJ
2007	: Scholar
	Summer Medical and Dental Educational program
	Howard University, Washington, DC
2008	: Scholar
	McNAir Summer Research
	Kean University, NJ
2008-2009	: Mathematics tutor
	Kean University, NJ
Spring 2013 : Facilitator	
	PGY206: Elementary Physiology
	University of Kentucky, KY
Spring 2014 : Physiology Tutor	
	University of Kentucky, KY
2009-2017	: Graduate Research Assistant
	Department of Physiology
	University of Kentucky, KY

Scholastic and Professional honors

2005: Alpha Kappa Alpha scholarship

2006-2009: STEM (Science, Technology, engineering, and Math) scholarship

2007 :- Kaplan Scholarship

-EEO Kaplan scholarship

2007-2008: Dr. Amelia Smith Biotechnology scholarship

2008 : EEO Travel Award

2008-2009: Kean Foundation scholarship

2009 : McNair student of the year

2009-2010: UK Lyman T. Johnson Fellowship

- 2013 : FASEB MARC travel Award
- 2011-2013: University of Kentucky T32 Interdisciplinary Cardiovascular Training grant

2014 : Won third place for the Aortic Aneurysm Symposium poster presentation

2014-2016: NIH/NHLBI (Parent F31 - Diversity) Grant#: 5F31HL123315

Publications

2012: Altered Clock Gene Expression and Vascular Smooth Muscle Diurnal Contractile Variations in Type 2 Diabetic db/db Mice. Su W, Xie Z, Guo Z, Duncan MJ, Lutshumba J, Gong MC. AJP Heart and Circulatory Physiology 302(3):H621-33

Abstracts

1. Temperature-tolerance and protein stability assays of Drosophila melanogaster Urielle Marseille Jenny Lutshumba Karl Venescar Karla Bullon David Decicco Michael Enechukwu Rongsun Pu. Abstract for poster presentation for the 67th annual meeting of Society for developmental biology Philadelphia, PA July, 2008

2. Bmal1 deletion from smooth muscle cells protects from Aortic Aneurysm. Jenny Lutshumba, Shu Liu, Ming C. Gong Abstract for poster presentation for Cardiovascular Research day October 2011, 3. Bmal1 deletion from smooth muscle cells protects from Aortic Aneurysm. Jenny Lutshumba, Shu Liu, Ming C. Gong Abstract for oral and poster presentation for Cardiovascular Research day October 2012.

4. A Pivotal Role of Smooth Muscle Bmal1 in DOCA Plus Salt-Induced Mouse Aortic Aneurysm. Jenny Lutshumba, Shu Liu, Zhenheng Guo, and Ming C. Gong. Abstract for poster presentation for aortic aneurysm symposium. Lexington, KY August 2014

5. A Pivotal Role of Smooth Muscle Bmal1 in DOCA Plus Salt-Induced Mouse Aortic Aneurysm. Jenny Lutshumba, Shu Liu, Zhenheng Guo, and Ming C. Gong. Abstract for poster presentation. ATVB, Nashville, TN. May 2016.

Clubs and Organizations

2012-2014: American Heart Association 2008-2009: McNair Scholar 2006-2009: STEM scholar